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Summary

The thesis discusses Anglo-Soviet relations - considered as a political
inter-action - between the years 1917, when the fall of Tsardom made
necessary the re-consideration of British relations with the Russian
government, and 1924, when the Soviet government was recognized de
Jjure by the British government. It devotes particular attention to
the influence of radical unrest in British colonies in Asia upon
relations between the two countries' governments, as well as to the
development of trade and the relations between business and
government with regard to Russian policy, and to the labour movement.
Chapter One considers the reaction of the British
government and of the labour movement to the February and October
revolutions, and the beginning of Allied intervention in Russia,
the British role in which forms the substance of Chapter Two. Chapter
Three surveys labour opinion and policy in regard to Soviet Russia
until 1928, and labour's influence upon government policy. Chapter
Four discusses the negotiations which led to the 1921 Angle-Russian
Trade Agreement, an agreement which was closely related to the
Cabinet's desire to restrain radical propaganda in British possessibns
in Asia, as Chapter Five mtkempts to make clear. Chapter Six considers
early Soviet foreign policy, especially on the national and colonial
question. The conferences at Genoa and the Hague in 1922 are discussed
in Chapter Seven. Chapter Eight considers the policy of the Conservatives
towards the Soviet government in 1922-3, and the growing disenchantment
of business opinion with that policy throughout the latter part of 1923
is noted in Chapter Nine. Labour's policy towards Soviet Russia, and
the factors contributing to the first Labour government's extension of
diplomatic recognition to the Soviet government, are discussed in
Chapter Ten.

The thesis is based upon unpublished Cabinet and Foreign Office
records, private papers, national and local organizational archives,
government publications,reports and policy publications of bodies,
contemporary pamphlets, newspapers and journals, memoirs, and modern

journal and monograph publications.



Introduction

It became apparent at an early stage in the preparation of the present
study that an adequate discussion of 'Anglo-Soviet relations 1917-1924
would require rather more than an account of the exchange of diplomatic
communications between the two governments. The treatment which follows
is, accordingly, both broader and narrower than its title might suggest.

It has been my intention to provide at least an outline account
of the development of relations between the two countries in the period
under review against which the overall argument can be examined. At the
same time a number of events, which appeared to be of particular
significance, have been given detailed consideration: notably the Leeds
Convention (1917), the Baku Congress (1920), the Council of Action (1920)
and the Urquhart negotiations with the Soviet government (1921-2).

More generally, I have attempted to relate the course of
British-Soviet relations to three broad themes: British imperial rule
in Asia and the radical anti-colonial movement; foreign trade and
business interests; and the politics of the labour movement in regard
to Soviet Russia. To integrate these themes coherently within the overall
argument has been a diffkcult taks, but a necessary one:for to discuss
British-Soviet relations other than in this context would seriously
misunderstand the nature of what was throughout a pre-eminently political
confrontatione This, then, is a study not (other than formally) of the
relationship between states, but of that between classes.

To a great extent the conceptual framework of any author must
stand prior to any study he completes, and it is too often unacknowlegded.
It should be made clear, therefore, that the premises of the account
which follows are marxist. The corpus of classical marxism has - with
the possible exception of Marx's writings on the Eastern Question -
sufprisingly little to offer the student of international relations.

I believe the authority of Engels may, however, be invoked in defence
of an analysis which often treats the (however limited and class-specific)
currency of political party debate in its own terms, positing the relative
autonomy of these 'superstructural' factomes, without insisting upon a

constant reference to specific economic interests. Writing in a celebrated



letter to Bloch in September 1890, Engels pointed out that neither
he nor Marx had ever asserted that the economic element was more than
the "ultimately determining element in history", and that to attempt
to regard it as the "only determining factor" was to reduce the
materialist conception of history to a "meaningless, abstract,
senseless phrase', Judicial forms, political, juristic, philosophical
theories, religious views, the "traditions which haunt human minds",
"also exercise their influence upon the course of the historical struggles
and in many cases preponderate in determining their form" (Marx and
Engels: Selected Correspondence p498).

It wéuld be going too far, however, to accept the terms
of those academic studies which permit statements such as (to takd a
recent, and otherwise admirable monograsph) "Russia asked Britain to
probe the matter™, or "Italy seemed in imminent danger of collapse"
(Rothwell (1971) pl25,pl4k). 'Britain', of course, could make no such
request: this could be done only by the British government, a body whose
social composition and assumptions should be at each point identified,
and related to British political life and to fhe often, or even normally
opposed interests of other sections of the population. I have tried
throughout to avoid a discussion in such terms, even for the sake of
brevity.

To aktept to relate, and even expddin polities and attitudes
by reference to their changing economic and sociological context is, I
am aware, to offend against A.J.P. Taylor's dictum that 'things happen
because they happen': and I am content that this should be so. It is a
curbdus but nonetheless persistent fact that the reluctance to use such
organising descriptions of the economic relations between countries as
'imperialism' is more often found in those countries which have benefitted
- often very considerably - from the operation of those relations tha n
in those which have been less fortunate. England in this connection is
no exception. The English, one might say, have a lot to be empirical

about.

The present study is unfortunately, but necessarily a somewhat extended
one. A recapitulation of the overall argument may therefore be convenient



at this point. Chapter One (Britain and the Russian Revolution)
considers the reaction of the government and of the labour movement

to the February Revolution which overthrew Tsardom, and traces relations
with the Provisional Government which succeeded it. The British
government-sponsored missions to Russia are considered, and the Leeds
Labour and Socialist Convention, which called for the establishment

in Britain of workmen's and soldiers' councils on (apparently) the
Russian model, is discussed in detail. The chapter concludes with

an account of government and lahour reactions to the October Revolution,
and of the beginnings of Allied intervention in Russia.

Chapter Two (The Rise and Fall of Intervention) deals with the
nature and course of Allied, and especially British intervention in
Russia in 1918-20. Divisions within the Cabinet are found ultimately
less important tham a common desire that the Bolshevik regime should
be overthrown. The Cabinet went to considerabldé lengths to bring about
this object, through the provision of material assistance and military
supplies and advisors, and even - liberal professions of non-interference
notwithstanding - sanctioned offensive military operations against the
Bolsheviks. British assistance, however, proved insufficient to secure
the success of the Whites; and the Cabinet, accordingly, abandoned the
policy. Yet intervention had been by no means an exceptional venture,
as becomes apparent when the policy is placed within the context of
the revolutionary crisis which embraced Europe at this time, and related
to the Cabinet's support of the threatened bourgeois social order
elsewhere in Europe.

Chapter Three (Labour and Shwiet Russia 1917-1921) considers
labour 'solidarity' with Soviet Russia and the influence which the
working-class movément was able to bring to bear upon the government
on this issue. Labour's claim to have secured the end of the policy
of interventkon is discussed, and an assessment is offered of the influence
of the 'Hands off Russia' movement. Little evidence of pro-Soviet as
distinct from anti-war opinion is found, and little willingness is
evident to proceed beyond the adoption of resolutions in opposition to
the government's policy, as the 'Hands off Russia' and other bodies

urged. An apparent exception to this proposition, and the most notable



labour demonstration of this period, is considered in some detail,
Rather than an example of militant labour solidarity which altered
government policy towards Soviet Russia, the formation of the
National and of local Councils of Action in 1920 is found not to
have changed the government's policy - which had never envisaged
the involvement of British troops - and to have represented abewe
S££°§§i§§%lrmation of opposition to war in whatever circumstances
and 8% defence of the constitution, which the government was thought
to have failed to rempect.

Chapter Four (Agreement?) deals with the negotiations
between the two governments from January 1920 until March 1921,
when the Anglo-Russian Trade Agreement was signed. The Cabinet's
policy in the summer of 1920, when it appeared probable that Soviet
forces would overthrow the existing Polish government and perhaps
the Versailles settlement, is discussed. Bifferences of opinion
existed within the Cabinet with regard to the conclusion of an
agreement with the Soviet Russian government; but these were
essentially differences, it is suggested, about how the Bolshevik
regime might most effectively be undermined or at least induced to
abandon its socialist character. The influence upon the government's
policy of business circles and of an increasing unemployment problem
is assessed.

Chapter Five (Imperial Crisis and Soviet Russia) deals
with the threat which Soviet policy and Bolshevism generally were
thought to present to the British Empire, at this time seriously
embarrassed by a widespread, apparently inter-connected and radical
anti-colonial movement. The Trade Agreement, considered in this
perspective, was a settlement of a highly conditional character, the
continued existence of which the British government made dependent
upon the abandonment by the Soviet government of anti-imperialist
propaganda and assistance to radical movements in the colonial world.
A letter was handed to the Soviet representatives by Sir Robert Horne
on the signature of the Agreement specifying the action which the
Soviet government would be expected to take, under its terms, to curb
colonial agitation. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the



note which was sent to the Soviet government later in the year which
drew attention to apparent breaches of this understanding, and required
a stricter observance of its terms.

The following Chapter Six (Soviet Russia and Revolution)
examines the other side of this confrontation. It notes the increasing
emphasis placed upon the colonial question by Bolshevik leaders from
1920 onwards, when the situation in Europe appeared to have becomd
stabllised. The proceedings of the Second Congress of the Communist
International, and of the Baku Congress of the Peoples of the East,
are considered in some detail. The apparent failure of directly
socialist policies in the East, prompted a reconsideration of communist
policy, and concessions to the strength of religious and other
traditions, even before the Trade Agreement had been signed and
obligations contracted to restrict anti-imperialist agitation and
propaganda. Some success was subsequently experienced in establishing
diplomatic relations and developing trade with independent Asian
states, but this might be at the expense, it appeared, of the communists
and rgdicals of the East, who remained few in number and often subject
to persecution at the hands of these same 'objectively progressive'
governments. Colonial leaders generally welcomed the October Revolution
and supported the Bolshevik government, but they rarely embraced, or
even understood, its socialist character. India, central to the whole
imperial edifice, was no exception. While the non-co-operation movement
was often militant and enjoyed mass support, communism in India remained
unequal to the attentions of British intelligence and, however eerious
a long-term threat, presented no immediate danger to imperial rule.

Chapter Seven (Conferences) returns to a European framework
with a discussion of Lloyd George's attempt in 1922 to 'solve the
Russian problem' through multilateral negotiations at the Genoa and
Hague Conferences. The introduction of the New Economic Policy in
Russia, ending state control of small-scale industry and domestic trade,
prompted the belief abroad that the failure of communism had at last
been admitted by the Soviet leaders (an admission which had been
confidently, but increasingly impatiently forecast since 1917). The

Bolshevik leaders, it was thought, would now accept whatever terms the



Allies laid down in order to secure foreign economic assistance. Lloyd
George's attempt to persuade their delegates to accept the Allied terms
- which were clearly if not explicitly designed to restore capitalist
legal and property conventions in Russia - rested, however, upon a
misconception of the strength of the Soviet government, and of opinion
within the Bolshevik leadership, and proved unsuccessful.

Lloyd George's policy towards Soviet Russia was regarded,
moreover, with considerable sceptieism by many of his Cabinet colleggues,
and his attempt to solve the Russian problem by direct negotiation was
not repeated by Bonar Law's Conservative administration, discussed in
Chapter Eight (The Tories and Soviet Russia). British foreign policy
now more directly reflected Lord Curzon's views, and his imperial
preoccupations in particular. A number of unresolved disputes, together
with renewed accusations of colonial propaganda and subversion, formed
the substance of the ultimatum which Curzon addressed to the Soviet
government in May 1923. His demands were met on many, but not all
points; but a rupture of relations, which appeared imminent, was
averted. After further mutual recriminations the correspondence was
declared closed, although official relations had become no more
cordial by the end of the year.

Business opinion, it appeared, had broadly supported
Curzon's firm attitude towards the Soviet government in the latter
part of 1922 and early 1923; but the views of traders and manufacturers,
and to some extent of financiers also, changed markedly in this respect
in the summer and autumn of 1923 (Chapter Nine: Recognition). Trade
between the two countries had steadily developed, and following the
restoration of the Soviet economy and a good harvest seemed likely to
develop further. A delegation which went to Russia in the summer of
1923, representing major engineering interests and led by A.G. Marshall
and by F.L. Baldwin (the Prime Minister's cousin), reported favourably
upon the commercial potential of the Russian market. The members of the
delegation gave numerous interviews and speeches, issued reports and
conducted prigate lobbying after their return. Business opinion appears
to have been impressed. Together with other developments - the Moscow
Agricultural Exhibition, at which some British firms were represented,

and the establishment of a Russo=-British Grain Export Company in October =~



‘practically-minded' merchants and industrialists came generally to

the conclusion that trade with Soviet Russia should be more vigorously
promoted. They accepted the corollary of this proposition, that
diplomatic recognition should be extended to the Soviet government in
order to provide a juridical foundation for trade and consular and

other facilities for British traders in Russia. Direct representations

to this effect were made to the governmemt by several national business
organizations, with the support of large sections of the press. In default
of the normal guardians of business interests, it was the Labour Party
which openly espoused this policy and explicit}y championed the interests
of merchants and manufacturers. The first Labour government's decision

to extend diplomatic recognition go the Soviet government is seen, in
this perspective, as a 'consensus' decision, which was welcomed by
Labour and Liberal opinion, by many Conservatives, and by the great

bulk of business institutions and the press.

Chapter Ten (Soviet Russia and Labourism) extends this
discussion, and disputes the view that Labour's recognition of the
Soviet government was related to the party's 'socialism'. The formation
of the country's first 'Socialist Government' gave rise to much dark
foreboding. An examination of the party's ideology and origins, and of
its policy towards the Empire and towards Communism nationally and
internationally, suggests that this anxiety was misconceived. While
some amorphous sympathy with the Soviet regime may have existed in
working-class circles, Labour's Russian policy seems to have been more
closely related to other factors. In particular, the Russian market was
considered to provide at least a major part of the answer to the
unemployment problem; and secondly, the recognition of the Soviet gov-
ernment, as a contribution to peace and stability in Europe, wvas
advocated on its own merits by the former Liberals in the party, who
waere tenerallykxperienced in foreign affairs and exercised a disproport-
ionate influence in the formulation of Labour foreign policy.

The conclusion deals briefly with the attempt to negotiate a
general Anglo-Soviet settlement which followed the formal act of
recognition, and offers some gemeral conclusions on the complex intef-
relation of class, party and foreign policy whth which the study
concerns itself throughout.



Many people and institutions have assisted me in the course of my
research, and I am glad to acknowledge my indebtedness to them. In
Glasgow Professor Alec Nove, my supervisor, has offered encouragement
and advice at all times. Alan Ross and, in particular, Hillel Ticktin
have read earlier parts of the manuscript and made helpful suggestions;
and Sidney Aster gave me some initial advice on sources. The Internat-
ional Socialists' informal Wednesday meetings, the Conference of Radical
Scholars on the Soviet Union and the Politics Department seminar were
read parts of the manuscript in various guises, and I have benefitted
from the discussions which followed. In Moscow, where my study was
supported by a British Council exchange studentship, Dotsent Papin of
the History Department was a solicitous nauchny rukovoditel' . Elsewhere,

Walter Kendall read and discussed a number of chapters with me; Barry
Hollingsworth and Marcel Liebman corresponded with me and sent me
useful materialy and Pat Laysell-Ward gave expert bibliographic advice.
Rajani Palme Dutt, Andrew Rothstein (in correspondence) and Morgan
Philips Price were kind enough to discuss their recollections of the
period with me.

The staff of a great many institutions in which I have worked
I can thank only in general, but nonetheless sincere terms: Glasgow
University Library and the Library of the Institute of Soviet and East
European Studies; the Mitchell Library, Glasgow; the Scottish T.U.C.,
Glasgow; Edinburgh University Library and the National Library of
Scotland, Edinburgh; the Lenin Library and Moscow University's Gorky
Library, Moscow; the Brotherton Library, Leeds; Liverpool, Manchester,
Birmingham, Leeds and Sheffield Public Libraries, especially their
departments of local history and manuscripts; Sheffield Trades and
Labour Council; Manchester University Library; Cambridge University
Library; the Bodleian Libasry and Nuffield College Library, Oxford;
Birmingham University Library; the Library of Trinity College, Dublinj
the British Museum Reading Room and Newspaper Library, Colindale; the
Beaverbrook Library, London; the Russo-British Chamber of Commerce,
London; the India Office Library, London; the T.U.C. Library, London;
and the Conservative Party Research Department, London. The Confedegr-

ation of British Industries was kind enough to allow me to comsult its



records which are otherwise closed to scholars while they are being
arranged and catalogued, and Mr G.W. McDonald helped me to find those
records of most direct relevance to my research. A number of other
libraries and institutions answered questions and provided information
in correspondence. Thanks above all are due to the East Room of the
Public Record Office and to the British Library of Political and
Economic Science, where so much of the research upon which this

study is based was conducted.

The transliteration of Russian which has been used is based on the

Transliteration of Cyrillic in Headings in the General Catalogue of

the Department of Printed Books of the British Museum, but convenience
has prevailed over pedantry when other versions have become accepted

in English, e.g. Zinoviev not Zinov'ev; and spellings have not been
modified to confeorm with present day usage when they have occurred

in quoted passages, e.g. Bzar, Nabokoff. Italics are throughout in

the original unless otherwise stated. Dates are given throughout in

the new style in force in the West and in Russia from 1918 onwards,
rather than in the old style in force in Russia in 1917, which differed
by thirteen days, and by which is explained the fact that the 'February
revolution' occurred in March. Trotsky, who employs old style dating in
his History of the Russian Revolution, asked the reader to be "kind
enough to remember that before overthrowing the Byzantine calendar,

the revolution had to overthrow the institutions that clung to it".

It should finally be pointed eut that I have not strictly differentiated
between the 'Russian', 'Soviet Russian' and 'Soviet' government, and it
shoudd be borne in mind that British relations were with the government
of the R.S.F.S.R. until 1923, and with the U.S.B.R. government subsequently.



Chapter One: Britain and the Russian Revolution

Despite the relative optimism of Milner's conclusions following his visit
to Petrograd in February, the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs was
obliged to announce to the Cabinet on 14 March 1917 that the situation
there was deterioratingl. Recent telegrams indicated "serious developments
in the seditious movement in Petrograd". It was accordingly decided that
for the moment strict censorship should be imposed on the publication of any
details that might escape the Russian censorship. It took some time, there-—
fore, for the significance of the Petrograd events to filter through to

British public opinion. Bruce Glasier, writing in the Labour Leader, confessed

that "what has happened and is happening in Russia we do not know"; the news
was "scanty enough, and such as it is, is contradictory and not to be relied
upon"z. For the time being the Cabinet contented itself with the "real
comfort" that all their information led them to believe that the movement

was "not in any sense directed towards an effort to secure peace, but, on the
contrary, the discontent = this is the substance of all our information - is
not against the government for carrying on the war, but against it for not
carrying on the war with efficiency and with that energy which the people
expect"3.

The following day the Cabinet learned that a series of further telegrams
from the British Ambassador at Petrograd indicated that the situation "had
by no means cleared up"; it had, indeed, advanced to such a point that
Buchanan now sought the government's authority to recognize the new de facto
Russian government. The Ambassador was accordingly given permission to
recognize the new government "if and when he considers this to be advisable
in view of the local circumstances prevailing at the moment, provided that
the French government concurred in this course"4. A telegram conveying
these instructions was despatched to Petrograds.

The Russian Ambassador in Britain, Nabokov, wrote to Balfour,
announcing that Russia would be "faithful to the pact which unites her
indissolubly with her glorious Allies", and would "fight....against the
common enemy to the end"6. Recognition of the new government in itself, as
Buchanan explained to Balfour, served the purpose of strengthening the

moderates and influencing the government to accept the obligations of its
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predecessor¥, '"especially as regards the war"7. The Ambassador was directed i
to attempt to retain influence with '"the statesmen whom we desire to keep i
in p¢wer"8. The Ambassador was to be reminded that he had the authority to
recognize the Provisional Government; but he must obtain guarantees that it i

9

would carry out the obligations of its predecessors”. "All your influence",

he was advised by Balfour, "should be thrown into the seale against any i

Administration which is not resolved to fight to a finish“lo. The insistence

that the new government maintain obligations which it was already clearly E
unable to discharge in fact contributed significantly to its eventual downfal%
In public, however, the government was more optimistic. The Prime ?

Minister told the Cabinet that, in view of the attitude of the House of :
Commons, the government had felt obliged to announce their intention of moviné
a resolut@on in Parliament, expressing hope and confidence in the Duma,
while "pointing out that we are not free from danger"ll. The terms were
drafted in consultation with the Ambassador in Petrograd; and on 22 March
Bonar Law, on behald of the Prime Minister, presented it to the House of
Commonslz. The resolution offered Parliament's '"fraternal greetings" to
the Duma, and tendersd to the Russian people its "heartiest congratulations
upon the establishment among them of free institutions". Something of the
government's particular concern was evident in the expressed belief that
recent events would "lead not only to the rapid and happy progress of the
Russian nation but to the prosecution with renewed steadfastness and vigour _
of the wa® against the stronghold of an autocratic militarism which threatens .
the liberty of Europe". The resolution, Bonar Law explained, was an express-
ion of "goodwill to the new government, a government which has been formed
with the declared intention of carrying this war to a successful conclusion’, g
It was intended to "strengthen the hands of the Russian Government in their
difficult task"lj.

Bonar Law allowed himself a "feeling of compassion for the late Czar".
The Imperial Wap CabineXt, meeting the same day, went so far as to resolve

that the Czar, the Empress and their family be invited to take up residence

cr -

in Britain; and Buchanan was informed on the same day that the Emperpr and

14

Empress had been granted asylum in Britain™ . The Cabinet was subsequently

informed, however, that there was a "strong feeling hostile to the Czar im

SENE - SrE e 1o S Lomars s i

certain working-class cirrles". The example, moreover, might prove infect-
ious: articles tending to associate the King with the Czar had appeared in
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the press (not unreasonably, since theg were cousins); and "it was felt
that, if the Czar should take up his residence here, thepe was a danger that
these tendencies might be stimulated and accentuated". In the event of any
difference of opinion between the British and the Russian governments,
moreover, there would be a tendency in Russia to attribute the British
attitude to the Czar's presence. It was therefore concluded that '"the South
of France, or even Spain,.. might be a more suitable plzce of residence"15.
The government's reactions were shared by the Conservative section of
the press, which in general professed to see in the revolution the restor-
ation of order and the revival of the war effort, at the expense of a

Germanophile court. The Morning Post announced that one result would be to

mzke the Russian army more formidable to Germany than ever before; the Mail
declared that the "German plotters in Petrograd" had "sustained the most
signal defeat"; and the Observer heldX that an example had been given to

the Kaiser's subjects - "political slaves now by comparison with emancipated
Russia" - which would "shake to its foundations the German governing system
whtth caused the war'". Liberal newspapers displayed rather more énthusiasm,
but the difference in their reaction was hardly a fundamental one. The

Manchester Guardian described the revolution as the "deadliest blow to the

war morale of Germany", and hoped that a '"new vigour " would "energize the
war, springing from a sincere idealism", now that Liberals were in control
in Russia also. Indeed "Liberalism", declared a writer in the Nation, had
16. The Review of Reviews thought that the

change would '"magnetise and electrify the soldier in the trenches", and turn

"won its first great victory"

Russia from the weakest into the "“"strongest link in the European Alliance".
The Nineteenth Century and After agfee’ that the revolution had been the
"hardest blow that Germany has received in the war to date. Hitherto Russia

has been fighting with one arm bound; now she can really prosecute the war
wholeheartedly"l7.

Wardle, speaking for the Labour Party on the government's resolution in
the House of Commons, saw in it a "message from the democracy of Great Britain
to the democracy of Russia ", and an extension to the latter of the "hand of
fellowship". He found it unnecessary to express his condolences to the Czar;
but he agreed with the government that the revolution heralded #o weakening
of Russia's will in regard to the war, What in particular attracted his
attention and approval were two facts, which, he declared, '"stand out with
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regard to this revolution - it is parliamentary and it is constitutional"™~,
The 'unofficial' Labour PXarty in the House of Commons, composed
largely of I.L.P. and ex-Liberal members, found in the revolution a confirm-
ation of their own opposition to the conduct of the war. Philip Snowden,
welcoming the "declaration of the new democratic @overnment of Russia, repud-
iating all proposals for imperialialistic conquest and aggrandisement,"
optimistically sought its endorsement by the government. No event in their
generation, he declared, had so thrilled the world as the Russian revolution.
"It has given us a new hope in democracy and revived our faith in Internation-
alism"., It was, he thought, ¥¥ a revolt against the o0ld order and the practice
of international diplomacy, the "intrigues and conspiracies which haxe been ,
carried on in courts and in the chambers of diplomatists'": an endorsement, .
in other words, of the cIriEbism of British policy offered by the small
'pacifist' section of the House of Commons with which Snowden himself was
associated. It heralded equally, he thought, a "useful League of Nations
after the war", and a '"people's peace", to be settled by the democracies of
the different countries, sweeping away secret diplomacy and armaments mmnuf-
acture. In no sense was this a defence of those who even now were calling
for the conversion of the imperialist war into a civil war. Ramsay MacDonald,
indeed, supporting the motion, called upon the government to "help the
Russian Revolution to maintain itself against its internal foes", and drew
attention to the danger of a separate Russo-German peace19:

The Labour press reflected similar preoccupations. Some writers, admitted-
ly, preferred to suspend their judgement. William Stewart, for instance,
wrote in the Glasgow I.L.P. paper Forward that the question was '"and the
answerk will doubtless come in due course - what kind of a Revolution is i
this? Is it a Russian revolution or a European revolution?". The papers
editorial, entitled "A Whig Revolution', noted that the beginning of the end
was not in sightzo. MacDonald was less reserved. The Duma Socialists, he
wrote, " take up the general attitude of our own I.L.P", if they were "a
little more extreme'". The outcome of the revolution would be to bring the
I.L.P. policy "more and more into the foreground". Leaders of the '"extreme
pacifist Left, like Lanine (sic)", would, he thought, By their indiscretions
Blay into the hands of Milygkov with "disastrous results". These were the
"impractical groups who would make a separate peace or anything" 21.
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Snowden found in the revolution the "supreme justification of those
who have challenged Great Britain's alliance with the Russian autocracy".
He was concerned that a permanent, "people's peace", through the "triumph
of international democracy", should be achieved by the Russian people.

In the triumph of the working classes lay the hope of an early termination
of the war22. All friends of human freedom, Bruce Glagier wrote, must
rejoice in the revolution, "even though they may not mingle their
congratulations with the jingo jubilations that resound from Fleet Street

and Whiteha11"23. The Socialist Review, in MacDonald's characteristic tones,

in common with "all friends of the Russian people, and of democracy and
freedom in all lands", joyously welcomed the event, "not only as a wonderful
and beneficent stroke of deliverance for the Russian people, but as a
supremely important achievement for the cause of democracy and peace in
Europe and throughout the world"24. The National Council of the I.L.P., and
the I.L.P. M.P.s, summed up the reaction of this section of the labour
movement in a message to Russia of "warm and whole-hearted congratulations
on the magnificent achievement of the Russian people", and hoped that the
fevolution would hasten the coming of a peace, "based, not on the dominance

of militarists and diplomatists, but on democracy and justice"zs.

It would have been surprising had expressions of support of this kind
been uniformly welcomed by those to whom they were addressed. Something of
this is, perhaps, erident in the address which the Russian Socialist Groups
in London (whose Secretary was the future People's Commissar for Foreign
Affairs, George Chicherin) presented to the I.L.P. annual conference at
Leeds in April 1917. The success of the Russian revolution, it noted, was
now in the hands not only of the Russian workers, but also of the workers of
other countries. "It would be the greatest tragedy of international Socialism
if the Russian internationalists were to be defeated as a consequence of their
brothers in other countries having failed them"26. Support for the Russian
revolution, in the event, served to unite all sections of the Labour Party,
each section of which could find something worthy of support in the Provisional
Government's foreign policy of 'mo annexations and no indemnities', and in
its extensive programme of civil liberties at..home. Snowden, MacDonald and

the 'unofficial! section found in the repudiation of annexations and indemn-
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ities a step towards its own policy of an early, negotiated and 'democratic!
peace; while all could support the extension of civil liberties, the restrict-
ion of which in Britain under wartime regulations was often at the expense

of the interests of Labour. The official section of the party could welcom e
the revolution as improving the democratic credentials of the country's
allies, making Russia not only a more acceptable, but also, no doubt, a more
effective ally.

Labour support was the more readily forthcoming in view of the
opposition which Labour had always offered, before the war and on its outbreak,
to the British alliance with Tsardom. Labour figures (especially H.N. Brails-
ford) were involved in the work of the Society of the Friends of Russian
Freedom, under the presidency of a respected Liberal, Dr Spence Watson, and
an "Anglo-Russian Committee, formed Wto watch over the development of Anglo-
Russian relations in the interests of the liberties of the Russian people",
included among its members Brailsford, MacDonald and J. O'Grady27. The T.U.C.
set up a fund in 1906 to assist Russian workers and peasants in their fight
for freedom, and in 1912 the president of the T.U.C. formally moved a
resolution, which was carried unanimously. expressing the sympathy of the
British trade unions with the struggle of the workers in Russiaas. 0'Grady,
Keir Hardie, MacDonald and Henderson opposed the Tsar's visit to Britain in
1909 in the House of Commons, and the T.U.C. passed a resolution deploring
the visit®?,

An important element in Labour's opposition to the impending war in
1914 was that it would range Britain beside Tsarist Russia. A manifesto
issued by the British Section of the International Socialist Bureau on
31 July, signed by Hardie and Henderson, declared that '"the success of Russia
at the present day would be a curse to the world"; and a resolution adopted
at a demonstration in Trafalgar Square two days later asserted that "any
step.. taken by the government of this country to support Russia'" would be
"not only offensive to the political traditions of the country but XXEX disast-
rous in EurOPe"Bo. As Bruce Glagier pointed out, from the death of Ivan the
Terrible up to 4 August 1914, Russia had been '"universally regarded as the
nether-regioén of autocracy, oppression, reaction, superstition and devouring
Empire"3l. Kingsley Martin recalled that Tsardom was held to be the "very
symbol of tyranny", and that "most of the protests against the war in 1914

were b . —_——
ased on detestation of an alliance with Russia" 52. The New Statesman
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poted that the Russian alliance had since 1907 been ®steadily and vehemently
denounced by a considerable section of Radical opinion. While attacks
upon the alliance had ceased since the outbreak of the war, this represented
not a reconciliation but an "uneasy acceptance of the practical necessity
of the policy"33.

The February revolution, them, removed the misgivings with which the
majority section of Labour had entered the war in alliance with Russian
Tsardom, and suggested that the war might, after all,,be one gmsnuinely in
defence of democracy and the rights of small nations. Minority Labour
welcomed the revolution as the '"dawn of a new day", as Lansbury recalleds:

a formula which implied no support of the movement towards a working-class
seizure of power, in Russia or elsewhere. Indeed they cared not whose
revolution it was, Lansbury de@ﬁared “"whether Menshevik or Bolshevik: for
us it was enough that the Tsardom had fallen"34

To some extent this reflected the effect of wartime censorship. They
knew so little of internal Russian political developments, wrote the Herald,

¢35

that speculation was idle and snggestion impertinen « More importantly,

it reflected the preoccupation of the 'pacifist' section of the labour
movement with the achievement of an early and negotiated peace. This concern
precesed the February revolution; and what was welcome in that revolution

was the support it soon began to provide for the renegotiation of war aims
and the achievement of a 'people's peace'. At the same time Snowden warned
that whatever might be one's views about the wap, and however strongly one
might desire an early peace, he could "not but regret that there should be
strikes, the effect of which may imperii the lives of our men in the flghtlng
line"36 and MacDonald, with more conviction, perhaps, than accuracy, at a
Leicester May Day demonstration to welcome the Russian revolution had no
hesimtbation in condemning the "actions of the Lenin Party, which was
composed of thoughtless anarchists who had no definite policy.."37. He
welcomed the apparent moderation of the new Russian government in Parliament; -

38

and called for a corresponding revision of British war aims”~ . Forward found
it necessarﬂat a subsequent date to warn that th¥Xe Russian movement was
"not helped by the complicated attempts to exploit the Revolution in the
interests of Western pacifism"39,

Characteristic, in fact, of the response of the main section of the

labour movement to the revolution was a telegram which was despatched to
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the Russian Duma leaders, urging continuation of the war. The telegram
followed a request from Buchanan that British labour leaders should send
a message to the Duma labour leaders "expressing their confidence that they
and their colleagues will know how to strengthen the hands of free peoples
fighting against the despotism of Germany whose victory can only bring
disaster to all classes of the Allies, and pointing out that every day's
work lost means disaster to their brothers in the trenches". It would, he
added, be well also to refer to what labour classes in Britain were doing
and to "our general unity"gp. Open opposition was likely to develop very
shoﬁly between the parties of the Social Revolution and of the Duma. If the
latter prevailed, Russia would be rendered stronger than in the past; but
should the former prevail, whose object was "peace at any price'", a "military
disaster" was likely to ensue. The meXssage he envisaged might, however,
contribute to strengthéﬁng the influence of the Duma leaders“oi
The Cabinet decided that the message should be sent at onee. The

text was drafted by Henderson, approved by the Cabinet, and deppatchedql.
The telegram declared that British labour was "watching with (the) deepest
sympathy the efforts of the Russian people to deliver themselves from (the)
power of reactionary elements which are impeding their advance to victory..
Earnestly trust Ghat) you will impress on your followers that any remission
of effort means disaster to (your) comrades in (the) trenches and to our
common hopes of social regeneration"qa. Who could have gathered, Glagier
commented, that the Russian working class was engaged in a life-and-death
struggle to liberate Russia from the age-long military despotism of the Czar
and the Russian bureaucracyuB. Chicherin, on behald of the Russian Socialist
Groups in London, submitted their view that the Labour Party message was an
"attempt.. to utilize the Russian revolutionary struggle in the interests of
the war policy of the Entente imperialist coalition": the appeal was a
hypocritical one#u. Henderson, unabashed, undertook the following month to
make the necessary arrangements for the despatch of further telegrams from
the workers of Woolwich Arsenal and Vickers Works, as suggested by Buchanan
from Petrogradus.

The Cabinet was informed by Henderson on 26 March that a delegation
from the French Socialist Party was shortly to arrive in Britain en route for

Petrograd on a war mission, "their object being to persuade (the Russian



9

Socialist Party) to do all in its power to bring the war to a satisfactory
conclusion", The Cabinet decided that Henderson should "use his influence to
secure that a suitably composed British Labour Deputation should accompany

46

the French party with the same object"’ . Henderson reported tee days later

that J.H. Thomas had been unable to go; but that he believed that Will Thorne

and 0'Grady would be willing to accept theé deputation. The Cabinet favoured

the addition af a "reliable Russian socialist .. attached to the mission as

an interpreter!", and of a '"more academic Socialist of the type of Mr Hyndman"
(whose loyalty to the war effort was not, nevertheless, in doubtﬂ? The delegation,
composed ultimately of Thorne and O'Grady with the addition of William Banders

of the Fabian Society, was setting out to Russia with the '"one object of
encouraging, so far as they can, the present Russian Government in the
prosecuXtion of the war".! The government was, he stated, "satisfied that they

will serve the purpose"us.

The mission, in the event, in spite (or perhaps, because) of the government's
confidence in it, was less than successful, even among those 'moderate!
sections of the Russian socialists whose support they were pafticularly to
seek., They presented a number of addresses urging continuation of the '"present
war against German militarism.. until this threat has disappeared to the free
democracies of the world"49. They were somewhat concerned, they told a press
conference, by what they had seen in Russia, but after a discussion of the
existing situation with the members of the Soviet, they had been assured that
although naturally an early peace was desired, there would be no separate
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peace””. Their peception was not, however, improved by the circulation of

an (evidently plausible) rumour that the deputation represented the government
and not the working-class movement. The Menshevik-controlled Executive
Committee of the Petrograd Soviet found it necessary to point out in a statement
that they had only recently discoveredfhe circumstances in which the delegatiom
had been despatched, and thattiiyhad not earlier been aware of the 'special
attitude of the English government to the mission"5l. In conversations with

the delegates, it had become clear that while formally they were ready to accept
the Soviet's peace plan, "in fact they did not sympathise with this view. It was
; e€vident that they did not sufficiently appreciate the influence of the Russian

" revolutionary democracy"BZ. In &he course of a visit to the front, it became
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clear that the "comrames did not entirely share the views of the revolutionary

23

democracy of Russia"”“. Sanders, in his subsequent report, noted that while
the delegation had been received most cordially by the Brovisional Government,
it had encountered a '"certain air of reserve" on the part of the Petrograd
Soviet. At a meeting at the front a representative from the Minsk Soviet had
spoken, and '"talked crude Marxist Socialism", an attitude which the delegation
had done its "utmost to nullify". Questions had also been brought up at the
meetings which the delegates had attended ("almost invariably", he stated,
by Jews) relating to English rule in Ireland, Egypt and India, and criticisms
had been made of British imperialism, which had been represented as the counter-
part of German imperialism. The moderate leaders of the Workers' and Soldiers!
Councils, he concluded, had great difficulty in keeping such forces under
control; but byt the time of the delegates' departure they had at last realised,
he thought, the '"necessity of ceasing to be an opposition Government and were
endeavouring tonsciously to co-operate with the Provisional Government to bring
about order and stability in Russia"54. The deputation's report concluded that
too gloomy a view of developments in Russia should not be taken: "for bad as
the sitadition was, it would have been much worse had the old regime been
existing"ss. \
The experience of the delegates belied Curzon's hope that a '"well-cliosen ;
deputation of Labour leaders " might do "something to keep the Russian socialist:
party on the rails", and "strengthen the hands of the moderate party in H
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Russia'"”", In fact, as Colonel Knox wrote to the Director of Military Intellig-
ence, it had become apparent that '"no labour leader who is in favour of the :
war can have any influence with these people"B?. As Snowden had predicted, the i
reception of the delegation had been one of "Biberian chilliness"58. Bruce §
Lockhart wrote from Moscow that the British government was being attacked not

only in the extremist Socialist press, but also in the more moderate sectionms.
He concluded that "from the first the visit was a farce". The delegates "vever
succeeded in winning the condfidence even of the moderate Socialists, who from

the first regarded them as lackeys of their respective governments"59
Henderson himself shortly afterwards arrived in Russia on a similar

mission. Aé Buchanan was informed from London, the Cabinet had been impressed
with the urgent necessity of creating a "more favourable attitude amongst
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Russian socialists and workmen towards the policy of the Allies in the war,
and more particularly of rectifying false impressions of the aims of this
country sedulously spread in Russia by Enemy agents". It was felt that
explanations could be given to socialists and workmen more forcibly by one
who was a labour leader than by others6o. The Cabinet, in fact, had been so
impressed with these considerations that it had empowered Henderson to
replace Buchanan as Amdbassador at Petrograd, for an unstated period, if he
felt this appropriate. Buchanan, despite his many services, was in existing
circumstances '"no longer the ideal British representative in Petrograd"; what
was needed was a person '"calculated to exert a powerful influence on the
democratic elements which now predominate in Russia to pursue the war with
energy"6l. It was most important, Lloyd George noted, to reinforcqthose elements
which were favourably disposed to continuing the war, since the demand for
peace was becoming '"more and more imperative"62.

Buchanan was tactfully invited to leave Petrograd in a few weeks, in
order to give the Cabinet the benefit of his personal advice gnd information
on the Russian situation?3 Buchanan immediately enquired, however, whether
he was to regard his leave as a definite recall, in order that he might arrange
accordiqﬁy64. Knox, who learned of the possibility of the Ambassador's recall,
wrote that such a move reflected a "complete misreading of the situation here";
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and the Embassy staff protested along simikar lines. . Henderson himself
soon concluded that Buchanan's retention would be in the "best interests of
the Alliance"66. Buchanan was accordingly informed that there was no question
of his recall; and he subsequently arranged with Henderson that he should leave
for a short holiday in Finidiand, returning when he was required67.

Henderson's missi®n was in fact, Lockhart reported, a '"consider:ble
success'"; but ¥almost entirely among the so-~called bourgeoisie'". At the
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Committee of Workmen's Deputies he had been a "complete falure"°°, Henderson
himself Lockhart found as "God-fearing, as conventionally Methodist, as petit-
bourgeois and as scared of revolution as he always had been'. The comrades in
the Spviets bewildered him; he did not understand their language or like their
manners69. Henderson admitted in his report on the mission that his knowledge
of the views and tendencies of the 'Maximalists' had been ma%gly deduced from

their published utterances and from articles in their papers’ . His mission

had an unfortunate start, when his hotel apartment was searched, and papers
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and clothes were stolen (which in the latter case he thought '"excusable, &B
inasmuch as the members of the Soviet themselves were suffering from a shortage
of garments, due to the decreased output of the textile mills")71. His
surroundings, moreover, failed to appeal to him. Moscow he described in a
letter as "not a bad city'} though it was probably the '"nearest approach to
the Oriental one could possibly dind outside Eastern countries'", which meant,
of course, that there were '"certain features in connection with the life of
the people not altogether attractive". It had also a '"terribly mixed population,
including a good many Chinese"72.

Henderson had more success with Ministries, where he had interviews
almost daily, and with a *"number of persons of standing, both Russian and
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English, of the official, professional and employing classe . He reported
to the Prime Minister on an interview with members of the Provisional
Government, at which he had expressed concern at "widespread and often
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excessive demands by workpeople for improved conditions"'’, He reported later
on a speech he had made in Moscow, in which he had taken the opportunity to
urge the necessity of supporting the Provisional Government. He had noticed a
"distinctly more reasonable tone appearing in conversation with business men"
since his arrival; and they were, he thought, beginning to accept his argument,
of the validity of which he had, he thought, convinced the Ministry of Labour,
that the only safeguard against control of industry by the workmen was control
by the sahée?5 As he noted in his report, the capacity of Russian compared
with British workmen was low; and the main indastrial areas were phdgued with
labour tppouble, and "demands by the workpeople, exorbitant at once in extent
and character, presented in an atmosphere heated by every kind of political
agitation". Industrial profits in the first two years of th*war had been
enormous, and there was a case for a 'reasonable' increase in wages. The
demands of the workpeople, however, were in many cases, he thought, "quite
without economic justification, and amounted to a reckless spoli&tion of
industry". The demand for the control of industry was moreover, '"much more
difficult and much more difficult to analyse"; and it was '"making the life of
the employer a burden" and "frightening the banks". Direct representations to
the government on behald of English empladyers at Petrograd had, however, been
in vain. The root ofthe trouble was, he thought, the "revolutionary psychology":
and the chief hope fbr Russian industry was that the Government would "take
the labour question firmly in hand"?e. It was not, perhaps, surprising that
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workers and Soviet deputies did not approach in cordiality those with

his relations with the

the Government and the employers. As the President of the Moscow Soviet
explained to him, "what in particular made (the) views of British Labour
on (the) war suspicious to his friends was that they seemed to coincide with

those held by Russians of middle class"77.

The proposal to hold a Socialist Conference at Stockholm, to be attended
by representatives from the belligerent and the neutral countries, was
made originally by a Dutch-Scandinavisn committee, and subsequently endorsex
by the Petrograd Soviet. The Executive Committee of the Labour Party,
Henderson told the Cabinet, had decided not to attend, but to "send a Mission
to Petrograd to impress on the Russian socialists the danger of a separate
peace"78. A message was received from the Council of Workmen's and Soldiers!
Deputies asking the governments of Britain, France and Italy not to withhold
facilities for the visit to Russia of the socialist representatives79. The
Cabinet considered the matter on 21 Ray. Thorne, O'Grady and Sanders, reported
Lord Robert Cecil, had been asked to stay at Bergen to facilitate their
possible attendance at Stockholm., He pointed out the danger of allowing the
Conference at Stockholm to take place without the presence of any British
representatives, either to watch the proceedings, or to combat the influence
of the @erman socialists, and urged that a strong delegation should atténd,
Henderson noted the difficulties of this course: in accordance with the
views of the War Cabinet, he had used his ingluence with the Executive Comm-
ittee of the Labour Party to reject the proposal to take part in the Conferénc
-e, in favour of a Conference of Allied Socialists in London, on which the
Russian Socialists' views were awaited. The Conference at Stockholm was now

to be only a series of bilateral conversations.

It was reported, however, that MacDonald and Jowett of:the I.L.P.
and Albert Inkpin of the B.S.P. had applied for passports to Petrograd,
Presumably intending to stop en route at Stockholm. It was generally agreed
that if the Conference was going to take place, British representatives
should be present: "otherwise the Russian and German Socialists would
fraternize without any counteracting influence, and a wholly false impression
as to war-weariness among the Allies might be given to the enemy by the
French Minority Socialists, and by written communications smuggled out of
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this country". A British refusal to take part, moreover, would "have a very
serious effect in Russia and would strengthen the German anti-British
propaganda in that country". MacDonald, if he attended, could probably be
"counted upon to take up a sound line in regard to annexations and
indemnities", and he might strengthen the 'democratic movement' in enemy
countries. Other members of the I.L.P., however, could '"not be trusted to
maintain a correct attitude". It was agreed that he should not be allowed to
go unless accompanied by a strong delegation of the British Labour Partyso.
Henderson should arrange for a delegation of British Majority Socialists

to proceed to Russia, via Stockholm if it seemed desirableal.

The question was subsequently reconsidered, however, in view of the
expressed concern of the American and of the French governments, the latter
having refused to allow French socialists to go to Stockholm. The Conference,
it was pointed out, "might have an injurious effect on the moral of the
soldiers...and might force the Allied Governments into a premature and
unsatisfactory peace". A reversal of the decision would also be unfortunate,
however, "not perhaps so much in this country, where Mr. MacDonald (had)
comparatively small influence", but in Russia. While Russia at present was
of little value militarily, the Central Powers were nevertheless bound to
allot a considerable number of men and guns to the Bastern Front; while if
conditions there became more settled, the country might yet become a "formidable
force". A reversal of the decision, also, would exaggerate the importance of
the visit and tend to rally support behind MacDonald. On the recommendation of
Henderson - now in Petrograd - and the British Ambassador that it would be a
great mistake to refuse him permission, the decision was upheld; but MacDonald
should nevertheless be made to give an undertaking that he would not delay
in Stockholm en route, and that the two minority delegates should be
accompanied by four from the majority sectionaz.

In the event, the Seamen's and Firemen's Union, taking matters into
their own hands, refused to allow MacDonald and Jowett to sail to Stockholm.
MacDonald was not on a government mission; and the Cabinet decided, no doubt
with relief, that there was "no reason to interfere further in the matter"si.

Henderson while in Russia, however, became convinced of the desirability,
in the interests of continuing the war, of the proposed Conference. He, Wardle
and MacDonald, representing the Labour Party (of which Henderson had remained
the Secretary, despite his government post) went to Paris on 27 July to confer
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with the French Socialists on the proposed Allied Socialist Conference in
london on 8 and 9 August, to be followed by an International Socialist

Conference at Stockholm, early in September84

« On his return, Henderson
explained his views to the Cabinet. The Labour Party's attitude to the

Stockhom Conference was, he said, to "postpone it as long as possible". In
Russia, the Foreign Minister had attached great importance to the Conference

as a means of "clearing away the suspicions that existed in Russia of British
Imperialistic designs". In his 2bsence, the Labour Party had accepted an
invitation from the French Socialists to the Russian and British Socialists

to proceed to Paris to discuss the Allied Socialist and the 8tockholm
Conferences. Henderson had travelled with the party as a member of the Labour
Executive; and it was, he thought, "eminently desirable", in any case, that if
the Russian Socialists attended the British should do sqalso, and that if
MacDomnald (as Treasurer) did so, that those with other views should do so also.
At Paris, the convocation of the Stockholm Conference had been regarded as
settled. Henderson had "taken the line which he had decided on his return from
Russia to be best calculated to promote the national interests.. (i) to postpone
the Stockholm Conference as long as possible; (ii) to do his utmost to ensure
that it should not be a conference to take decisions, but merely a consultation,
at which the British and French delegates could expound the British and French
case". He had secured agreement on this point; and he had also secured the
postponement of the Conference from 15 August until 10 September in ogder to
allow the American delegates, who were strongly pro-war, to attend. The Cabinet
requested, however, that in view of the opinion™s upon the war of those who

had accompanied him to Paris, he should clarify matters by making a "strong

war speech" in the House of Commons, and pointing out the advantages which had
accrued to the government in the past as a result of his dual position85.

On 8 August the Cabinet considered the question of British attendance
at the Conference, and deemed it less important than formerly; but decided that
in order to avoid embarrassing the Russian government and relations with the
Labour Party, a decision should be left to the Labour Barty Conference which
¥as due to meet on 10 August§6 Bonar Law was to announce in Parliament, however,
that attendance at the Conference would require the government 's permission,

ommunication from the Provisional Government':

and that the government was examining the whole question, in association with
the other govdrnments concerned,

representative in London, Nabokov, was reported to the Cabinet on the same day
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as the Labour Party Conference was meeting. On behalf of the Russian Foreign
Ministry, it stq@™ted that while the Russian government did not deem it
possible to prevent Russian delegates from attending the Stockholm Conference,
they regarded the Conference "as a party confern and its decisions in no whge
binding upon the liberty of action of the Government". A copy was transmitted
to Henderson87.

Henderson made only indirect reference to the latter, however, in his
speech at the Party Conference. The Conference, he told the Labour meeting,
would provide an opportunity for the Party's representatives to make a
full and frank statement as to why they had supported the war, and as to the
aims and objects in the hope of achieving which they continued to support the
war. There wgs Ho question of negotiating peace terms, and there would be '"no
binding decision of any kind". The Party's case, he thought, had never been
"properly stated" and was "certainly not properly understood totthis day in
Russia". To have refused point blank to consider the question would have done
"incalculable harm". The Conference itself was more than likdy to take place;
and if it did so, it would be '"highly inadvisable andpﬁfgipﬁangerous for the
Russian representatives to meet representatives from enemy and neutral cou ntr
-ies alone". There was a nee: for every country to use its political weapon
to supplement all its military organization, if by doing so it sould defeat
the enemy. His decision, he emphasized, had been taken "from the standpoint
of national interests". British representation was agreed upon by 1,846,000
votes to 550,000; while it was agreed at the same time to exclude anti-war
or pacifist groups (in effect, the I.L.P.) from the delegation88.

The Cabinet,meeting the same day, considered the decision, and
decided to farbid attendance?9 More important, however, was Henderson's
failure to refer specifically to the letter from the Russian government which
had been passed on to him, and which might have been expected to have influenc
-ed the Conference's decision. Agreement was reached on a letter to be address
-ed to him by the Prime Minister; and that Henderson should not be invited to
future Cabinet meetings or receive its documents. Henderson's resignation was
received and accepted the following day, with an expression of his hope that

the war would be carried to a successful conclusion and that in a non-governm-
ental capacity he might be able to assist towards this end90 1¢ .o decided,

however, that the present time was not opportune for a gemeral election, since
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"proposals of a plausible nature but tending towards an unsatisfactory
peace were in the air",

The reconvened Special Conferencd of the Labour Party met on 21
August 1917. The Executive Committee declared that the circumstances had
been clear at the time of the previous decision, and proposed the reaffirm-
ation of the decision to attend, "in order that the opinions of the Party may
not be misunderstood and misrepresented". The resolution was again carried,
but by a narrow majority; and the decision to permit no further additions
to the delegation "from any affifiated or unaffiliated body in thiscountry“
was carried by an even more decisive margin. Opinion, evidently, had changed
as far as the Conference ®as concerned; and at the Inber-Allied Conference,
held in London on 28 and 29 August, the proposal was dropped, a decision
endorsed by the T.U.U. on 4 September9l.

Hendefson's departure from the government in conneetion with the
Stockholm proposal, then, had not been the result of any disagreement with
the government concerning war aims: it had been a difference concerning only
the manner in which that policy might most effectively be promoted. Lloyg
George noted moreover, in his letter to him, the help that Henderson had
rendered to the government in its relations with Labour, and in "getting the
trade unions to co-operate with us in necessary war measures'", and stating
the government point of view in labour and socialist circlesga. Nor did
Henderson's resignation end the Party's connection with the government:
his place in the Cabinet was taken by G.N. Barnes, and three Labour members

became junior members of the governmenth.

The co-operation of the official Labour movement with the government had
hitherto beeﬁfaﬂnintimate, if somewhat one-sided character. The Executive
Committee at the outbreak of the war criticized balance of power diplomacy,
and Grey's secret commitments to France; but Labour's duty was to "secure ¥EX
peace at the aarliest possible moment', hot to oppose the conducg of the war,
and there was no recommendation of a general strkke, as a number of Labour
spokesmen had earlier urgedgh. On 29 August the Executive endorsed thég
electorajtruce, suspending party differences for the duration of the war;

and joingd the recruiting campaign, placing its head office at the disposal
of the campaign, until "Great Britain and its Allies have obtained victory
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and have concluded the terms of an honourable and abiding peace"95. In May
1915 Labour entered the Coalition, with Henderson entering the Cabinet; and
early in 1916, conscription was accepted96. The 1916 Annual Conference
favoured repeal of the liilitary Service Bill, but voted :gainst agitation

for its repeal97. The formation of a government by Lloyd George in December
1916 led to increased Labour participation. Lloyd George informed them that
he was "desirous of securing the co-operation of the Labour Party in the
responsibilities of office"; and accordingly Henderson entered the War
Cabinet, Hodge and Barnes received ministries, and three junior ministers

were appointed98. Wardle, who was later in the year to join the government on
Henderson's resignation, explained in his Presidential Address that the Party
had steadily, and in his opinion wisely, "always declined to be bound by any
programme, to subscribe to any dogma...any mechanical formulas or to subscribe
to any regimentation either of ideas or of policy" (by which he appeared to
have exclusively in mind the "Marxist dogma"). The corollary of this was

what Wardle generously described as a "wide and judicious interpretation of the
meaning of tne word 'independence'"99.

As the Webbs noted, though theoretically internationalist in sympathy,
and predominantly opposed to 'militarism' at home as well as abroad, British
trade unionism, when war was declared, took a decided line. "From first to
last the whole strength of the liovement...was thrown on the side of the
nation's efforts"loo. At the February 1915 Treasury Conference, the trade
union leaders agreed to suspend for the duration of the war all their rules
and customary practices restricting the output of anything required by the
government for the conduct of the war: overtime regulations, health and safety
regulations, the right to c¢trike for better terms were abandoned. The
government's pledges, however, the Webbs recorded, wer "not kept"; the trade
unionists "were, on the whole, 'done'"lOl.

Labour's co-operation with the government, however, was losing its
intimacy throughout 1917 for a number of reasons. The circumstances of the
formation of Lloyd George's government provoked some opposition at the 1917
Party Conference. Snowden noted that Labour's participation in the Cabinet had
been accompanied by a rise in the cost of living, the erosion of civil liberties,
conscription and Munitions Acts. The Executive's Report was carried by a
large majority; but resolutions were adopted on a minimum standard of living,

the restoration of trade union rights, and the cost of livingl®?,

- -
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These factors, the existence of which there was no reason to doubts
(the cost of living, according to the Labour Party's own figures, had BHEXEXXNEN
almost doubled between the outbreak of the war and February 1917103), had,
in combination with profiteering and the 'dilution' of labour, had a considera-

ble effect by this stage of the war. In addition,as the Socialist Review

put it, with the German note and the American pezce proposals 'fQoughts of
peace, not of war'", were now "uppermost in the minds of the nations. Nay, it

Allied countries the interest and hopespf the people, and the interest and

cannot be doubted that not alone in Ge:ﬁany and Rustria, but in all the

hopes of the soldiers in the field, are no longer fixed on the struggle on the
battle-lines, but on the political struggle for peace in the Parliaments and
Cabinets, and in the cities and workshops at home"].'o4 Nor, as Lloyd George
himself recorded, could one overlook as a source of popular dissatisfaction
the "meagre supplies of beer and the lightening of its gravity"los. ‘

These factors were responsible for an increase in industrial unrest,

which, as Lloyd George noted, '"spelt a graver menace to our endurance and ulti-
mate victory than even the milit-ry strength of Germany"IﬂO6. Engineering
strikes in May, notably, were the most extensive since the beginning of the war,
They spread to fortg-eight towns, and involved over two hundred thousand men

lO?. Not the least disturbing

and the loss of a million and a half working days
agpect of the movement, from the government's point of view, was the evidTence
it afforded of the declining authority of the official labour leaders. By the
end of the year Sidney Webb told Thomas Jones of the Cabinet Secretariat that
he was "Very seriously alarmed .. by what i¥ reported from the districts". The
rank and file were "very angry. The secretaries and shop stewards are doing
all they can to prevent an outbreak; but they all say they are in the utmost
108. Jones told

Beatrice Webb in October that the Cabinet was mush perturbed by the rumours

apprehension of a spontaneous and tumultuous 'down tools'"

of revolutionary feeling among the working class. The leaders of the Labour
movement themselves, she noted, were "distinctly uneasy at the spirit of revolt

among the rank and file.."logThe Labour Leader was moved to observe that

Henderson and Hodge were "so out of touch with the men in the workshops, and

are so mistrusted by them, that any arrangement made through these advisers
110

is looked upon with suspicion"
A Commission of Inquiry into Industrial Unrest was appointed in
June 1917, with instructions to submit its report as quickly as possible. The
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sources of discontent identified by the Commission - food prices and
profiteering - had not, perhaps, required such an elaborate proceeding.
The report declared that "feelings of a revolutionary character are not
entertained by the bulk of the men". In South Wales, nevertheless, it found
evidence of a "breakaway from faith in Parliamentary representation. The
influence of the 'advanced' men is growing very rapidly", and "attempts of
a drastic character" to secure direct control of certain industries had been
envﬂ@@gediil. The report dealing with london and the South-East noted that
unrest was '"real, widespread and in some direction extreme", and was such as
to "constitute a national danger unless dealt with promptly and effectively";
indeed a "“social upheaval" was possible. In the North-East it was reported
that existing grievances formed a "fradtfal field for the inculcation of
ideas that unless controlled, may lead to active and dangerous upheaval"llz.
Much the most disturbing finding was that of a loss of confidence in the
government, which was "unfortunately associated with a diminished reliance
on the power and prestige of the trade unions,and the impairment of the
authority and influence of these executive bodies'". In the North-West theme
workmen had 'come to regard the promises and pledges of Parliaments and
Government Departments with suspicion and distrust"; while in Yorkshire the
men were reported as having lost all confidence in their trade uniom officials,
and union executives and the government departments which acted with and throu
-gh them were apparently regarded with '"universal distrust". Despite the
advantages of trade unions, as indicated by one of the area reports, in
bringing about good relations between employers and employed, the Yorkshire ‘
report concluded regretfully that "constitutional trade unionism was no
longer of any aVail"lli.

It was no doubt at least as much a consequence of this disturbing
development as of the discourteous treatment of Henderson by the War Wabinet

that Labour Party leaders, and particularly Henderson himself, began to attempt

revover its independence of the government's policy at home and abroad. 1In !

August 1917 a sub-committee was formed to prepare a scheme for the reorganiz-
ation of the party, and the drafting of the party's new programme and
constitution were initiated. The failure of the Stockholm Conference, equally,
and_of the Inter-Allied Socialist Conference in London, led the Executive
Committee to draft a document on war aims. The result, the Memorandum on War

Aims, was considered and endorsed with virtual unanimity &t a joint T.U.C.-
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Labour Party Conference in London on 28 December 1917114. In February of the

following year it formed the basis of the resolution adopted at an Inter-

Allied bocialist Conference on War Aims which was held in London.

There seems, then, no need to invoke events in Russia as an explanation of
the increasing militancy and independence of the labour movement, official
and unofficial, in 1917. The Revolution in Russia nevertheless gave rise to
a series of meetings in Britain called in its support, of which the first of
any size was held in the Albert Hall on 31 March under the slogan "Russia

115. A discussion of the more important of these meetings may help to

Free"
clarify the reaction to the Russian Revolution and to the developing struggle
in Russia of the 'pacifist' and unofficial sections of the labour movement,
which was responsible for their organizationg; and to this we now turn.

The meeting in the Albert Hall was organized by the Anglo-Russian
Democratic Alliance, a body centred upon theeditorial staff of the Herald,
including such Labour spokesmen as Robert Williams, Bob Smillie and Anderson,
as well as Lansbury himself. Nearly 20,000 tickets were sought for the
occasion, a number substantially in excess of the 12,000 capacity of the
hallllé. Ivan Maisky, then a Russian emigre living in London, attended the
gathering and noted that the hall was packed. The Royal boxes were filled with
workers for the occasionll7. The gathering was addressed by ten speakers,
including Smillie, Williams, Anderson, H.W. Nevinson and Lansbury
himself, who together represented, accord}ng to the official report of the
meeting, all that was "most advanced in the Trade Union, Labour, Socialist
and Radical movements". The meeting was declared by Lansbury the most
representative held in Britain since the Congress of the International in
1896. The official report conceded, however, that there was "some difference
of opinion" among the members of the audience, and indeed among the members
of the platform also. The resolution adopted at the meeting, referred to as
embodying the "Russian Charter of Freedom", congratulated the Russian
"Democrats", and called upon the governments of Britain and other countries
to "follow the Russian example by establishing Industrial Beedom, Freedom
of Speech and the Press, the Abolition of Social, Religious and National
Distinctions, an immediate Amnesty for Political and Religious Offences,
and Universal Suffrage". As Lansbury recorded, "not in any of our minds was

there even a thought of violence and bloodshed; one and all, we hoped,
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longed and prayed for Peace.." "We all felt that at long last a break was
being made in the evil passions which the war had created, and that very soon
the night of doubt and disappointment would pass...From the first moment

to the last the meeting was one of thankfulness and praise"lls. When the
organ pealed out the Internationale, the audience "rose and sang as at a
revival meeting"; and when Madame Clara Butt (who had rendered, the Herald
remarked, a splendid service to the democratic cause on this occasion) sang
the verses of 'God the All Terrible', "Atheists and Christians, Deists and
Jews, Moslems and Hindus all joined in the prayer 'Give us peace in our time,
0 Lord'"ll9.
the true lesson of the Revolution; international Labour solidarity and

uncompromising hostility to capitalist imperialism and warlzo. As an anonymous

The Call's observer reported that he had listened in vain for

correspondent ('a soldier and a democrat') wrote to Lansbury, it remained
unclear, the speeches notwithstanding, how Labour was going to act. Workers
in France and Germany were not limiting their expressions of sympathy to
words. There was a need, he thought, for "something stronger than appeals
to the Government"121.

The meeting had nevertheless, it was claimed, released the feelings
which the great masses of people were holding unexpressed. From that day
on, it has been suggested, there was a "great change of heart and a great
change of mind throughout Britainj what had been the unpopular propaganda of
a small minority became, in a greater or lesser degree of fervour, the
conviction of the greater portion of the thinking working class of the country,

and of many outside the working class"lzz. Further meetings were held, and

Russian ships on the Clyde and the Mersey were contactedlZB. May Day was

celebrated with particular energy124.

It was the United Socialist Council, however, which now took the initiative
in summoning the Labour and Socialist Convention at Leeds on 3 June 1917, the
declared purpose of which was to "follow Russia™ and whichalled for the
establishment of Workmen's and Soldiers' Councils throughout Britain, and
which was termed shortly afterwards the "most spectacular piece of utter
folly for which (the Socialist Left) during the whole war-period, was
responsibie - which is saying not a little"lzs. The formation of such a
Council had been recommended by a Conference which met under the auspices

of the International Socialist Bureau in December 1913126. The I.L.P. National

Executive c¢ecided unanimously, however, on 15 October 1914 that "the time was
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inopportune to proceed with the formation of the proposed United Socialist
Council", It was noted that the B.S.P. was not yet affiliated to the Labour
Party. At its Easter Conference in 1916, however, Hynd:ian and the pro-war
group withdrew from the B.S.P., and a resolution was adopted , which was
submitted to the I.L.P. National Executivd, urging that the U.S.C. now be
established. The I.L.P. appointed its Chatrrman and Secretary and four executive
members to confer with the B.S.P}27. A meeting was arranged for 16 August, at
which the I.L.P. and B.S.P. representatives agreed that the U5.C. be set up.
Since the Fabian Society could not "sec its way to join", the U.S.C. was
composed only of I.L.P. and B.S.P. delegates. Under its constitution the U.S.C.
was charged with the "preparation of a common policy upon all matters where
that is possible'"., It should have "power to initiate demonstrations and
other forms of propaganda, both national and local, prepare and issue manifest-
oes, leaflets and other literature, and generally endeavour to co-ordinate the
work of affiliated organizations". What were described by the I.L.P. Executive
as "'several mutually helpful discussions" had taken place since then: in
particular a circulaf was issued to trades councils and affiliated organizations
on the subject of industrial conscription, and a letter was addressed to the
Confegence of the French Socialist Party at the end of 1916128. The summoning
of the "Great Labour, Socialist and Democratic Convention" at Leeds was,
however, the first substantial task to which the U.S5.C. addressed itself.

The circular announckdg the Convention appeared on 11 Mgy 1917, under
the slogan "Follow Russia". The purpose of the meeting was stated to be to
"congratulate and encourage our Russian comrades upon the success they have
achieved in overthrowing the reactionary forces of that country and establishing
real political freedom". It was the duty of the British working class to
repudiate the "aims and aspifations - dynastic, territorial, and capitalist =~
that were supported by the Russian Czardom, and which have substantially
influenced the collective aims of the Allies". The fifteen signatories, on
behalf of the U.S.C., held it to be their 'urgent duty to convene a represemt-
ativd conference of Trades €Councils, local Labour Partiesft%ocialist Organiz-
ations in order to ascertain and pronounce upon the opinions of the working
Class of this country regarding the developments which have taken place, and
are taking place, in Russia.. Just as the Russian democracy have taken the most
significant steps in favour of an international peace, so must the democratic
forces in every country strive to cmulate their magnificent example.. It is
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our duty to work for a complete and international peace based upon working-
class solidarity, and, therefore, likely to be honourable and enduring". The
arrangements for representation were also specified129. A further circular
issued twelve days later added that the purpose of the Convention was to '"hail
the Russian Revolution and to organize the British Democracy to Follow Russia™.
The circular, which was addressed to Trades Councils, trade unions, local
Labour Parties, Socialist societies, women's organizations and 'Democratic
bodies', declared that the Conference was already assured of a great success.
It would be historic; and would begin a new era of democratic power in Great
Britain. It would begin, the circular added, to "do for Britain what the
Council of Workmen's and Soldiers' Delegates is doing for Russia“130. Snowden,
writing the day before the Convention opened, declared that it would 'be the
beginning of doing things in this country...This next weekend should see
Great Britain painted red"lsl.

The convening of the meeting was not without its difficulties. The
texts of tne four resolutions to be discussed were distributed to those bodies
which were invited; and the fourth, which called for the formation of Workmen's
and Soldiers' Councils, in particular aroused some misgiving. In many cases
strong opposition to representation was manifested in local Trades Councils
and political society branches, and in a number of cases delegates were
instructed to seek to amend the terms of the resolutionslsz. When the delegates
arrived, moreover, it was found that the bookings which they had made in local
hotels had been cancelled by the proprietors. The temperance hotels, it was
reported, which "benefit so largely out of democratic assemblies of the
kind were the worst offenders". Alternative accommodation was arranged for all
but those who arrived late, who were compelled to spend the night in railway
carriageslBB. Following, apparently, the visit of a member of the British
Empire League to the homes of nearly all members of the local Council, the
letting of the Albert Hall, where the meeting was to have been held, was
cancelled, and delegates assembled instead in the Coliseum. The Council also
refused to permit an open-air assembly arranged to have taken place in Victoria
Square. At least one report concluded, however, that the extent of the opposition'
which had had to be overcome had "added interest and zest to the gathering"134.
By noon on the day of the Conference, 1150 delegates had arrived, and

it was reported that "many more"™ had arrived later. The total audience was
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estimated to have been as large as 3,500 . The proceedingsd opened with the

reading of a telegram from Dansbury, who was unable to be present as a result

126

of ill-health "When they condemn you for wanting peace'", he wrote, 'when

they charge you with treason for being determined to end the war, telﬂ}hem that

it is treason against God, treason against humanity, not to end it - and at once".
Smillie, who acted as chairman, noted the Convention's debt to the series of
meetings welcoming the Russian Revolution which had already been held, and in
particular to the 'great Albert Hall meeting". If it had been a right thing for
the Russian people to be congratulated on securing their freedom, "surely it
cannot be a wrong thing for Britain 8o desire freedom also". They had not come

to talk treason, but reason.

The first resolution, congratulating the Russian people upon their 1
Revolution, was moved by MacDonald, who noted that "for years" they hzd wanted 1
it to happen. The Russian people shoud@ put themselves "at the head of the
peoples of Europe". He voiced his concern, howerver, that they should maintain
the Revolution, find a cause for unity, stand by their liberites and '"restrain
the anarchy in (thein midst". Snowden proposed the second resolution, which
hailed '"with the greatest satisfaction" the declaration of the foreign policy
and war aims of the Rus ian Provisional Government, pledged the delegates to
work for such a peace, and called upon the government "immediately to announce
its agreement with the declared foreign policy and war aims of the democratic
Government of Russia". They had been appealing to the government for three yeqrs
to be told their peace terms; the time had now come, he said, "for us to tell
the Government what our peace terms are'": which were, he specified, based upon
"no annexation and no indemnity, and the right of every nation to dispose of its
own destiny". The peace, he declared, would be a people's peace.

The third resolution called upon the government to 'place itself in
accord with the democracy of Russia by proclaiming its adherence to and determin-
ation to carry into immediate effect a chsrter of liberties establishing complete
political rights for all mem and women, unrestricted freedom of the Press, freedom
of speech, a general amnesty for all political and religious prisoners, full
rights of industrial and political association, and the release of labour fsroemm
all forms of compulsion and restraint". Many of the best public-spirited menX in
the country, the proposer pointed out, were in prison; and Labour was "enchained".
Nearly a thousand conscientous objectors were in prison, some doing their third
or fourth terms; and they would be "kept in prison unless we do what Russia has
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dopd". Such liberty as they had had before the war, added Mrg Despard, they
were now allowing to be taken awaytrom them.
It was the fomtth resoluti

as Anderson pointed out in moving it, as¥ the 'ugly duckling among the

n, however, which was regarded by the press,

resolutions", for which reason he claimed for it the delegates' 'special

137. The resolution called for the establishment in

solicitude and support"
every town, urban and rural district of "Councils of WorkmenX¥ and Soldiers'
Belegates for initiating and co-ordinating working-class activity in support
of the policy set out in the foregoing resolution, and to work strenuously for
a peace made by the peoples of the various countries, and for the complete
political and economic emancipation of international labour'. The convenors

of the Conference were appointed as a Provisional Committee, whose duties were
to "assist the formation of the local Workmen's and Soldiers' Councils and
generalll to give effect to the policy determined by (the ) Conference". If
there were to be justice for the soldiers, for the wives and widows of the
soldiers, and industrial freedom for the workeem, then workmen and soldiers :
must join hands. This had been termed revolution. If revolution were the conquesé
-t of political power by a hitherto disinherited class, if revolution meant :
that they would not put up in the future with what they had put up in the past,
with its "shams and.. poverty", then the '"sooner", he declared, they had revol-
ution in this country, "the better'". The organization was not subversive or
unconstitutional - '"unless'", he added, '"the authorities care to make it so";

but it would be a '"definite challenge to tyranny wherever tyranny (might) show
itself", Robert Williams, who seconded the resolution, declared that "if it
means anything at &ll", it meant "that which is contained in the oft-used

phrase from Socialist platforms: the dictatorship of the proletariat'. Parliament
-t, he added, wou@ld "do nothing for you. Parliament has done nothigg for you W
for the whole period of{the wa®..We are competent to speak in the name of our

own class, and damn the Constitution.. Have as little concern for the British
Comstitution as the Russians you are praising had for the dynasty of the

Romanoffs". It was, declared Sylvia Pankhurst, am "attempt to mak™e a beeline

for the Socialist Commonwealth". Despite some concern from the floor that the ﬂ

formation of the Councils might be premature or even superfluous, the resolution‘
Wwas adopted "amid enthusiasm with only two or three dissentients',

Outside Labour journals, press comments on the Convention were disapprov-
ing. The Review of Reviews assured its readers that the Socialist societies
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which had called the meeting were neither very large nor very powerful, and in

ng way represented the great mass of British labour. The Leeds Mercury sourly

noted that the 'best way to achieve permanent peace would be to pass resolutions
urging the troops to pursue unrelenting warfare, and the munitions workers to
work Ilceagiﬁify to keep the troops supplied"138. Labour comment was naturally
more enthisiastic. The meeting had been a success, wrote Snowden, "far beyond
the most sanguine expectations of the promoters. It was not only the largest
Democratic Congress held in Great Britain since the days of the Chartist agit-
ation", but a '"spontaneous expression of the spitit and enthusiasm of the Labour

139

and Democratic movement' . Lansbury, who was sent a telegram by the meeting

conveying its "best wishes for (a) speedy recovery to full health", rewveived
letters from many delegates giving him their impressions of the meetinglqo.

Leeds was splendid, wréte Sylvia Pankhurst. Mrs Despard wrote of the Wwonder

of Leeds'". She had noted a "strong current that is making for pezce and open
and righteous dealing now"; and at Leeds she had felt it "even more strongly
than before". PethickjLawrence and his wife "enjoyed the Conference enormously.
It was splendid to see such unanimity and enthusiasm", Leeds '‘was great!, wrote
A.A. Watts. "There was a fine feeling about the whole show". He added " I felt
all on the tingle all day" %,

What the Conventiof would mean in terms of a nationg™& movement was,
however, by no means clear. The meeting had been virtually without debate, and
no cmendments were allowed to the resolutions. The delegates, Beatrice Webb
wrote in her diary, had been "quite inqﬁable of coherent thinking. They vere

swayed by emotions"..142

Pankhurst and Snowden agreed that the meeting had

been composed of a "mass of conglomerate elements, not yet &used, lacking as

yet a common policy or plan of action"; it had represented all sections of the
Labour and Socialist movement and all shades of democratic opinionxxx.Nor had !
the meeting had time for detailslug. Noall Ablett, who represented the South Wales
miners at the Uonvention, compkained that the delegates had heard ideas which
they had heard thousands of times before, and with which they all agreed. What he
h:d not found was "some sort of programme, some sort of practical suggestion of
how we are to set up the Councils". The Convention, declared the Times , had
brought together in one hall a thousand or more individuals who were anxious

for peace at almost any price. "Curiously diverse in their eitewin and in their
views on obher questions, they had found themselves united under the banner of
Pacifism", The meeting had begun no new era and established no new social scheme;
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its only tangible product had been a telegram of some fifty wordle*8

« Some
delegates, at least, were aware of the justice of this criticism. Watts, in his
letter to Lansbury adter the Convention, noted that '"the great thing is for us
to get to work.. Locally I think we must 'get on with it'n49,
The Convention had, newertheless, adopted four resolutions outlining

a policy for the implementation of which the thirteen convenors of the meeting
had been declared responsible, as a Provisional Committee. The first three
resolutions had aroused practically no oppositiom, as Smillie told the Convent-
ion. The terms of the fourth resolution, however, had called for the formation
of local Councils of Workmen's and Soldiers' Deputies, and required the Provisio-
nal Committee to assist in the formation of local Councile, which were to meet
in district conferences to elect a further thirteen delegates to the Provisional
Committee, and to give effect to the policy determined by the Conference. It was @
on the basis of this resolution that a contemporary journal declared that many
of the I.L.P. men had become "avowed Syndicalists or Bolsheviks", and that the
King had confedded himself to be "greatly disturbed" to Will Thorne ”°. Had the
Convention, then, decided upon the formation of "extra-Parliamentary Soviets
with sovereign powers", and upon the "extension of the gussian system of Soviets
to Britainnol?

In the first place it should be noted that the functions entrusted to
the new Councils were limited and scarcely revolutionary ones. The Comncils
were, in the terms of the fourth resolution, required to initiate and co-ord-
inate working-class activity in support of the previous resolution, to work
strenuously for a ‘people's peace ', and for the "complete political and
economic emancipation of international labour'". The Councils were also required
"watch diligently for and resist every encroachment upon industrial and civil
liberty"; to "give specigl attention to the position of women employed in
industry and generally (to) support the work of the Trade Unions"; to "take
active steps to stop the exploitation of food and all other necessaries of
life"; and to "concern themselves with questions affecting the pensions of
Wounded and disabled soldiers and the maintenegce grants payable to the
dependants of men serving with the Army and Navy'"; and to make "adequate
Provision for the training of disabled soldiers and for suitable and remymerative
Work for the men on thekr return to civil life". As Mrs Pankhurst commented, this
- resolution was the "only one which meant action". It foreshadowed (she thought)
revolution; yet it concerned itself with '"matters of detail which are obviously
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part and parcel of the present system". The resolution spoke of resisting
encroachments upon fheedom: while "every worker knows that real freedom we
have never had, nor can have under this system '". The one specific aim of the

Councils, added the New Statesman, was the laudable but scarcely revolutionary
152
L d

one of looking after the interests of discharged soldiers
It was, moreover, in these terms th:t the formation of the Councils

had been discussed in the columns of the Labour press in the period immediately

preceding the Convention. At Leeds g means must be found, Lansbury wrote, of

"setting up committees represcntative of the people ~ soldiers and civilians'";

and they must also "imitate Lord Northcliffe and make our voice heard, our

wishes known to the Government'", in circumstances in which Parliament had

"abdicated its functions'. There was no question, he emphasized, of the Leeds

Conference "asking anything dishonourable 8%{§%%§6€ﬁotic". Workers' and Soldiers'

"Committees" should be formed in every district, '"not for the absurd, ridiculous

reasons attributed by the Press, but in order that the working class may be

united"l53. Snowden envisaged the Councils undertaking the task of "combining

some of the activities of the various Labour and Democratic bodies"l54. The

resolution was, he later wrote, a '"very harmless"fne, and "largely unnecessary

since it duplicated work already being undertaken by the Labour Party and the

trade unionsl55.

The resolution was printed in the Bolsheviks' paper Pravda; but the
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Soviets in Russia were not at this time yet under their control . There is
little to indicate, in any case, that the Councils were coneeived as counterparts
of the Russian Soviets. The Councils wdre termed 'Workmen and Soldiers' Councils',
not 'Workers' and Soldiers' Councils', which, as Sylvia Pankhurst pointed out,
would have been a more correct translation of the title of the Russian bodies;

and information other than from official and censored sources regarding develop-
ments in Russia was in any case hard to obtainl”’. The pllea for the establishment
of the Councils was, moreover, according to Snowden, that of W.C. Anderson; and
it seems unlikely that he envisaged the Councils am British Soviets. It was
Certqinly his expressed opinion shortly after the Convention that the task of the
Councils was simply to prepare machinery for the "great rebuilding" which would
take place after the war. He disclaimed any intention of '"getting the soldiers
into trouble"; described as '"monsense" the notion that the movement was pacifist
in character; and suggested that he and his colleagues now felt that it wouldbe
best to obtain the government's consent to}he formation of the Councils before
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proceeding further .
Snowden reported on recent developments to the I.L.P, National Executive
at the end of June., There was general agreement on five pointsa: that the
Workmen's and Soldiers' Council should be constituted as a war emergency
organization; that it shou@ﬂ not interfere with or limit the work of any
existing organization; 6hat it must not be allowed to dissipate the energies
of members of the party; that it should be a co-ordinating body locally; and
129,

that the National Council should be "mainl‘;h advisory body" week later
the Provisional Committee, announcing the formation of the local Councils,
stated that there must be no attempt on their part to "encroach upon or superse
~de organizations already established. All friction must be avoided..a and
overlapping must be eliminatdid as far as possible'". A futther communication

in October, representing the agreement of the National Council concerning the
objects of the movement, declared that it must serve '"primarily as a propagand-
ist body, not as a rival to, or to supplant any of, the existing working-class
organizations, but to infuse into them a more active spitit of liberty". Ot
should attempt to influence public opinion by means of meetings and leaflets,
160. That the

Councils might provide a means of focussing working-class energies with a view

with a view to the ultimate establishment of a Labour government

to the overthrow of the capitalist order, or that they might assume any quasi-
governmental functions, there was no suggestion.

It might perhaps be objected that while this was the role which
the I.L.P. section intended that the Councils should play, the B.S.P. section
had rather more rafifcal aims in mimd. The B.S.P. certainly claimed subsequently
that had other sections displayed the same spitit and enthusiasm, the Workmen's
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and Soldiers' Councils "would have been well established by now" . Rivalry

does, indeed, appear to have existed between the two bodies, which may well
have limited the effectiveness of the Provisional Committeel62; but bhe
objection seem%éeve%theless a misconceived one. In the fist place, the I.L.P.
Wag the dominating element in the movement, and to this extent it waw beside
the point for the B.S.P. to complain that its proposals had been overruled.

At the Convention itself the I.L.P. delegates outnumbered by more than three
to one those of the B.S.P.; and within the Provisional Committee it had a
similar ascendancyl63. Quelch suggested in the B.S.P.'s journal that as the
Cauges of discontent grew in intensity, and as the revolutionary urge deepened
and gathered strength, the local Coancils might become more "“aggressively
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Socialist", The following week, however, he suggested no more, if the local
Councils achieved "complete local solidarity", than that the next Parliamentary
Election might witness the return to the House of Commons of a majority of

l64. It seems clear, moreover, that B.S.P.

worfing-class representatives
spokesmen differed little in substance from those of the I.L.P. with regard

to the issues with which the TUonvention¥ Bhould concern itself. The B.S.P.'s
Annual Conference in April adopted a resolution which pledged the party to
"act in the spirit of the Russian Revolution': which was, however, specified
as "endeavouring to arouse the British working class to a sense of the
despotism and militarism which are growing up in thks country", and 4ttempting
to bring about the end of the was on "terms involving no annexations and no
humiliation to any country": in other wordls, a PMpeople's peace'. The party's
journal saw Leeds as a call to "shake off the bloody nightmare of the war and
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to stand up for the cause of Peace and Liberty among the nations”
Montefiore, who supported the first resolution on the BS.P.'s behalf, declared
that their duty was to ensure that the peace was not made by 'materialists!'.
The working-class movement, which had the power to end the wary and establish
peace, had also the power to "bring in the Co-operative Commonwealth'"; but this,
she indicated, was a task to be undertaken only after the war had ended. Neithex
she nor any other B.S.P. speaker suggested that it might, on the contrary, be
possible to end the war only by means of socialist revolution.

For common the the B.S.P. and the I.L.P. was the conviction that,
as Snowden put it, the "immediate question'" was the "settlement of the war
by an honourable peace on the lines set forth by the Russian Democratic
Government", It was in this sense that the call had been issued to "follow
Russia". The resolution by "organized democratic forces" of industrial and
social problems was an important, but a "post-war" and therefore subsidiary
task. The democracy of Britain should bring influence to bear upon the
Government as the Russian people had done: this was the only way in which the
war could be brought to an end and an enduring pbhade established. To end the
the war was, moreover, the most effective way to work against comscription
and to defeat the attacks upon industrial and civil libertiesl66.

Mrs Pankhurst wrote that the promoters of the Convention had

decided to concentrate the opinions and will of the people upon peace; and
"peace was of all words the most popular"l67. They wished, Smillie told the

8athering, to concentrate the will and opinion of the people upon peace. When
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peace came, it would be a peace by negotiation; and such a peace could be
made only by the common people (He was not however in favour of the Russians
making a separate peace). The meeting proved, Snowden believed, that the
movement for ending the war was becoming more powerful; and the reception of
the speeclies "very clearly indicated", reported the delegates from Glasgow
Trades Council, that the delegates and the "vast majority of those they
vepresented were tired of the war'". Labour, thg,considered, had "awakened to
the horror of it" and was now demanding a 'people's peace' without annexation
or indemnity. There had never been any question of advocating or suggesting a
physical force revolution, Lunsbury emphasized. There was, he thought, a '"more
excellent method of securing Labour's aims". The Councils should for this
purpose serve as a "unifying force throughout the land, drawing to themselves
all the men and women who wish to work for a better Britain after the war and
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an early peace.." . The Convention gave a ''moral impetus" towards this end;

it reflected a "growing adherence to the view that there (could) be no military
victory, no knock-out blow"l69.

The Convention's decision to include soldiers as well as civilians
within the ambit of the Councils aroused some opposition within, as well as
outside the labour movement. Henderson, for instance, declared that if the
Councils were to be formed on the model of those in Russia, with the same
possible consequences, there would be no harder fighter against it than
himself. He had seen quite enough of the consequences of such a course of
action in Russia. What had happened there had shown the '"folly of allowing an
army, as an army, to take part in political discussions, and this ought to be
a warning to us". He would "fight more strongly against any course of action
which (could) parslyse our military force as it (had) paralysed the military

force of Russia"17o

. Yet no effort was made, or appears to have been interddedy
to organize activikly among the armed forces, or to weaken military discipline
in any way. The resolution, Anderson made clear in moving it, was "not intended
to be subversive of military responsibilities". The resolution covered no more
than the questions of the pensions of wounded and disabled soldiers and the
allowances of the dependants of servicemen, =nd for the graining of soldiers
for civilian occupations. The linking up of the civilian element with the
military, the Times commented, had not yet begun, and '"mot the slightest
inkling" had been given of how it was to be accomplishedl7l.

The inclusion of soldiers within the scope of the Councigs
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reflected, in fact, more than anything else the concern of the I.L.F. to
demonstrate that, while opposed to the war itself, it had done everything
possible to improve the conditions of the "soldier and the sailor, and for
those who were and are dependent upon him". The I.L.P., it was claimed, had
carried on with "tireless energy" the campaign to secure a greater measure
of justice to the dependants of soldiers in an increased scale of allowances
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and pensions™. A joint conference of Poplar Trades Council and the League

of Rights for Soldiers and Sailors was held two months before the Leeds
Convention in Londonl73. It showed, the Herald suggested, that the forces

at work on behalf of "our broken soldiers and sailors" were "widening,
deepening, and gathering in strength". The meeting was presided over by
Lansbury, who was elected chairman of a Frovisional Committee, with Sylvia
Pankhurst as its honorary secretary. A resolution was carried unanimously
that a "Central Organization be formed for the purpose of safeguarding the
interests of soldiers and sailors and their wives and relatives and discharged
soldiers, and that a provisional committee be elected to draft a Constitution
for such a body". It is difficult to resist the conclusion that the Council
of Workmen's and Soldiers' Delegates became precisely the 'central
organization' envisaged in the resolution: it undertook, certainly, the same
functions, and was under the same directionl74.

The Council did undertake propaganda among the soldiers and sailors,
and a number of Soldiers' Councils existed for short periods. At Tunbridge
Wells an attempt was made among soldiers awaiting demobilisation to organize
support for a local Soviet, without, it appears, much successl75. A unit
stationed at Sevenoaks also sought to establish a Soldiers' Vouncil, as a
"means of representing the views of tne rank and file to the commanding
officers". DBut the movement, it was reported, "fell very flat": ;ge unit
176 14

is difficult to establish to what extent these Councils were a response to

was called overseas "where they had other things to think about"

Leeds: there was in any case considerably greater discontent among the

armed forces (as reflected in, for instance, disciplinary offences) than
during the first two years of the war; and it had been the purport of the
resolution to have established Workmen's and Soldiers', and not separate

Soldiers' Councils. Propaganda leaflets distributed among the armed forces
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declared that the Vorkmen's and Soldiers' CouncilX would "take steps to
promote a public opinion favourable to freedom of association for soldiers)
and to their right to be represented. Pending changes in the Army Regul-
ations, however, it was stateg that the Councils would '"confine their
activities to men discharged from the Army"177.

These developments were a source of understandable concern
to the government. On 24 May the Ministry of Labour's periodic report
on the labour situation noted that at meetings at Glasgow and elsewhere
the "wildest peace talk appeared to have been received with general
acclamation". The Leeds Conference, which had been called Win favour of
definite action to secure peace', had not, it was reported, itself adopted
the catchword of 'peace without annexations or indemnitiexw', but the "whole
trend of the notice calling a conference proves the organizers to be in
sympathy with this cry"l78. The Cabinet was informed the following gday
by Lloyd George that a "large Labour, Socialistic and Democratic Conferen-
ce" was to be held at Leeds, with a view, inter alia, to "establishing
in Great Britsin a Council of Workmen's and Soldiers' Debegates, on the
lines of the one now in existence in Russia'". The meeting was widely
known already; and the Cabinet decided that it would therefore be
undesirable to take any steps to suppress further advertisements, or to
prohibit the meeting itself, "although it was of such a revohﬁﬁonary
charadfer'". The Secretary of State for War was, however, charged to
ensure that no soldier in uniform attendedl?g.

It was too lzte, Milner wrote to Lloyd George on 1 June, to
stop the Leeds meeting; but there might still be time to "instruct the
Press.. not to 'boom' the Leeds proceedings too much". Meanwhile the
time was '"very near at hand", he considered, when they would have to
"take some strong steps to stop the 'rot' in this country, unless we
wish to 'follow Russia' into impotence and dissolutionwlgo. The Cabinet
decided on 5 June, largely prompted, no doubt, by the Leeds meeting,
that the "time had come to undertake an active campaign to counteract
the pacifist movement, which at present had the field to itself", and a
National War Aims Committee was established later in the monthlgl. The

Cabinet was informed in July that efforts were being made to "induce

soldiers to interest themselves actively in political agitation of a
character likely to weaken the discipline of the Army. Cases had already
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occurred where meetings had been convened and addressed by soldiers".
Efforts were being made in various parts of the country to encourage serving
soldiers to form committees, which had been successful in a number of cases.
Soldiers appeared, also, to have become involved in a meeting held in
connection with the Workmen's and Soldiers' Councils. It was agreed that
soldiers could not be given permission to join the Councilslsz.

The government, then, regarded the Councils movement with greater
concern than Lloyd George was subsequently prepared to admitlaB. It was
nevertheless true that, apart from a general effort to stiffen morale on the
home front, the government need attempt to oppose the Councils movement only
to the extent to which it appeared to be prepared to go beyond the limited
and pacific proposals of its I.L.P. sponsors. Lansbury, at least, professed
a concern to focus the energies of the Councils upon domestic social change.
At Leeds, he wrote, they had celebrated the triumphant Russian revolution

and pledged themselves to work for the social salvation of the people. He

put forward a "New Charter for the Workers" as a "translation into plain facts
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and policies of the enthusiasm of that Convention" . It represented a
programme of reforms for which the new Workmen's and Soldiers' Council
should work, as a "logical interpretation of the resolutions adopted at the

Leeds Conference", which meant "something like this or...nothing at all".

Leeds had been a "Conference, not a Demonstiration"; it had been called to

inaugurate action, not to talk; and if it failed to inaugurate action, it

would have failed altogether. "But", he added hopefully, "it will not fail"l

The Charter was founded upon the principle of ownership by the state
and management by the workers. It provided for increases in
soldiers' pay, for the right of speech and the right to strike, and
for the freedom of the pregs. Negotiations were to be instituted at once
to end the war upon a basis of no ammexations and no indemnities. "Better
homes and better pubs" were demanded. The conscription of wealth was
included, but justified with reference to the Eighth Commandment. In
general Lansbury appeared concerned lest discontent, which was "seething
all over the place”, should break out in "undirected and sporadic forms".

The Council had a "great patriotic task" to perform in saving the nation

5
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from the danger of such a "disaster'": for it would be able, if it acted
effectively, to remove this unrest by insisting upon the causes of unrest
being removed186.

Whatever Lansbury's motives for the proposal of a Workers' Charter,
however, his initiative remained dependent upon the extent to which the
machinery set up by the Convention became effective. The extent to which it
did so has often been understated. It has been suggested, for instance, that
the Convention "had no sequel. No British Soviet or Councils of Workers'
and Soldiers' deputies were founded and even the Provisional Committee
elected by the Conference soon broke up". It has been suggested that the
Convention took place "almost in vacuo and nothing more was heard of the
Soldiers! and Workers' Councils except on the Clyde"; and that the
Provisional Committee never in fact met187. District conferences of the
Workmen's and Soldiers' Councils did in fact take place in most areas in
order to elect thirteen members to the Provisional Committee; and the
Provisional Committee did meet, and at least one meeting of the full National
Council was held. It remained true, however, that the Committee did not sit,
as Sylvia Pankhurst had urged, from day to day, as Parliament did (a
revolution, she noted, ws ™ot...a thing which can be carried on as a spare-
time occupation"las); and the district meetings in many cases met with strong
and sometimes insuperable opposition. The role of the Councils became
increasingly marginal.

The Herald announced at the end of June that the Frovisional
Committee was about to issue a general manifesto; and when the thirteen
district members were added to their number, thus making up the full
National Council, they would "doubtless put forward a more definite
programme™. A "Manifesto to the District Conferences" was issued a week
later. It professed td seek the support of "lovers of freedom" and "men
and women of goodwill" in order to "prevent the further loss of liberty,
to recover the ground already lost, to attack Governmental and all other
forms of tyranny, and to quicken the responsibility and power of
democracy. Close alliance and solidarity™ was sought with the Russian
democracy, but "not in any narrow or exclusive sense", for "every people
must work out their own salvation in their own way". The present hour

did ™ot call immediately for programme-building"; but when the full
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Council of twenty-six was assembled, a "full statement of immediate aims
and objects'" would be forthcoming., Meanwhile such a volume of '"clear-
thinking public opinion" should be crezsted as would compel the Brithsh
189, ifortnight later it
was announced that the District Conferences had all been arranged (Ireland

government to fall in with the Russian war aims

was omitted for the time being, in view of the development of Sinn Fein),
and that they were '"calling forth a response from the workers without
precedent in the history of the working-class movement"lgo. Two resoluti-
ons were submitted for adoption by each Conference, one which hailed the
Russian revolution and called for a peace without annexations ot indemn-
ities, and another which called for the formation of local Councils,

based where possible upon local Trades Councils, to work for the implement-
ation of the Leeds resolutionslgl.

The district conferences at Norwich, Briktol and Leicester passed
off smoothly enough; but the proceedings were interrupted at Newcasktle,
Btockport and Swansea, and the meetings arranged for Birmingham and
Glasgow were prohibited on the authority of the Home Office}92 The meeting
in London on 28 July was disrupted and the Brotherhood Church, where
the meeting was held, was seriously damaged}93

These methods, Tom Quelch declared on behald of the Provisional
Committee, Bepresented a direct challenge to the Councils; and they would
be answered, for their cause, he wrote, throve on opposition. Lanébury
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affirmed that the work of the Councils wogld go on « It proved,neverbhe-
less, impossible to hold the London Conference elsewhere, and as at Glasgow
and as also at Newcastle, a postal ballot had to be held to select the
two representatives from each area to sit on the Provisional Committee195.
The central body had no greater success. Tom Quelcb had been appointed
Secretary with offices at 4 Duke Street, Adelphi, in London. After a month,
however, Quelch received notice to quit and he joined the Army, from which
time the Councik had no fixed central address. Quelch was eventually
arrested as a deserter #n 12 September196.

It had still not proved possible to bring together the full
National Council. A list of delegates so far elected appeared in the Call
on 4 October, some four months after the Convention, and it was announced
$hat a full meeting of the Council would be held in the following week at

which the policy of the Workmen's and Soldiers' Council would be formulated
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and a "vigorous campaign instituted". Fo~llowing the election of the two

Scottish representatives, a meeting of the full National Council was (
eventually held. It was the National Council's first, and apparently its '
last meeting. A seven-point statement of the aims and objects of the .
Council was adopted, which stated that the Council had been formed "prima-
rily as a propagandist body'", not as a rival to or replacement for any f
of the exicsting working-class organizations. A vigorous campaign was "abour
-t to be instituted"197. It was nevertheless MacDonald's conclusion, in
his report on the meeting to the I.L.P.'s National Executive, that there
did '"not agpear to be much prospect of activity on the part of the

1019

Counci » Government intelligence agreed that workers were losing
interest in the Councils. By the middle of October, Basil Thomson concl-
uded, "it was possible to reportthat the Workmen's and Soldiers' Council
movement wags moribund"199.

This was not the last which was to be heard of Soviets in
Britain. The formation of a Soviet fof the ®est of Scotland was proposed
at the end of 1918; but Glasgow Trades Council decided to take no part in

the conference which was to consider its foundatigge and the proposal

failed to arouse the enthusiasm evident at Leeds. For the Workmen's and
Soldiers' Council movement had been the product of special circumstances,
In its essence, as has been suggested, an organization formed in order to
press for a negotiated settlement to the war rather than for revolutionary
social change or 'dual power', it could have a role to play omly so long
as official Labour bodies remained HXKcommitted to the Coalition government
and the bfight to a finish'. There would have been no immediate need for

the Leeds Convention, the Socialist Review pointed out, had not the trade

union MPs and the majority of the Labour Party executive '"abrogated their
functions and scrapped their Labour Party powers"zom. The Labour Party
executive announced that it had nothing to do with the Leeds Convention,
and urged that no local organization affiliated to the party should
convene conferences which were not in harmony with the general policy of
$he party - which was that of a gight until victory had been achievedaoa.
This underestimated the strength of feeling which now existed, and of
which Leeds, almost unexpectedly, gave evidence, in favour of a negotiated
Peace. Leeds represented, according to the Socialist Review, an
"unmistakable and warning sign of the spreading feeling of Labour revolt
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in the country", a revolt which Henderson's expulsion from the Cabinet
. 1

the e to the ~°¥ed
. The movement for a negotisted peace,

. R . thovRin
moreover, lost most of its reason for existence with the m&==e to the

and his introduction of a more independent politica
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the Labour leadership to contain

ce:tre of political debate in the Labour movement of the Stockhohm
proposal, Jquestion which was discussed at specizl conferences of the
Labour Party. Leeds, the I.L.P. Executive reported the following year,
"undoubtedli@ave an impetus to the Movement $or summoning the
International". In doing so, however, it could not but contribute to
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its own supersession « The Councils assisted the opposition section
of the Labour movement to conquer not political power, but the official
section of the party. For those who wielded most influence in the

Councils movement, this was®more than sufficient return.

If a growing pacifism in the ranks of Labogr was a major problem for the
Cabinet, it was by no means the only one: for whatever the achievements
of the new government in Russia in restoring liberty, it soon became
apparent that its efforts in the military field were by no means so
successful. As early as the end of March the Cabinet was told of '"very
serious disorders" in the Russian Baltic fleet; the situation at Kronsta-
dt was "unsatisfzctory" and '"generally speaking, the discipline in the

205. The

Baltic fleet had weakenened considerably" trouble was compounded

by the removal, for what appeared to be political reasons, of some of

bhe most efficient Russian officers from ports on the White Sea206. As
Basil Thomson observed, '"the worsté of revolutions is that they never know
where to stop"207.

On 18 April the Cabinet heard a report from Colonel Knox who
stated that he did not believe that a big Russian offensive was
practicable in existing conditions. The Military Attache at Petrograd
reported the view of a Russian officer that an:kuestion of a Russian
offensive was now out of the question; and it was considered doubtful
if the troops could even hold their ground if attacked. The despatch of
heavy artillery was suspended , owing to the "improbability of its being

usefully employed in Russia if sent there, owing to the generally chaotic

state of the Russian army"208 By May, the military situation had not
improved and it was reported that a "wave of pacifism was spreading over
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the Army. It seemed, however, that the officers were trying to control the

men"209.

There was a "deplorable lack of discipline in the Russian Army
&0 e Chief of the

Imperial General Staff declared that according to his information, the

at Odessa, and very poor prospects of any offensiv

situation in Russia was very serious; and Lord Robert Cecil noted the

"lack of discipline and the spread of the extremist movement to Moscow

and Odessa"zll. The Russian forces in the Caucasus, it was reported,

would be obliged to withdraw to the east in the autumn since transport

and supply were in a very bad state212. Knox reported at the end of the
month that the military situation had not improved, that many of the drafts
refused to obey orders to proceed to the front, and that there were large
numbers of deserters every dayzla. The Chief of the Imperial General Staff
noted that while Knox had "mever erred on the side of optimism, his
information in the long run generally proved to be accurate"214. The
situation was already such as to require a secret Cabinet discussion on
the situation which would arise in the event of Russia making a separate
peace, although it was recognized that no conclusion could be reached.
The discussion was continued at the end of JulyZlS.

In June, the retirement of General Alexieff was, according to the
Director of Military Intelligence, "entirely political". The general was
known to be a "strong disciplinarian”, of no political orientation; and
the Provisional Government had some apprehensions that the measures which
he might take to restore discipline might prove a source of embarrassment216.
In the army the "recent impression of an improved moral was weakening".
Already, it was reported, eleven German divisions had been moved from the
Eastern to the Western Front217.

The view was already finding currency in the Cabinet that the
government was "paying too high a price and risking too much to support a
government in Russia whose prospects were at the best very uncertain
and who were probably unlikely to exert any further influence on the war"218.
All, however, might not be lost. An offensive was plamned and initiated by
General Brusilov. Om 11 July the C.I.G.S. was able to report a breakthrough
to the Cabinet219. A fortnight later he was forced to note that a retreat
had begun and was continuingzzo. Rugsian proposals for a Conference on War
Aims should still be postponed, the Cabinet considered, "as long

as possible,™ for "once it was known that we were discussing these
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questions, the effective prosecution of the war might be rendered more
difficult"221. At the heart of the problem, it seemed, was the "considerable
and serious vacillation" of the government "in regard to the re-enforcement
of discipline". 3By now, indiscipline "prevailed almost throughout the
Russian Army"222. The only grounds for optimism were that General Kornilov's
army was reported to be in a better state of discipline than any other army.
The C.I.G.S. had "great hopes that his appointment as Commander in Chief of
the Russian Armies would lead to the restoration of discipline and the

223. On the advice of Buchanan, a message

regeneration of the Russian army"
was composed (but not, it appears, despatched) that while Britain was "ready
to make any sacrifice to help a Russia which had a strong government, our
duty to ourselves and our other Allies might make us question the advisability
of helping a government that delayed to take the necessary steps to restore
discipline“224. Kornilov's terms of acceptance of his appointment, including
strict discipline and the application of the death penalty, were reported to
have led to some improvement in the morale of the Russian forces225. The
¢abinet discussed the possible exercise of its influence in favour of the
acceptance of Kornilov's conditions, in particular the reintroduction of the
death penalty; but it "might be said that the British government was urging
the Russian Government to shoot soldiers". Instead a "careful message in
support of discipline" should be sent to Buchanan, to be used at his
discretion and after consultation with the representatives of the Allie8226.
In the face of a continued retreat, the destruction of ammunition
dumps, and the continued drift towards a separate peace, Kornilov
alone seemed to offer salvation. Knox described him as a "strong
character, an honest patriot, and the best man in sight". Knox had no
faith in Kerensky, who was "afraid of shedding blood and was allowing
matters to drift towards anarchy". He urged that the Allied governments
should represent to the Russian government that Kornilov should be
fully supported in the measures which he desired to make to restore
discipline at the front, on the railway and in Petrograd227. It was
therefore a misfortune that his relations with Kerensky had deteriorated.
Kornilov, the Cabinet felt, "represented all that was sound and hopeful

with regard to an improvement in the situation in Russia. To talk of
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General Kornilov as a 'traitor to his country' was monstrous, and it should
not be forgotten thzt in the past we hod been in gener: 1l sympathy with his
endeavours to aid the cause not only of Russia but of the Allies". It was
difficult for the British government to interfere in the situation without
appearing to take sides with General Kornilov, in his dispute with Kerensky;
but it was equally "impossible, in the interests of the Allies and of
democracy generally", to make ho effort to '"improve the situation', evén
though any steps in thst direction would h=ve to be taken through Kerensky,
as the representative of the existing government. Buchanan was to be
instructed to use his discretion in addressing an appeal to Kerensly to
compose his differencew with Kornilov, '"not only in the interests of Russia
herself, but in that of the Allies". All that was secured, however, was a
promise by Kerensky to the chief Allied military representatives to endeavour
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to restore the discipline of the officers in the Russian army

A month later the Cabinet heard from the Director of Military
Operations of '"more encouraging accounts of the stcte of the Russian Army';
but Balfour offered another report to the effect that the situation in
Russia was '"worse than hitherto", =2nd that peace would probably be made in

two months, "unless Japanese and American di¥isions were sent to pull the
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only in optimism .

nation together" « A week later it became apparent that Balfour had erred

The position for some time, however, remained unclear. "In donnect-
ion with the absence of news from Russia", the First Sea Lord was instrucfed
to contact Archangel and to make "every endeavour to obtain from Moscow,
Petrograd and Hango an appreciztion of the situation"zBl. His report from
Archangel was that "anarchy prevailed in Petrograd, there being a general
strike of ald government employees. Street fighting was taking place in
Moscow", The Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs had heard that in Odessa
"the Maximalists had the upper hand. Civil war was raging in Kiev". In
Petrograd "the behaviour of M. Kerensky wppeared to be lamentable, and to
give little hope of success on his partaéaBuchanan reported on 17 November
that the Bolsheviks tn Moscow had surrended to government troopsz33; but by
19 November he informed London that fighting there had ended in "complete

Victory for the new revolutionary Party"e34 mqpe pirst Sea Lord had had the
distressing news from Petrograd that "&Egcipline of the Baltic Fleet was very



43
" 255.

bad, all the officers being under open arrest
On 12 November Balfour had told the House of Commons that he
could fTurnish no other information than that which had appeared in the
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public press « A week later he was obliged to admit thag it #appeared

that the "extremists" were '"mow in complete control of Petrograd and
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Moscow"

Readers of the Labour press received little forewarning of the Bolshevik

revolution. Only days beforehand the New Statesman's correspondent wrote

from Petrograd that the city was "much quieter.. Some of us still quote
Marx.. but one feels the presence of a new, and probably fruitful,
empiricism"238. The revolution itself received less approval than the

March revolution had done. Information, admittedly, was lacking. It was
impossible, wrote Forward, in the absence of better information, to comment
on events in Russia; and '"none of our usually recognized authorities on
Continental Socialism" appeared to know much about Lenin239. Snowden wrote
that it would be foolish, in view of their limited knowledge, to "dogmatize

or take sides definitely in a temporary conflict"aqo

« Bruce Glagier, at
the I.L.P.'s conference the following Easter, declared that it would be
wrong fot the I.L.P., to mzke a pronouncement which would ”definitely
proclaim their sympathy on the side of the Bolsheviks to the exclusion

of other sections of Russian Socialists"aql; and the National Executive 's
report made no reference to the Bolsheviks' success. The Presidential
Address at the Labour Party Conference suggested that the Labour movement
sympathize with the Russian people in their "efforts for an ordered
Government'", and "help them to a fuller understanding of our position ,
our zims and objects in this war"auz.

Other Labour spokesmen were more forthcoming. Henderson, who had
had, as he pointed out, first-hand experke hce, declared that he had " been
able to determine that Bolshevism was "nothing but oppression, vidlence
and terror"243. The situation, however, was still in solution, and there

was "yet hope that the re-statement of Allied war aims might restore the

moderate leaders to power"zuu. Snowden wrote that for a time the "Extremistsﬁ

had captured the government; but the position, he thought, was "not irretr-
ievable"?42, MacDonald saw no hope of Lenin securing a firm grip on Russia.

Lenin was, he considered, a "doctrinaire fanatic.. with all the unscrupu-
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246. Brailsford, writing in the Herald, accused

lousness of his kind "
the Bolsheviks of making a separate truce with the enemy. They were thereby
"putting themselves outside the pale of our International Socialist
Society"247.

The Call declared that "genuine and not make-believe Socialists"
had seized the reins of power; and praised the Bolsheviks for their
"courageous loyalty to the principles of International Stcialism as laid
down, for the time of war, by the Stuttgart and Basle Congresses'. The
paper, however, called for a coalition government of the socialist parties,
and for the transfer of power to the Constituent Assembly when it metahg.
It was a singular pity, wrote a correspondent in the Herald, that no

paper in the country had so far endeavoured to have a "sympathetic
understanding of the position of the newer Revolutionaries"zhg. They

were, Snowden noted, "naturally prone to look on what is happening among
the Revolutionesries from our British point of view"250. Litvinov, who had
been appointed to represent Bolshevik Ruasia in Britain, wrote in a
pamphlet issued the following Easter entitled 'The Bolshevik Revolution:
its rise and meaning', that it had begﬁi%igelgnternational character of
the Russian revolution that had '"not yet been fully understood or apprecia-
ted by the workers of other countries"25l.

Whatever their attitude to the Bolsheviksl seizure of power,
there were few if any misgimings among Labour leaders sbout their
denunciation of secret diplomacy and their publication of the secret
treaties which had been discovered in the Foreign Ministry. Again, the
effect was to strengthen the movement in fazvour of a negotiated peace.
According to Snowden, publication of the documents (which began in
Izvestiya on 23 November) had not revealed much to those who had closely
followed international affairs duting the previous three years. The
publication was, nevertheless, valuable, inasmuch as it placed beyond all
doubt the truth of the rumours which had circulated, and established the
"Imperialistic character of the war“asz. The I.L.P. adopted a resolution
at its conference in Easter 1918 welcoming the publication of the
documentsz53. Their impact was much wider than the Labour movement;

C.P. Scott of the Manchester Guardian, republished the documents in his
Paper and was moved by them to express his contempt of an '"imperialist
and reactionary government"25#. In Parliament, Outhwaite declared that
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the publication of the secret agreements revealed that the Allies were
"committed to aims of vast territorial aggrandizement"245? Lord Robert
Cecil, for&he government, refused to accept the documents as accurate,
and declined to comment on their authenticity. He did not doubt,
however, that the British Ambassador would send home copies of the
publications in the ordinary course246? Balfour later declared that the
documents "ought not to have been published", but made no attempt to
repudiate them247?

Shortly thereafter the Labour Memorandum on War Aims appeared,
and at a Special Conference of the Labour Party and the T.U.C. on 28
December 1917 it was adopted. Framed to provide a '"definite statement of
War Aims and Peace Policy which shall express the general sense of the
Labour Movement as a whole'", the fact of its publication and adoption
was, perhaps, of greater significance than its detailed provisions,
which reflected the sentiments of Labour and dissident Liberal spokesmen.
The Memorandum omitted to refer to the Bolsheviks' proposals for a
general peace., It did, however, according to Lloyd George's Secretary,
make a"most favourable impression on many sections of opinion outside
the Labour Party". Together with Lord Langdowne's letter to the Daily
getegeoph of 29 November, calling for an early negotizted peace, oppositi
-on to the government's war policy had been notgbly extendedaqgf

The Cabinet was informed by Carson, who was responsible for

anti-pacifist measures, that his survey of the government's propaganda
had led bhim to concluded that the pacifists were 'greatly assisted by
the lack of definiteness in our territorial war aims'. Barnes expressed
his agreementausf This was a serious matter. Without the goodwill and
co-operation of the trade unions, Lloyd George recalled, they'could
not have secured further recruits from among the exewmpted". In order to
secure their co-operation it was necessary to place before them with
what he described as ''complete frankness" the purposes for which the
war was being prosecuted25o? There had been "mischievous statements
circulating in the Press and at meetings, and in private that our aims
were of an 'imperialistic' or predatory characger". The Cabinet agreed
that a public statement of war aims had become increasingly important,
" and that theﬁtatement should "take the form of a counter-offensive"asl?

The idea, according to Thomas Jones, was to make the statement "ultra-
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democratic, to go to the furthest points of concession, so as to,support

the war spitit at home, which (had) been seriously weakened"252? Lloyd i
George's draft stebemént was condidered on 4 January 1918 by the Cabinet,
the section on self-determination being modified b0 as to apply 'not to

all races indiscriminately, but merely to the settlement of the New
Europe"®27% and the speech was delivered the following day>”*. The effect

of the speech, Jones considered, was "sbbendid on Labour"255. That it had
succeeded in transforming Labour opinion would, however, be too much to

say. Especially at the local level, unrest continued. Barnes reported in !
dismay to the Cabinet that he had mentioned the name of Trd%ky at his %
256 J.H.Thomas |
told Jones that the railwaymen were "much less easy to move" than they ;

meetings in Scotland, and "it had been received with cheers"

had been in August 1914, and th:t many favoured peace term5257. The strike %
movement hardly abated. It was against this background, of a steady increase:
in the strength of feeling in favour of an early peace, and of a continued {
Labour unrest no more to the taste of the official Labour leadership than

it was within their control, that the government had to form its policy

in regard to the new Bolshevik regime in Russia.

Whatever that policy was to be, it would certainly not be one of recognitione.
On 23 November, the day after a Soviet proposal for a generzl peace had

been received, Lord Robert Cecil gave an interview to Reuter's agency,

and made it clear that there would be no recognition, and that the new
Russian government was '"'outside the pale' of international society"258.
Balfour told the House of Commons that since the fall of the Provisional
Government, no government had been formed in Russia with which the British
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government had found itself able to enter into relations « Nor, indeed,
did the question have the importance it was later to assume, for few among
even its supporters believed that the new regime would have other than a

transitory existence. The Manchester Guardian on 12 November reported

"Kerensky returning - Extremist defeats", quoting a communique tXXXo the

effect that the defeat of the Bolsheviks was '"only a matter of days or even
hours"aso. Buchanan told the government that the ability of the Bolsheviks
to hold out indefinitely was "u"nlikely"; bu;ﬁhhy might, he thought, "hold
out for two or three months"261. Guesses were made, Nabokov recorded, as to

the number of days that the Bolshevik regime would last, and"who would



47

replace it"262. Only one thing seemed certain, the New Statesman

263

suggested: "the Bolsheviks cannot possibly maintain themselves in power" .

As late as 5 January 1918, a leader in the Daily Telegraph declared that

the Soviet government might be "swept out of existence at any hour and no
sane man would give them as much as a month to 1ive"264.

Similarly the question of public and private debts appeared to arise
only in the short term. Their size was estimated in the House of Commons
at six hundred and sixty million respectively265. An answer as to whether
they were adequately protected was at first refused as "not in the public
interest“266. Subsequently, however, Bonar Law offered a review of the
situation. He foresaw, after the collapse of the Bolshevik regime, the
emergence of a "recognized and responsible government" in Russia, which
would be compelled to recognize that the "development of its resources and
its prosperity would be impossible without financial assistance from other
countries". This would in turn be "impossible unless as a first provision
previous debts are accepted by that Government". He did not, therefore,
believe that the debts would "not be recovered sooner or later by this
country"267.

The question still remained, however, as the Cabinet was told, of
"how far it was possible for the Allies to take any effective action
in Russia against the Bolsheviks", who were now engaged in the
negotiation of an armistice with the German5268. The Allies had not
recognized "Lenin and his associates", nor could they recognize any
government which "officially put forward to the enemy proposals for
peace”". The trouble was - and this was at the heart of the Allies!
predicament -~ that "any overt official step taken against the Bolsheviks
might only strengthen their determination to make peace and might be
used to inflame anti-Allied feeling in Russia, and so defeat the very
object (the government) were aiming at". There remained, too, a lack of
reliable information on the strength of anti-Bolshevik forces. Steps
should be taken, it was suggested, to "build up in Russia some sort of
unofficial organization which could counter the work of the German
organization". The Roumanians were to be persuaded to get in touch with
~ General Kaledin, which would provide some information as to his strength,
while it would "not constitute an intervention in Russian internal affairs"

to the same extent as action by the Allies directly. Buchanan
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was told that an "unfortunate effect would be created by anything which
might be interpreted as official recognition"269. He was later informed
that the Faris Conference had decided that "Allied governments should
have no relations at present with the Bolshevik government"27o.

The Cabinet approved a "formal and strongly-worded protest" signed
by the military representatives of Britain, France, Italy, Roumania and
Japan to General Dukhunin, the Bolshevik Commander in Chief, warning
against any infraction of the Russian treaty obligations towards the
Alliesz7l.. But Knox reported that "quite apart from the action of the
government authorities, the Russian troops at the front were insisting
upon an armistice"; it was "quite clear that whatever happened politically
in Russia, the bulk of the Russian army refused to continue the war".
The Military Attache in Petrograd, . surmising that the Bolsheviks would
remain in power "some weeks if not months", gave as his opinion that it
was "useless to try to hold any Russian Governments to strict fulfilment
of obligations which nine-tenths of the people repudiate, because no
government can collect the force to carry out a policy in opposition to
(the) will of the vast majority of the people". A separate peace or not,
Germany could hope for very few supplies from Russiaj; it would be"almost
impossible" for Russia and Germany to agree upon terms; and even if an
agreement for a separate peace were concluded, "we would lose no more than
we have lost already". The "first thing", he added, was to "prove to (the
Russian people) that they are not required as cannon fodder by Allied
Imperialists"272.

On 29 November a further liote was received from Trotsky asking
if Allied governments would take part in discussions with a view %o
concluding a "democratic peace without annexations or indemnities with
the right of every nation to decide its own destiny". The discussions
would begin on 2 December273. Balfour's reply, to what he termed the
"present Provisional Government", was to declare that the prdposal was
"contrary to Russia's treaty with her Allies" and to "deeper principles
accepted to the full by the Provisional Government itself". The "very
worst way" of obtaining peace - which, "speaking broadly", was accepted
by the British government also - was the method adopted, which could result
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only in a "German and Imperialistic™ settlement Trotsky protested in

vain that "all the steps we have taken go to show that we are striving
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for a general and not a separate armistice.."
The Cabinet considered the latest communications from its representatives
in Russia on 29 November. Cecil urged a decision at the earliest possible
moment. If Kaledin and the Cossacks could be united against Germany,
supplies would thereby be prevented from reaching the enemy. There was,
he thought, ™o evidence to show that the Bolsheviks have anything like
general support throughout Russia: there was reason for thinking that the
peasants were against the Bolsheviks". Kaledin was the one man with an
organized force, and as the chief of the Cossacks had great prestige. Cecil
recommended that a military envoy be attached to his staff, and that up
to ten million pounds be placed at his disposal. "Some members" of the
Cabinet, however, found objections to entering into active co-operation
with Kaledin without further information. There were, moreover, "signs
that the Cossacks were not prepared to fight". The scheme's only result
might be to drive the Russian government definitely into the arms of Germany,
at a time when the German peace terms, which were shortly to be announced,
might have the opposite effect. The Cabinet was "divided in opinion",
as the Prime linister, Balfour and Milner, then conferring in Paris,
were informed276.
Following the Faris Conference, recognition was definitely ruled
out, and efforts were made to discourage neutral governments (notably
the Swiss and the Swedish governments) from doing so. The supplies of food
and clothing (but not munitions), which the Cabinet had decided to continue
to send to Russia to encourage friendly feelings towards the Allies, were

a2T7

discontinue e Their dilemma, however, remained no nearer solution.

The Bolsheviks had entered into separate peace negotiations with the enemy,
and had begun to issue manifestoes composed, as Carson complained, "chiefly"
of "Bolshevik propaganda". Some, he pointed out, were "appeals to the
people as against their governments, and were in many respects of a

violent character". At the same time the Soviet representatives might

yet be compelled to break off their negotiations with the German
representatives, especially if the Allies refrained from hostile action
which might force them together. Again, as Buchanan urged, they could

not afford to boycott the Bolsheviks altogether if they were to attempt to
safeguard their "many interests" in the country, and to "try to prevent them

throwing in their lot entirely with the Germans". They were, he thought,



50

likely to be the "ruling factor for some time to come"; and should their
position, as he thought probable, be legitimized by the Constituent
Assembly, some form of personal relations would be necessary. In general,
however, he took a "very gloomy view of the outlook, more especially as
regards the safety of our subjects and protection of British capital
invested in banks, mines and factories"278.

On 3 December the matter moved closer to a resolution, with the
decision of the Cabinet to subsidize, within reason, the Russian army in
the Caucasus, which (according to Nabokov) remained loyal to the
Provisional Government. DMoreover, in view of the need of making a
"tremendous effort to maintain Southern Russia on the Allied side",
financial assistance was approved to the Cossacks and the Ukranians.
Buchanan was to be informed that the policy of the British government was
to "support any responsible body in Russia that would actively oppose the
Maximalist movement", an instruction which at least avoided equivocation,
while affirming at the same time that it was government policy to "give
money freely, within reason, to such bodies as were prepared to help the
Allied cause"279.

Buchanan was accordingly informed of the Cabinet's decision to
"strengthen by every means in our power those elements who are generally
friendly to the Entente of whom the chief are Kaledin, Alexeiff and their
group. Any coalition of Bolsheviks with Social-Revolutionaries or even
Mensheviks would be no real improvement; it would be under Bolshevik
influence and would besides consist of talkers and theorists". A
"southern block" of the Caucasus, the Cossacks and the Ukraine might
however be set up with a reasonably stable government, and "through its
command of o0il, coal and corn (would) control the whole of Russia".
Buchanan was authorized directly or "through such ggents as you select" to
implement this policy. '"No regard should be had to expense" and he should
furnish to the Cossacks and Ukrainians "any funds necessary by any means you
think desirable". Similar instructions were sent to Jassy and Teheranzeo.
Buchanan's reply noted, however, that the forces at Kaledin's and
Alexieff's disposal were "not sufficient to enable them to engage in any
serious enterprise"zel.

Plans for the commitment of British forces began to emerge at the

same time. If "some old battleships with some marines" were sent to
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Archangel, it would form a "place of refuge.. for British residents in
Russia, a2a a door for communications with that country in the future,
ande.. it would have a2 good effect from a propaganda point of viewY
Equaldy, following discussions zt the Inter-Allied Conversations in
Paris, proposals were examined for the occupation of Vladivostok #ith
a view to the control of the Siberian Rzilways by American or Japanese ,
forces, for police purposes, for the protection of military stores there,
and later, if necessary, to obtain control of the Trans-Siberian Railway |
and open up communications with South Russia. The seizure of Vladivostok
was, however, open to the familiar objection that it might "do more

harm than good, by strengthening Russian opposition to the Allies even
amongst the most friendly sections of the population'", and might even
Jeopardize the lives of the British Ambassador and other British subjects
in Russia*. There was a real danger than Russia '"might not only make |
peace with Germany, but algo might be provoked by us into fighting with
the Germans against us'". At the same time an "ambiguous and uncertain
policy towards the Bolshevik government" was '"also fraught with serious
disadvantages". Enquities were to be made in Washington and Tokyo whéhher
conditions were thought favourable for the despatch of a police force

to VladivostokZO2,

The Cabinet was told on 6 December that the "many questions arising
out of the state of affairs in Russia would be easier if the policy of
the Allies was more clearly defined". For the time being, however, all
that was decided was for "suitable financial help" to be granted to the
Armenians. It was reported that British armoured cars, officers and men
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were already in Southern Russis o A fuller discussion followed some
days later on the basis of a memorandum submitted by Balfour, with the
Prime Minister in attendance. It was made clear thst the government was
"not primarily or specizlly concerned with the composition of the Russian
government, or with the local aspirations of the Bolsheviks ", describes
by Balfour as "dangerous dreamers' with "wild theories", or other
political pamties, except insofar am they bore on their attitude to the
conflict with the Cenfral Powers. British aims should be to keep Russia
in the war; or if this were not possible, to "ensure that Russia was as
Hélpful to us and as harmful to the enemyﬁs possible"., It seemed likely

that the Bodsheviks and their 'crazy system' would be able to maintain an
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ascendancy for the few months following only; but these months were
nevertheless crucimal, and to antagonize them needlessly would "throw them
into the arms of Germagw. It was also expected that the Constituent
Assembly would shortly endorse the new regime. There appeared to be a
change on the part of the Bolsheviks of late, moreover; the attacks upon
the Allies in the officizl press had ceased, and the Bolshevik Commander
in Chief, Krilenko, was reputed to be insisting upon the inclusion in the
agreement with the @ermans of a clause forbidding troop transfers from
one front to another. The Cabinet "without making any change in their
recent policy towards Russia'", decided to accept Buchanan's proposal
covering the ptsition of British subjects in Russia and to end the
imprisonment in Britain of two Soviet representatives, Chicherin and
Petrov, and to allow their return to Russia, where '"judged by local
standards", thought Balfour, their opinions would "probably appear sane
and moderate"agu.

Buchanan boldly declared in an interview published in the Soviet
press that there was no truth in the reports that Britain was '"contemplat-
ing any coercive or punitive measures in the event of the Russians making

285.

a separate peace" Meanwhile the H.M.S. Iphigenia was directed from
Archangel to Murmansk, a more defensible site; and Lord Robert Cecil tpta
the Cabinet that in his opinion the "best pikan was to continue the present
policy of rallying to the Allies, and assisting all those elements in
Southern Russia that wédre resisting the Boisheviks" (while he admitted that
there was a '""danger, if care were not taken, of support being given to
different separate organizations which had varying, if not actually hostile
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Vviews" ). The "vague nature" of Britisgh policy towards developments in
Russiqﬁistressed him, and he called for "some definite policy" to be
established287
of Southern Russia into British and French spheres of IRYXXHXKEE activity",
which he had specified. The forces in the South, Cecil thought, had a

reasonable chance of success were the govarnment to support them; whereas

. The French Ambassador had suggestedko him a "delimitation

"we could hope for mothing from Trotsky, who was a Jew of the international
type". The Cabinet still refused to come to a decision on Cecil's question.
There was, it was thought, a "danger that by backing a losing horse in
South Russia, we were destroying any hope of preventing the Germans
appearing in Petrograd as the friends and helpers of an all-powerful
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Bolshevik government", Moreover, it was necessary to take a long view, for
"that Power which assisted the fgture Russian government in the reconstruct-
jon of the country would have the whole of Russia's resources at her
command".288 Cecil, Milner and Macdonough subsequently left for a

conferehce with Clemenceau, which took place on 23 December. The memorandym
there agreed upon was endorsed by the Cabinet on 26 December289. With its

_adoption, intervention had developed from a response into a policy.

The situation remained, of course, a complicated and changing one; and to
the extent to which the Bolshevik government occupied only a part, and not
even the most important part economically, of Russia, for what was expected
to be a matter at most of a few months, it would be too much to hold that
the sgreement in Paris was nothing more than an 'anti-Bolshevik charter'.
Yet despite Cecil 's assertion that "it was not a question of spheres of
influence", it would be difficult to find a more accurate description of

t290. It did, moreover, coincide with the

the provisions of the agreemen
actual course of events £nd the roles played in Russian events by both

powers;aht it formed, evidently, a considered statement of policy to the
extent of being subsequently reviewed and its extension proposed by the

291. The choice of respective areas of influence was, too, rather

Cabinet
more than accidental: as a recent study had pointed out, "British investment
was heaviest in the Caucasian oilfields, French in the coal and iron mines
of the Ukraine"®72,

At the meeting Milner explained the mission of the British delegates
as one of discussion of the situation in Russia with the French government,
with regard particularly to the question of "providing help for the various
Provisional Governments that showed signs of opposing the Bolsheviki". Cecil
added that the situation in Russia was "very critical". The Allies must be
quite clear in their own minds as to what they intended to do, lest they
should merely ahtagonize the Bolsheviks without succeeding in establishing
effective centres of resistance to Germany in the South. It was agreed that
resistance in the Ukraine must be supported; while Clemenceau felt that they
should keep contact with the Bolsheviks for as long as was possible, since
they were in power at least "for the moment'", making "such concessions as
were~reasonab1e and possible". The French Ambassador had proposed a '"division
of activity, that Fhence should look after Rhwmania and the Ukraine, and
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Great Britain after the rest of South-East Russia", which had been accepted
by the British government. It was agreed to continue to support the
Ukraine, even if Trotsky declared that this was civil war and sided with
Germany.

The memorandum itself proposed that at Petrograd the powers should get
in toucn with the Bolsheviks through unofficial agents. Buchanan should go
on leave, his long resicdence in FPetrograd having "indelibly associated him,
in the minds of the Bolsheviki, with the policy of the Cadets". The
Bolsheviks were to be informed that the Allies had no desire to take part
in any way in the internal politics of Russia, and that any idea that they
favoured a counter-revolution was a "profound mistake". The Allies at the
same time felt it necessary to keep in touch "as far as we can with the
Ukraine, the Cossacks, Finland, Siberia, the Caucasus etc.". The dangers
implicit in the German terms were to be pointed out, and those of allowing
Russian artillery and wheat reserves to pass into German hands.

The Allies, it was noted, would thus require money to "reorganize
the Ukraine, to pay the Cossacks and Caucasian forces and to bribe the
Persians". The sums required were "not, as things go, very enormous". If
the French could undertake the finance of the Ukraine, the British government
woukd find the money for the others. Also necessary were "agents and
officers to advise and support the provisional Governments and their armies".
It was essential that this should be done "as quietly as possible" so as
to "avoid the imputation - as far as we can - that we are preparing to
make war on the Bolsheviki". The Ukraine should again, in these matters,
be dealt with by the French, while the British would attend to the other
South-Eastern provinces. A general officer from each country should be
appointed to take charge of each country's activities, but they "would of
course keep in the closest touch with one another...in order to ensure the
utmost unity of action..". A Convention was drawn up, additional to the
agreement, by Foch and Macdonough, concerning the spheres of French and

British activity in South Russia'293.

Measures were already in hand to secure an unofficial representative to
be sent to Petrograd. Robert Bruce Lockhart, previously Vice~Consul at
Moscow, was called to Downing Street on 21 December 1917 for a discussion.?%4
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Lloyd George wal clearly impressed with his talents; and his despatches
from Moscow throughout £he year had been unususally well-informed and
prescient. In a communication of 1 ie!ember (which did not, however, reach
London until 28 November, when it was initialled "out of date"), he had
reported that "considerable anxiety" was felt by the Moscow people in view
of "constant rumours of a projected Bolshevik rising to place the Government
of the country in the hands of the Councils of Workmen's and Soldiers!
Deputies.. Serious disturbances may be avoided at Moscow, but it is imposs-
ible to say what the future holds for us"295. Nor could he at this time
share the general belief, he recorded, stimulated by the opinion of '"nearly
all the Russian experts in London, that the Lenin regime could not last
more than a few weeks and that then Russia would revert to Tsarism or a
military dictatorship", or the "firmly-rooted conviction that Lenin and
Trotsky were German staff officers in disguise or at least servile agents
of German policy"296.

The opportunity to send him to Russia was found in the
appointment of Litvinov as Soviet Counsul in England on 4 January 1918.
On 5 January Litvinov wrote to Balfour, informing him of his position and
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seeking a meeting with him . He received a polite note some days later
from the Foreign Office, informing him that since the Soviet government
was officially not recognized by Britain he could not be received by
Balfour himself, but that he wished to maintain contact with him,and had
nominated an agent for this purpose, Mr Rex Leeper, through whom Balfour
could be imformed of matters which required his decision. Lockhart swiftly
got in touch with Litvinov, and a meeting was held in a London cafe, at X
which it was agreed that although no official relationskxisted, Létginov
9, Lit-

vihnov wrote a note for Lockhart to serve as an introduction to the Soviet

in London and Lochhart in Russia would have diplomatic privileges

Foreign Ministry. On 7 January the Cabinet was informed that Lockhart wag

proceeding to Petrograd as an unofficial means of contact with the

Bolsheviks299. On 14 January he left Britain on his way to Soviet RussiaBOo.

He was, he wrote, "head of a special mission to establish unofficial

relations with the Bolsheviks"; his instructions were '"of the Vaguest"BOI.
Litvinov's position in Britain presented, however, a number

of difficulties. His demand t%be entrusted with thekunds and records of the

Russian Embassy was refused: Cecil was '"strongly opposed to the idea, as



56

the funds of the Embassy would probably be spent by M. Litvinov on

spreading Bolshevik propaganda"BOZ. Litvinov, certainly, was not inactive.

He addressed an appeal "to the workers of Great Britain", informing them
that Russian workers were '"not only fighting their own battles, they are
fighting your battles too, and they will succumb unless the workers in

“303. He appointed the
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other countries come speedily to their help
Scottish socialist John Maclean as Soviet Consul for Scotland.
addressed the Labour Party Conference at Nottingham in January 1918, and a
pamphlet of his was issued in AprilBoS.

The Cabinet, seriously embarrassed already by the developing
'pacifist' movement, considered his conduct on 15 January, and noted that
the propaganda he had conducted involved breaches of the Defence of the
Realm regulations. It was agreed that "this Bolshevik agitation would
have a bad effect on the people of Great Britain in general". Sir George
Cave assured the Cabinet that in the past he had deported men for less
objectionable propaganda than that under consideration. As Balfour pointed
out, however, if he were deported it would be impossible to maintain the
contacts which had been established with the Bolsheviks in Petrograd, where
the situation was currently “extremely critical"306. Shortly afterwards,
following his appearance at the Labour Party Conference, the Cabinet was
told that it was evident that his presence had been "exploited in the
interests of pacifism", and his position was again discussed507. It was
agreed, however, that he must be dealt with-in accordance with the
government's general policy towards the Bolsheviks. To drive him out would
be "tantamount to a declaration of war against the Bolsheviks", which would
force them to side with the Germans, and prejudice the position of British
nationals who still remained in Russia.

It was later added, in connection with Litvinov's efforts to
secure exemptions from military service, that he would "undoubtedly exempt
all the East End Jews if he could", who were prospering in existing
conditions through supplanting English tradersBoe. It was agreed that he
should be reprimanded, however, for an article in the "Woolwich Pioneer",
which had been authored by him in his official capacity, and had, it was
vonsidered, incited the Woolwich munitions workers to revolution; and also
for efforts which he was reported to have made to "tamper with the discipline

of British troops". A visit which Petrov had requested to be allowed
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to make to Britain was refused, in view of the opinion of the Counter
Espionage Department that it would be a "grave danger to allow (him) to
return to this country". A visit by Kamenev had already been approved, but
it was agreed that he should be kept under close observation309. This led
to the opening and examination of his baggage on arrival, and to the
confiscation, as MacDonald reported to the House of Commons, of such
incriminating evidence as a BibleBlo.

This led to Litvinov adopting what was described as a '"quieter
tone"Bll; but discussion was still required of the measures which should
be undertaken by the government to put a stop to his activities, which
included "attempts to undermine the discipline of Russian Jews serving in
the British and Canadian forces, the formation of an Information Bureau
in the East &nd of London for the dissemination of Bolshevik propaganda,
the formation of Red Guards in London". A Communist Club in Soho had been
raided the previous day, where a "meeting of Kussian revolutionaries" had
been taking place. Litvinov had not been present, but was a member of the
Club. An Order in Council was approved, enabling the Secretary of State
to prohibit any alien from addressing meetings or engaging in propaganda.

Meanwhile in Russia Lockhart was making "little progress"; and indeed
he recalled that "most of (his) telegrams to London remained unanswered"Blz.
His position was indeed a difficult one: any serious attempt to
secure Russian re-entry into the war would depend upon Allied
~military assistance; but the Cabinet in London at no time appeared ready
to consider such support. Indeed, the opinion was expressed that Trotsky's
motive in wishing to establish contact with the Allies was to find a
means of "extricating himself from his difficulties", which were
regarded as a necessary consequence of Bolshevik policies. Another view
was that he was "endeavouring to get the Socialist parties of the different
countries into a conference in order to extend the scope of his fanatical
attacks upon the existing order of civilization"BlB. Lockhart did not
share the optimism of the military experits about the 'loyal Russians and
about the restoration of the Eastern Frent', which he found was not a
major preoccupation in Russia; the aim, rather, of the 'loyal Russians’
(who were, in effect, the bourgeoisie) was to secure the restoration of

their property through British military intervention, or if necessary
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German. He received no reply to his proposal that support be offered to
the Bolshevik authoritiesal42

At the same time, intervention plans continued to crystallize.
Intervention was declared to be a form of 'assistance' to the Bolsheviks
which should preferably be rendered with their agreement; but, it became
increasingly apparent, it would if necessary be rendered regardless of or
even despite Bolshevik wishes. Buchanan drew the attention of the
government to the "present anomalous situation" which could not, he was
convinced, be indefinitely prolonged; nor, indeed, was it "in keeping with
traditions of British diplomacy for (an) Ambassador to proclaim (the)
strict neutral attitude of his government when (the) latter is actively
supporting one of the parties in it"315. Balfour acknowledged that from
a purely Foreign Office point of view, there would be great advantages in
cutting off all relations with the Bolsheviks. They had broken treaty
obligations, repudiated debts and were "openly trying to raise revolutions
in all countries"Bls. On the other hand, there were "great interests in
Northern Russia" to be safeguarded, and a number of British subjects in
Russia whose position had to be considered. It was therefore necessary, he
considered, that communications of a practical kind should take place
through agents. He was, moreover, "quite clear that we could not give full
recognition to the Bolsheviks until they could show that they were
representative of the Russian people".

There remained other, and perhaps more substantial objections. The
Bolsheviks, Balfour explained, appeared to be determined to spread what he
described as ‘'pacifist propaganda' in Britain, and in Germany. Trotsky
was less, he thought, a German agent than a "genuine fanatic bent on
spreading the doctrines of revolution throughout the world, but particularly
in the two countries which he regarded as Imperialistic, viz England and
Germany". Such propaganda was in Britain "dangerous and attractive to those
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Besides, to establish closer relations with the Bolsheviks would

who had nothing to los

be "clearly incompatible with the modest degree of recognition and
support which we had been, or were giving, to the Ukraine and Don Cossacks".
Cecil added that even to increase the powers of Lockhart to facilitate

dealings with the Bolshevik government, as Buchanan had recommended, might

"discourage what remained of the anti-Bolshevik elements" and might also
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“"prove helpful in the spread of Bolshevik propaganda in this country, as
*also in France and Italy". In Italy, he declared, the danger of the spre-
ad of Bolshevik propaganda was '"serious"., Lloyd George added that the
Bolsheviks represented a '"formidable menace to Austria and German¥'", and
that whet information theay had available regaging the internal conditions
of Austria suggested that the authorities there were 'seriously embarrass-
ed by the spread of Bolshevism". It was agreead that any recognition of

the Bolsheviks would assist in&he spread of their propaganda in Britaié}8
There was, Lloyd George recalled, a 'genuine fear that recognition would
involve admitting into Allied countries a swarm of Bolshevik intriguers

to foment revolution"Blg. British relations with Soviet Russia were
becoming, evidently, to &n increasing extent the product of the Cabinet's
estimate of the state of labour unrest in Britain, and indeed elsewhere

in Europe. British relations with Russiaz had acquired a political dimension
which differentiated those relations from British relations with other
countries; and had come to involve issues the gravity of which might often

seem to exceed those involvedﬁn the struggle with the Central Powers.

Plans for action in Siberia were foundering, meanwhile, on American
objections. The American Secretary of State, it was reported from
Washington, hoped that it would not be necessary to take any action.
Japanese, and even more American interveastion would, he thought, provide
German anti-Ally propaganda with a '"powerful weapon"32 O. An interiiew
with the Japanese Ambassador, on the other hand, led to the conclusion that
the Japanese intended to land a force "if they can get a reasonable excuse
for doing so"; and while American or British participation might be
allowed, they intended to keep control of the operation in their own
hands. The Ambassador had remarked cryptically that Japan had 'great
interests in that part of the world'"; but no decision had, he thought,
been takdn with regard to f’hterventioéal. The Cabinet ordered the H.M.S.
Suffolk to proceed to Vliadivostok, with instructions to act with the
Japanese and report on the situation. Cecil believed that the Japanese
"ultimately intended to seize Vladivostok, but that they would not do so
at present"322. The Americans remained the most appropriate Allied power
to<§articipate in a Siberian intervention, in order both to ensure that
military action met Allied objectives as closely as possible, and not
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least an appearance of joint Allied action for the sake of Russian
opinion. The Cabinet was told, however, in February that apart from
"jealousy and suspicion of Japanese enterprises'", the Americans considered
the Japanese the "worst possible agents of the Allies in Russia"BaB.

The protection of the military stores at Vladivostok (635,000
tons of rzilway materials, nitrates and barbed wire, =nd "other valuable
supplies", the Csbinet was told)was necessary because unless safeguarded,
they "might very probably fgll into the hands of the enemy". General
Richardson felt that a force should be sent, necessarily Japanese or
Americzan, but preferably both; and it should "for clhoice.. not be solely
Japanese, as in this case the Russians as w"hole, not merely the
Bolshevists, would be opoosed to this step'". It would also be desirable to
send a few Chinese and British troops to '"show the flag"324.

It appeared, however, that thec Japanese might be content with
a limited occupation of the Eastern portions of Siberia, and might“prove
unwilling to effect out main object, namely, the opening up of communicat-
ions with South-Eastern Russia by securing control of the whole of the
Siberian railway from Vladivostok to the Cossack country". Curzon emphasiz-
ed theX danger that the Japanese might be content with the "ddmination
of Eagtern Siberia onlyﬁ and might be "unwilling to entertain the main
proposition'. A Jzpanese occupztion would probably rusult also, Cecil
warned, in th%rdomination o¥er the whole of Asia; and the Government of
India was not in favour of Japanese action, since it would "enormously
enhance the prestige of Asiatics as against Europeans, and would consider-
zbly react upon the attitude of Indians towards the British"Bas.

The main difficulty remained the securing of American partic-
ipation. The introduction of the Japanese, Balfour noted, would "probably
involve war with the Bolshevik government'", and this they must be prepared
to face. Lloyd George added that Bolshevism was a "growing menace to all
the civilized countries of the world". Bolshevik doctrines were beginning
to spread in Britain, they had undoubtedly spread in Austria, and there
was reason to believe that they were at work in Germany. Russia, he declared,
was a "plague house". It was agreed that the Japanese should be urged to
seize control of the Trans-Siberian railway as far as Cheliabinsk, and that
telegrams should be sent to Washington and Paris explaining the decision
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reached, and seeking support326.

The withdrawal of British diplomatic personnel was effected on
28 February 1918327. Lockhart remained: the peace terms had not yet been
signed, the peace with Germany might be of short duration, and contacts had
to be maintained. He remained convinced, as he recalled, that the Bolsheviks'
internal strength was greater than was generally realized, and that
there was no other power in Russia which was capable of replacing them.
"This, indeed, was the fundamental difference between Whitehall and
myself"328. A landing in Vladivostok would, he wrote, destroy all
possibility of an understanding with the Bolsheviks; and common sense
would seem to indicate that as a measure for reconstructing the Eastern
front against Germany it was 1udicrous§29. Lloyd George later conceded
that it was "admittedly difficult to foresee any very large positive result
that might be achieved thereby"32o.

In the absence of Allied assistance on acceptable terms, the Brest-
Litovsk treaty was signed on 3 March 1918, and ratified by the Fourth Special
Congress of Soviets. An Allied Conference on 16 March condemned this "final
betrayal". A declaration drafted by Clemenceau was issued two days later,
which concluded with a repudiation of the treaty: "peace treaties such as
these we do not, and cannot acknowledge"BBl. Events now moved swiftly
towards their conclusion. Although Lockhart was subsequently urged to "do
(his) utmost to scure Bolshevik consent to an Allied military intervention
in Russia", the possibility of the conclusion of such an agreement had
largely passed.332 The Cabinet, meanwhile,was already examining the
proposal to land a force at Murmansk in order, it was stated, to protect

333,

military stores there ; and efforts to secure American approval for

action at Vladivostok were not relaxed.

Lockhart informed the Cabinet on 13 April that Trotsky wished the Allied
governments to submit to him, at the earliest opportunity, a full and proper
statement of the assistance which they could furnish in order to enable
Russia to continue the war against Germany, and of guarantees which the
Allies were prepared to give in this direction334. Trotsky had added that

if the conditions were friendly, an agreement was "both necessary and
desirable". A further communication contained definite terms of intervention
along the lines of Trotsky's proposal, as formulated by the Allied military

representatives. This led only, however, to a renewed appeal to President
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Wilson, quoting this new evidence which suggested that Bolshevik approval
335

might be forthcoming for Allied action Lockhart was sent a copy of
this appeal, and a message from Balfour to the effect that the terms
forwarded as a basis for Allied action "may well serve as a basis for
discussion".

On 22 April the Cabinet considered it desirable that an emissary,
perhaps General Smuts, should be sent to Russia to giscuss with Trotsky
33

the "organization of Russia for military purpose . PFour days later,

however, it was decided that the gquestion should "stand over" until a reply

had been received from President Wilson on the proposals for Allied action537.
The following month the question arose again. Lloyd George argued

that it was "very desirable that a nucleus of Allied troops should be sent

to Russia, so that M. Trotski might feel that he had some force behind him".

It was military advice, however, that no troops could for the present be

diverted in this way338. The opinion was subsequently expressed in the

Cabinet that an "overdue weight had been placed, in our recent correspondence,

on the desirability of an invitation for intervention from the Bolshevik

Government“339. As Cecil expressed it in a memorandum, "we should prefer

to see the acquiescence of the Soviet government in any action we might

take, but we do not regard this as absolutely essentia1"340. Lockhart, he

considered, should inform the Soviet government that "we regard ourselves

as free to take any steps that seem to us desirable to prevent the further

establishment of German influence in any part of Russia". It is difficult,

in fact, to believe that the Cabinet, with the possible exception of Lloyd

George, who insisted that there was "something to hope from Trotsky and

the Bolsheviks"341, regarded co-operation with the Bolshevik government

as possible, even it it were desirable. Lockhart's attempts to reach an

agreement with Trotsky simply led, for instance, Curzon to conclude that he

was "with Trotsky", and Milner to state that he did "not keep our end up

with Trotsky"342.

In fact Lockhart, while originally opposed to intervention (without, at
least, Bolshevik approval), rapidly changed his ground. He urged, certainly,
that intervention should be carried out, if at all, with adequate forces;
and he later wrote that "to have intervened with hopelessly inadequate
forces was an example of spineless half-measures which in the circumstances
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amognted to a crime"343. His statement that "to have intervened at all

was a mistake'", however, does not accord with his communications from
Russia at hhe tiég? His telegrams from May onwards urged intervention as
swiftly as possible, and reported the positidn of the Bolshevik government
to be so weak and declining as to leave little room for surprise that the
forces which were despatched to Russia were found to be insugficient.

The only alternative, he argued, to an agreement with the
Bolsheviks was Allied intervention '"on a large scale preferably with the
consent of the Russian government, but if not without it", which should
be prepared secretidy and launched at the "first favourable moment in
the political situation here"3u5. It would bd "foolish", he added, to
"hope for too much from the Russians themselves'". As for the Bolsheviks,
the concealment of British intentions would "render any opposition thay
might offer ineffectual'. Their power was diminishing and a countér-
revolution, he feltéhgight "easily be successful', although not without

Allied intervention . The consent to this of the Bolsheviks was ''more
than doubtful" but this was now, he argued, a question of secondary
importance, for the Allies would '"never have (a) more favourable moment
for intervention than the present", and their intervention, he suggested,
would "cause (the) downfall of (the) Bolsheviks"347. These impressions
were confirmed in a conversation with Chicherin and Karakhan., The power
of the Bolsheviks, he told London, was ''decreasing daily"348.

In June he reported that the Bolsheviks were "almost at the end
of their power". Their attempts to create an army had failed, and they
were not even in a position to deal with the Czechs, who Whee then
collecting in Siberia”*?. Two days later he added that the Bolsheviks
were in a "desperate situation.. Discontent grows daily". Radek's wife
was reported to have fled to Switzerland; and where the Czechs were in
force they were '"completely masters of the situation"55o.

His new-found enthusiasm and urgency were not, it appeared,
matched in London; but this was not, Balfour reassured him, because his
work was unapprecizted, or because he had "in any way lost the confidence
of H.M.G.", who understood the '"peculiar difficulties" of his position,
The changing and contradictory character of his advice found its explanat-
ion in the "comstantly changing aspects of the present transitional period
of Russian history". Balfour was doubtful, however, whether Lockhart

i
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"equally (apprehended) the difficulties as seen from the gide of tj@
Allies". The delay was the consequence of the fsct that the Allies "did

not all decide the same way.. Without the participation of America nothing
effective can be accomplished through Siberia, znd the active parti€ipation
of America has so far been refused". What was lacking was '"not decision

351

but agreement"

Despite such considerations as the "personal repugnance" felt by a
British representative in Russia in regard to the "occupation, even
temporary, of a Christian country by non-Christian troops", the Cabinet
had been in favour of Allied-Japanese intervention from at least the
beginning o# the year (in Lloyd George's view, the essential decision

had been taken on 24 January352X,since when the policy of the British
government had been '"steadily in favour of intervention"). The Japanese,
however, demanded American moral and material support; and this President
Wilson refused to sanction. (The American government had indicated on

4 March that while unwilling themselves to take part in a joint intervent-
ion, they would not object to the British and French governments doing

so. Four days later, however, it was learned that they had decided

against intervention in any form, and were informing the Japznese govern-
ment accordingly353) Following discussion at the Inter-Allied Conference
in London on 15 March the expediency of intervention was urged upon

the President by the British Ambassador; but Wilson had decided that a
safficient case had not been made by the military authoritiesBsh. Further
entreaties by Allied military representatives were made later in the
month; and an overture was made by the Cabinet, following Trotsky's
request for a precide statement of the proposed nature of Allied interven-
tion555. President Wilson had promised to reconsider the whole question,
in consultation with the Japanese Foreign Minister, who was then in
America356. On 7 May, howéver,Lord Reading was informed that the President |
was convinced that the moment was not opportune or that a sufficient
military advantage would be gained, and could not thereford at present
endorse the British proposqlss56. In an interview with him later in the
month, Reading found Wilson "quite decided in opinion that (the) mdment
was inopportune", since according to his military advisers no military
advantage would by gained by intervention, and the proposed operations
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would be resented by the Russians357.

Wilson's diffidence was decribed by a Foreign Office memorandum
to his "sincere belief thot his reputation as a prince of peace will be
jeopardized if he mixes himself up with a policy which he believes will
end in annexations and interference with the domestic concerns of Russia'",
It was also worthy of note that in the American elections which were due to
be held in the following November, an alliance with Japan would be an
EXEEXEXHX liability, especially in the important state of California, a
circumstance which Balfour believed '"exercised not a small influence on
his judgement"358. The British government had consequently "exhausted the
vocabialary in urging the U.S. Government to consent to intervention, but
without success"359.

In fairness to Wilson, he was not alone in finding it difficult
to associate military action in Vladivostok with military fortunes on the
Western Front. Both Lloyd George and Lockhart, it has been noted, treated
this thesis with some scepticism. In the House of Commons, H.B. Lees-Smith
intorddced Xa debate on the possibility, which Lord Robert Cecil had
welcomed in the press, of Japanese action in Siberda. As regarded the
question of the arms at Vladivostok, Lees-Smith noted that there was no
evidence that the Russian government had "expressed any wnwillingness to
return them",and the Japanese themselves had "refrained from asking that
they should be teturned", and therefore, he said, he could '"'not see that
those arms and ammunition by themselves constitute any ground for a
declaration of war". There was no evidence at all of the organization of
German prisoners of war in eastern Siberia; and there was in fact "no
evidence at all that the German government intended to play into our hands
and dissipate their forces by the mad enterprise of an expedition into
Siberia'". Balfour condeded that he "did not for a moment believe" that
Germany was going to attempt to send a great organized military force from
Riga to Vladivostok. He agreed that it would be an operation of "very great
difficulty, and certainly, from a purely military point of view, would be
a very great, unnecessary, and even fatal waste of power"360.

Even were the Japanese persuaded to act, however, their objectiv-
es were by no means bound to coincide with those that the Allies had in
mind for her. Lord Robert Cecil stressed, in a conversation with the
Japanese Ambassador on 22 May, that the Japanese should intervend& "not for
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the purpose of obtaining any territorial advantage, but in order to

assist Russia and the Allied cause generally", and that they should be
willing to "push their expedition as far west as Cheliabinsk, or somewhere
in that neighbourhood". The Ambassador commented that this was an "entirely
new idea", and that a more limited action had been contemplated36l. A
decision of the Supreme War Council at Versailles on 3 June was forwarded

to the Japanese Ambassador by Balfour. Several conditions were specified

on the basis of which, it was hoped, Japan might agree to take action,

and which might thenmceive the "assent and co-operation" of the American
government, "without which it is evident that the whole policy must prove
abortive". The conditions, specified "in order to make Allied intervention
in Siberia acceptable to the Russian people and to public opinion in the
three Allied countries and in America", required respect for the territorial
integrity of Russia, a declaration of non-interference in Russian domestic
politics, and an advance "as far West as possible, with the avowed object

of meeting and defeating German influences"362.

The Japanese government's reply expressed a willingness to co-ordinate
their policy "as far as possible" with that of the Allied governments in
Siberia. Since their attitude depended on the question of American
assistance, no decision could be taken before a "complete understanding"
was reached between the three Powers and the American government. With
regard to the conditions, the first and second were "quite acceptable",
but while in "full sympathy" with the third condition, of crucial importance
for the British government, they regretted that it would be "impossible
for them to engage to extend westward the sphere of their military
activities beyond the limits of Eastern Siberia in view of the grave
difficulties with which such operations (would) be practically confronted".
Nor was any reassurance afforded by their concern that "supreme command of
the whole international contingents in Siberia" be placed in their hand8363.
If, then, American assistance were eventually forthcoming, Japanese action
might be induced: but not necessarily, or even probably, on a scale and of
a nature sufficient to secure the objectives of the British and Allied

governments.

In the circumstances it was not surprising that the Cabinet should
sympathize with Milner's view that the "hesitation of the U.S. ought
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not to be able to block the whole policy"364. The discovery of a large

force - 45,000, or two good divisions - of Czech troops in Russia was
therefore most opportune. The suggestion was made that it "would be advisable
that these troops should be used for an Allied expedition from Siberia”365.
On 13 May, on the basis of a Note by General Smuts, the Cabinet discussed
"steps which could be taken to organize military resistance to the enemy

in Russia while the correspondence with America and Japan in reference to
intervention was proceeding". The Czech troops at Vliadivostok or en route
"should be taken charge of there and be organized into efficient units by
the French Government", which should be asked that "pending their eventual
transport to France, they might be used to stiffen the Japanese as part of
an Allied force of intervention in Russia". The remainder of the forces
should be collected at Archangel and "used to hold those places and to take
part in any Allied intervention in Russia"366.

The trouble was, however, that the French wanted the forces in France,
while the Czechs themselves would fight Germans, but not Russian intermal
batt1e8367. They still offered the possibility of Siberian intervention
without either American or Japanese involvement; while the chances were,
as Cecil pointed out, that "the rest of the Allies would soon conform".
French approval was obtained at the beginning of June for the use of Czech
forces in Russia not in France568.

The position of the Czech forces was enough to overcome President
Wilson's remaining scruples. Lord Reading reported that he was likely
to declare against armed intervention, but in favour of a civilian
economic Mission to Siberia for relief and to assist Russians in organizing
railways and food supplie8369. The government welcomed the proposal, but
considered that without an expeditionary force it would "lack the material
backing without which it cannot be expected to prove really successful”37o.
The views of the Supreme War Council were that what was termed "Allied
armed assistance to Russia™ was an "urgent and imperative necessity".

There was held to be no doubt that the Bolshevik power was "waning" (an
assurance had already begun to lose its novelty), while the "best liberal
and democratic elements in Russia" were "beginning to 1lift their heads" and
"to get in touch with one another"371:

The Cgechs had apparently been welcomed by the local population,

and had obtained control of the railway in western Siberia. It must
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remain a matter for conjecture upon which side lay the responsibility for
the outbreax of hostilities between them and the Bodslheviks. There was
nevertheless no doubt that this was a development which powerfully furthered
British policy, which had for some time previouslyenvisaged the employment
of the Czech forces in such a situation. The British government, Ldoyd
G@%rge later wrote, felt "bound to take the necessary steps to protect
and succour them'" in the predicament in which they had now, apparently
fortuitously, found themselves; while at the same time, as he noted, this
offered a means of establishing ''something like an anti-German front in
South-Eastern Russia and along the Urals"372. The Allies, President Wilson
was urged, were "under (the) responsibility of taking immediate action if
these gallant allies are not to be overwhelmed". Balfour amstructed Lord
Reading to point out to Wilson that the Czechoslovak successes gave them
an "opportunity of restoring an eastern front which may never return"373.
The situation withpRussia reflected these developments. Attacks
were made on gritain by Uritsky, about which Lockhart promised to complain
374

to Chicherin « The Allied Embassies were withdrawn to Archangel in July,
a move which the Bolsheviks "rightly interpreted.. as the prelude to
intervention"375. A raid on the Allied missions followed, and LocKhart
received a note demanding withdrawal from the positions that British forces
had occupied in Archangel and Murmansk576.

The involwsment of the Czechs in military engagements led
Balfour to favour the idea of sendigg troops as soon as possible. The
movement of Allied troops to Vladivostok "in order to protect supplies
and preserve order" could not, he ventured, be '"considered as intervention
in Russia". It was decided to move a British battalion to Vladivostok
"for the purposes of preserving order therd and protecting supplies". There

Ko7,

were already 1,200 troops at Murmans

1378,
1

Action was agreed upon to 'assist the Czechs and on

7 August it was reported that President Wilson had accepted the principle
of Allied action in the Far East for this @mplared purpose (they also
proposed to "sehd a detachment of the Y.M.C.A. to offer moral guidance to
the Russian people“3?9). "With this", Balfour stated, "the co-belligerents

had had to remain satisfied"380. Intervention had become a facte.
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Milner wrote in a 'confidential note' that he had "formed the opinion
that there is a great deal of exaggeration in the talk about revolution
and especially about the alleged disloyalty of the Army"('Allied
Conference at Petrograd', January-February 1917: 13 March 1917,

Cabinet Paper G.131, Cab 24/3). Lord Riddell noted that David Davies
M.P., who had been a member of the mission, had sent home "more useful
and accurate information than any other member of the party" and had
2lone indicated the possibility of revolution (Lord Riddell: Intimate
Diary of the Peace Conference and After 1918-1923 (London 1933) p2.48.
Davies' report, dates 10 March 1917, is Cabinet Paper G 137, Cab 34/3).
The Secretary of State's remarks are contained in Minutes of the War
Cabinet, 14 March 1917, W.C. 98(3), Cab 23/2

Labour Leader 22 March 1917

Bonar Law, House of Commons Parliamentary debates (5t§%eries) Vol 91,
col. 1421,15 March 1917. References below to the Parliamentary Debates

will refer, unless otherwise indicated, to the House of Commons, 5th

series.,

Cabinet Minutes, 16 March 1917, W.C. 98(1), Cab 23/2

16 March 1917, F.0. 371 piece 2998 paper 57216 (hereinafter cited

by class, piece and paper numbers respectively)

Nabokov to Balfour, 18 March 1917, F.0. 371.2998.58022

Buchanan to Balfour, 18 March 1917, F.0. 371.2998.58189. Buchanan
noted in his memoirs that "after the Grand Duke Michael's renunciation
of the Crown, our only possible policy was to strengthen the hands of
the Provisional Government in their struggle with the Soviet. The latter
was undermining the Army with its Socialist propaganda.q The speedy
recognition of the Provisional Government was therefore'in my opinion
cessary’ as the 'only Government capable of combahing the subversive
ndencies of the Soviet and of fighting out the war to a finish" (Sir
orge Buchanan: My Mission to Russia and other diplomstic memoirs (Londor
23, 2 vols) vol ii p 90,98; cited hereinafter as Buchanan')

Balfour to Buchanan, 21 March 1917, F.0. 371.2998.59540

Cabinet Minutes, 19 March 1917, W.C. 99(17), Cab 23/2

Balfour to Buchanan, 17 March 1917, F.0. 371.2995.57143

Cabinet Minutes, 19 March 1917, W.C. 99(10) Cab 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 21 March 1917, W.C. L00(16), Cab 23/2; Parliamentary

Debates vol 91, col 2085
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Parliamentary Debates vol 91 col 2085-6.
ibid col 2086; Imperial War Cabinet linutes, 22 March 1917, I.W.C.2(5),
Cab 23/40; F.0. to Buchanan, 22 March 1917, F.0.371.2998.60234.
Cabinet Minutes, 13 April 1917, W.C. 118(3), Cab 23/2. Lord Stamfordham
wrote to Balfour on 30 March that despite the King's "strong personal
friendship" for the Emperor, he doubted the wisdom of his proposed
residence in England on "general grounds of expediency". Balfour wrote to
Buchanan, following the Cabinet's decision, informing him that the government
"would rather deprecate visits of Grand Dukes to this country" (Stamfordham
to Balfour, 30 March 1917, Balfour Papers F.0. 800 vol 205 p.63; Balfour to Buch-
anan, 18 April 1917, ibid).
Morning Post 17 March, Mail 16 March, Observer 18 March, Manchester
Guardian 16 March, Nation 17 March 1917, cited in R.P. Arnot: Impact of the
Russian Revolution in Britain (London 1967) p.l14-16. The Times held that
the "highest credit" was due to the Tsar for having conceded magnanimously
to the Duma's demands. It could "not be pretended", it added, that "all

the perils inseparable from so profound a change" had yet passed away; in
particular it was concerned with the consequences which might follow "“were
the extremists to obtain the upper hand". It welcomed the change on the
whole, however, especially the "manifest eagerness of all parties that
Russia should continue to wage the war with even greater vigour". The news,
moreover, had been "very well received" in the City (ziggg, 16, 17 March
1917) Lansbury noted the curious circumstance that "even the most loyal can
support the overthrow of monarchy when this does not involve the destruction
of capitalism" (George Lansbury: The Miracle of Fleet Street (London 1925)
p.112).

C. Sarolea, Review of Reviews 1lv April 1917 p.364,365; Nineteenth Century
and After vol 81, April 1917 p.783.

G.J. Wardle, Parliamentary Debates vol 91 cols. 2089, 2090.

P. Snowden, Parliamentary Debates vol 93, cols. 1625, 1626, 1632, 1635;
Ramsey MacDonald ibid col 1661, 16 May 1917.

Forward 24 March 197

MacDonald Forward 31 March, 14 and 28 April, 12 May 1917.

Snowden, lLabour Leader 22 and 29 March, 12 April 1917.

Glasier, Labour Leader 22 March 1917.

Socialigt Review vol.1l4, May-June 1917 p.97-8.

Labour Leader 5 April 1917
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Labour Leader 19 April 1917
Lansbury, The Miracle of Fleet Street (London 1925) p 109,B.Hollingsw

-orth, The Society of Friends of Russian Freedom: English Liberals and

Russian Socialists 1890-1917 Oxford Slavonic Papers New Series iii
(1970) 45-64, H.N.Brailsford,The Fruits of our Russian Alliance (Anglo-
Russian Committee, London 1912) endpaper. The links between socialists

in the two countries have bebn examined in W. Kendall, The Revolutionary
Movement in Britain 1900-1921 (London 1969) esp pp 77-83

B.C. Roberts, The Trades Union Congress 1868-1921 (London 1958) p271
Cited in K.E. Miller: Socialism and Foreign Policy (Hague 1967) pi5,
Arnot op cit p 47, B. Sacks: J. Ramsay MacDonald in Thought and Action
(New Mexico 1952 ) p 472

I.L.P. 1915 Annual Conference Report p 117,119;

Socialist Review October-December 1914 p 313

Soclalist Review October-December 1914 p 394

Kingsle§ Mzrtin: Father Figures (London 1966) pll8

New Statesman 24 Morch 1917 p578

Lansbury: My Life (London 1928) pl86

Herald 31 March 1917 p9

Labour Leader 17 May 1917

Leicester Post 7 May 1917, cited in Arnot op cit p70 n.l
Parliamentary Debates vol 96 «col 1494 26 July 1917

Forward 22 September 1917

Buchanan to F.0.,16 March 1917, F.0. 371.2995.56428

Cabinet Minutes 16 March 1917, W.C. 98(2) Cab 23/2

16 March 1917, F.0. 371.2995.56428. Commenting on the Labour message,
the Times noted that "all the prudence, all the cograke, and all the
self-restraint of the Moderates'" would be needed to ¥arry the country

"gafely through the period of transition". The government's position in

Russia was compared with that of "cowboys 'heading off' stampeding
cattle" (EEESE 17 2nd 20 March 1917)

Labour Leader 22 March 1917

ibid

Cabinet Minutes, 10 April 1917, W.C. 116(7), Cab 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, W.C. 104 (5), Cab 23/2

Cabinet Minutes,.28 March 1917, W.C. 101(9), Cab 23/2
Parliamentary Debates vol 92, cols 1277,1278, 4 April 1917
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Rech' 5 April 1917

Times 18 April 1917. The activity of the delegation was reported or commented
upon in the Russian (Pravda 27 April, Rech' 23 April etc.) and British press
(Egggg 16 April and subsequently, and in Labour journals). Shlyaphikov's
recollections of the meeting with the Executive Committee of the Petrograd

Soviet are in Krasny Arkhiv xv(26) and xvi(26), under the title 'Fevral'

skaya Revolyutsiya i1 Evropeiskye Sotsialisty'. A recent Soviet account is
Lozovsky: The Labour Party and the February Revolution Voprosy Istorii No. 2,
1948, pp.70-88, and also A.L. Ignat'ev (Moscow 1966) esp. p.182f. A source
of much comment was Will Thorne's opulent fur coat, a present from

F.E. Smith on his departure (Thorne: My Life's Battles (London 1929, p.189).

The most picturesque remarks were perhaps those of the Socialist, which
declared that Thorne's "elephantine dancings before the throne of Capital"
had deprived him of the right to "represent Labour under any circumstances,
unless some betrayal is at hand". If, as had been reported, the garment was
"lined with skunk's skin; then the elements of irony have conspired to make
the gift as appropriate as are the donor and dealer" (Socialist May 1917 p.60).
Izvestiya 27 April 1917.

Izvestiya 4 May 1917. The reports that the delegates were the paid
emisgsaries of the British - overnment, and did not represent the working-class
movement, stemmed from a message to a Russian socialist from an I.L.P. member,
the impact of which was evidently not significantly diminished by a telegram
from Hyndman which dismissed it as a "lying statement" (Buchanan: p.120, 121).
The I.L.P. statement provoked a meeting in front of the delegates' hotel, at
which they were denounced as traitors and spies, as Thorne subsequently
reported (National Review vol. 69, July 1917 p.525). Sir A. Mond wrote to

Lord Robert Cecil to express his concern that a message "so detrimental to

our interest" as that of the I.L.P. has escaped the censor. It appeared,
however, to have been taken by hand by a Russian traveller, and not sent
by post or telegraph (Mond to Cecil, 14 May 1917, and Cecil to Mond 19 May
1917 , Cecil Papers, F.0. 800.198).

Rabochaya Gazeta 5 and 6 May 1917, cited in Lozovsky art cit.

S.W. Sanders, Report, 28 May 1917, Cabinet Paper G.T. 858, Cab 24/14.
Reports on the Visit of the Labour Delegation to Russia, April-May 1917,
Cabinet Paper G 150, Cab 24/3.
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Curzon memorandum, Cabinet Paper G.T. 703, 12 May 1917, Cab B4 /13 !
Knox to the D.M.I., 26 May 1917, Bzlfour Papers, F.0.800.205 No 1128 pl2é
Labour Leader 5 April 1917

Lockhart to F.0., 4 May 1917, F.0. 371.2996.105142; Lockhart: Memoirs
of a British Agent (London 1932, hereinafter cited as 'memoirs') p 183 ;

08Grady had sought permission from his union to extend his stay in
Russia in order to offer his services in the organization of the Russian
workers on British trade union lines (Times 19 May 1917). The TUC's
Parliamentary Committee agreed to extend his stay by two months in
order to "help the Russian workers organize'. A resolution was adopted
assuring them of the Committee's "willingness to coZ-operate with them
in the direction of strengthening the powers of democracy anc trade
unionism for the purpose of securing the economic and political
emancipation of the people" (Parliamentary Committde Minutes 24 Mzy 1917)
O0'Grady did not in fact sbday; but in his report to the Committee on his
return he suggested that one or two Labour representatives might be
sent to Russia for the purpose of organizing 'on British trade union
lines'". John Hill and J.H. Stuart-Bunning were nominated to proceed to
Russia were invitations forthcoming, but this d1d not prove tg be the
case (ibid 30 May, 6 June 1917) In connection w1th €ﬁ§igffer to ex%end
'British trade unionism' to Russia (an offer which was also made to, and
rejected by, the Indian trade mon¥on movement), it is worth noting the
conclusion of a recent study of Russian 'police trade unionism' that
"had the regime been intelligent and far-sighted enough'" to permit
 such a social 'safety valve', "there would probably have been no
violent revolution and civil war in Russia" (D. Pospielovsky: Russian
Police Trade Unionism (London 1971) p 163). The departure of the dele-

a "pleasure to look at after the nervous,excitable people we see here"
(Sir A. Knox: With the Russian Armies (London 1921,2 vols.) ii p6l6);
and by Buchanan, who found them '"splendid types of the British

working man" (Memoirs p 132)

F.0. to Buchanan, 23 May 1917, F.O. 371.3012.103717

Cabinet Minutes, 23 May 1917, W.C. 144(1), Cab 23/2

D. Lloyd George: War Memoirs ( London 1933-6; references to two-volume
edition,London n.d.; cited hereinafter as 'War Memoirs') p 1122

F.0. to Buchanan,23 May 1917,Balfour Papers No 1539,F.0. 800.205




64
65

66

67

68

69

70

71
72
73
74
75
76
77

78
79

L

Buchanan to Balfour, received 25 May 1917, ibid p 123

Knox to Balfour, 26 May, ibid pl26; Bruce (Pétrograd) to Balfour,

26 May 1917 ibid p 124-5

Henderson to Lloyd George, 14 July 1917, Lloyd George Papers F 27/3/13;
M.A., Hamilton: Arthur Henderson (London 1938) p 126-8, letter of 14
June 1917; Buchanan: Memoirs p 146

F.0. to Buchanan, 28 May 1917, Balfour Papers F.0. 800.205 pl28;
Buchanan to Balfour, received 14 June 1917, ibid p 138

Lockhart to F.0., 3 July 1917,F.0. 371.2997.145767. Bruce added from
Petrograd that Henderson had been a "conspicuous failure", #reverse
which Henderson appeared equably to have accepted (Bruce, 15 June
1917, Bzlfour Papers F.0. 800.205 p 141). An account of Henderson's
mission is available in M.A. Hamilton's biography; and recent Soviet
studies include M.M. Karliner: Angliiskoye Rabochee Dvizhenie v
godakh pervii mirovoi voiny (Moscow 1961); and A.V. Ignat'ev: Russko-
Angliiskiye Otnosheniya v 1917 godu (Moscow 1966), p226f.

Lockhart: Memoirs pl87; who noted the opinion (shared by Conservatives) |

of the Labour delegates that Henderson was ‘''playing for revolution",
Henderson, 'British Mission to Russia, June-July 1917', 16 July 1917,
(hereinafter referred to as'BRibishM Mission') Cabinet Paper q152,022/4
Times 14 June 1917

Cited in Hamilton: Arthur Henderson [london 1938) pl29

Henderson: British Mission

Henderson to the P.M.,4 June 1917, F.0.371.3012.112209

Henderson to the P.M., 1 Jul@ 1917, F,0.371.2997.131118

Henderson: British Mission

Henderson to the P.M., 1 July 1917, F.0. 371.2997.131118. Henderson
noted, as had the Labour delegates before him, that the difficulties
of the Russian government were compdunded by the absence of what he
termed "proper labour organizations" (presumably, non-political onmes;
Henderson to the P.M., 4 June 1917 above). Henderson told the
Petrograd Soviet that British Labour was in favour of peace, but

it must be a peace "in strict harmony with the ideals of free democr-
acy", not one made by "uncontrolled and unrepentant military despots"
(Speech at Petrograd Soviet,9 June 1917,Lloyd Georgé Papers F201/4/2)
Cabinet Minutes, 11 May 1917,W.C. 136(15) Cab 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 15 May 1917, W.C. 138(9) Cab 23/2
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Cabinet Minutes, 21 May 1917, W.C. 141(15) Czb 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 23 May 1917, W.C. 144(1l) Czb 23/2

Cabinet Kinutes, 7 June 1917, %W.C. 158(1) Cab 23/2

Czbinet Minutes, 11 June 1917, W.C. 160(15) Cab 23/2

C-binet MinutesP6 July 1917, W.C. 196(16), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 1 August 1917, W.C.202, Czb 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 8 August 1917, W.C. 207(5), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 10 August 1917, W.C. 210(12), Cab 23/3

Labour Party Special Conference Report 10 and 21 August l917,p9,£8;§%,
Cabinet Minutes, W.C. 211(1) Cab 23/3

Czbinet Minutes 11 August 1927, W.C. 212(1), Cab 23/3

Labour Party 1918 Annual Conference Report,p6,7,11-12

Lloyd George: War Memoirs pl128,1129,1130

G.D.H. Cole: History of the Labour Partybanl 1914 (London 1948) p3§-8
Labour Party 1916 Annual Conference Report p2,4; Labour Leader 6%“55?&

Labour Party 1916 Annual Conference Report p5
ibid p6
ibid play

Labour Party 1917 Annual Conference Report pl4
ibid p p82

idney and Beatrice Webb:History of Trade Unionism (rev.ed.1926)p636-7
ibid p 638,641,644

Labour Party 1917 Annual Congress Report p98

ibid App vi

Socialist Review January-March 1917,vol 14 p2

Lloyd George: War Memoirs pll45

ibid pll4l

Labour Leader 24 May 1917, Kendall op.cit. pl57. As the New Statesmah_
pointed out, the May strikes were nothing less than a '"spontaneous

and widespread Lzbour revolt among some of the most highly skilled
and most responsible sections of our manual working class" (19 May
1917,p149). In the first half of 1917 there were thirty-three engineer-
ing strikes, and the total number of working days lost was more than
sixteen times than of the previous year (Ministry of Labour Gazette,
No 7,vol 25,p248, cited in Harliner op cit p263).

Sidney Webb to Thomas Jones,20 January 1918 (Thomas Jones: Whitehall
Diary vol 1 (London 1969) p48)
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Beatrice Webb: Diaries 1912-1924 (London 1952) entry for 5 Cctober
1917 (p96-7), 21 January 1918 (»10¥). Cole (op.cit.p38) adds that in
September 1917 the local Shop Steward Committees had definitely come
together to form a Shop Steward National Committee: an implicit

+ et e e - et « -

challenge to the official Labour leadership.
Snowden Labour Leader 17 May 1917 |
Commission of Enquiry into Industrial Unrest, Reports: Parliamentary
Papers 1917-1918, Cmd 8662-9,8696. References are to Cmd 8696 p5,
and Cmd 8668 p23=-4

ibid Cmd 8666 p2, Cmd 8662 pll

ibid Cmd 8666 p5,8663 pl9,8664 p3,8662 p9, 8664 p5. J.R. Clynes, who
was working in the department of Food Control, opposed the reduction

in brewing which some were urging (as he noted, "vodka was banned in
Russia just before the Revolution" (Clynes: Memoirs, 2 vols, London f

1937-8, vol i p242)); but some reduction in gravity was in fact allowed{

Labour Party 1918 Annual Conference Report p 12
Earlier demonstertions were held by the B.S.P. at the Memorial Hall,
Farringdon Street, on 26 March 1917; and at Mile End Road on 24 March

under the auspiees of the Committee of Delegates of the Russian

.

T e

Socialist Groups. Lansbury detlared however that the "Labour and
progressive forces of the capital should rally in even larger numbers"
(Herald 31 March 1917 p5) :
I.M. Maisky: Puteshchestvie v Proshloe (Moscow 19603 p269; Lansbury: j
Miracle of Fleet Street (London 1925) pll3; F.Meynell: My Lives
(London 1971) ploi

I.M. Maisky: Puteshchestvie v Proshloe (Moscow 1960) p269; Lensbury:
Mirack® of Fleet Street (London 1925) pll3. About 5,000 had to be
turned away. The proceedings of the meeting were published: 'Russia
Free ! Ten Speeches delivered at the Royal Albert Hall, London, on
31 March 1917; authorized report (London,Pelican Press 1917). Quotation |
-s from the proceedings are taken from this source unless otherwise
indicated.

Lansbury: Miracle of Fleet Street (London 1925) plly

Herald 7 April 1917, Lansbury: My Life (London 1928) pl87

Call 5 April 1917. That note was not altogether absent, he added, but
it was "timid and hesiétnt'", and "marred" by pro-war utterances.
Anon. to Lansbgry, 8 May 1917, Lansbury Papers vol 7, No 310
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R. Postgate: Life of George Lansbury (London 1951) plé5

details in the Call, cited by Karliner op cit p254-5. The Woman's }
Dreadnought (26 May 1917) reported meetings at Brighton on 18 May and }
at Liverpool on 20 May 1917.

Karliner op.cit.p 266

W.A. Orton: Labour in Transition (London 1921) plO4; the meeting is
incorrectly dated 9 June. Lznsbury allowed the Anglo-Russian Committee

to lapse, a decision which he subsequently regrettedkMiracle of Fleet
Street (London 1925) pllé)

I.L.P. 1917 Annual Conference Report p23

I.L.P. National Administrctive Council Minutes, 15-16 October 1914 (pll0)
6-7 July 1916 (p201) (B.L.P.E.S.)

I.L.P. 1917 Annual Conference Report p23,p24-5. The formation of the

rn e i oo

U.S.C. has been incorrectly dated by Karliner op cit ("after the
February Revolution" p 132), and by the Labour Year Book (in 1917;

1919 edn.,p320); and incorrectly termed the 'United Social Council'
by A. Bullock: Life and Times of Ernest Bevin (London 1960) p 74
Labour Leader 17 May 1917, Rorward 19 May 1917 (reprinted in Snowden:
An Autobiography (London 193%6) vol i p450-2). Trades Councils, local

Labour Party branches. I.L.P. and B.S.P. branches, and other bodies

[FORPIPRSTI SE S .

were invited "in order to make the Conference as representative and .
powerful as possible". The basis of representation was one delegate ;
for every 5,000 members or part thereof.

Labour Leader 31 May 1917,24 May 1917

Forward 2 June 1917

Glasgow Trades Council agreed by a '"large majority" to be represented;

but instructed its delegates to seek to exclude soldiers from the scope
of the Council (Trades Council linutes, 16 and 30 May 1917). The texts
of the resolutions as circulated are in ibid 30 May 1917. In Leeds
itself, the local Labour Party agreed to representation by 75 votes to
15, the Trades Council by a margin of only 37 votes to 30 (Ledds Weekly
Citizen 1 and 8 June 1917).

D22ds Veekly Citizen 8 June 1917. A letter of thanks for local hospitality
from Tom Quelch, on hehalf of the Council, is printed in ibid. It was

action lost about £1,000 (ibid)
Leeds Weekly Citizen 8 June 1917, Herild 9 June 1917, Times 2 June 1917.
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The Times reported that the authorities had "yielded to patriotic pressure'".

An attempt had been made to attempt to induce the Watch Commmittee of the

City Council to ban the meeting, but without success: it was considered that

more might be lost than would thereby be gained.

135

136

137

138
139
140
141

142
143
148
149
150

151
152

153
154
155

What Happened at Leeds (London 1917)pl (reprinted, with a new introd&t—
ion by Ken Coates, by the Institute for Workers' Control (Archives in
Trade Union History and Theory, Series One, No 4, Nottingham n.d.) .
References to the proceedings of the Convention have, iinless otherwise
indicated, been drawn from this source (based on the Herald report),
and from the Labour LeadeA? June 1917, Leeds Weekly Citizédn 8 June 1917.
William Gallacher wrongly reports Lansbury as present (Revolt on the '
Clyde (London 1936) plh9). The figure of attendance reported by the
Woman's Dreadnought (iv No 11,9 June 1917 p773) of 11,051 is also
mistaken: presumably an (exuberant) misprint.

Middlemas: REXAXXXHHXXKE The Clydesiders (London 1965) incorrectly
suggests that Snowden and MacDonald spoke in favour of this resolution
(ibidX p?75)

Review of Reviews 1xi July 1917 p8; Leeds Mercgpry editorial 5 June 1917
Labour Leader 7 June 1917

telegram to Lansbury, 3 June 1917, Lansbury Papers vol 7 No 329
Pankhurst to Lansbury, June 1917, No324; Mrs Despard to Lansbury, 1

June 1917, No 337; Pethick-Lawrence to Lznsbury, 3 June 1917,No 335;
A.A. Watts to Lansbury, 15 June 1917,No 348, Lansbury Papers Vol 7

Webb: Diaries 1912-1924 (London 1952) p38, entry for 7 June 1917

Woman's Dreadnought iv No 11 9 June 1917 p?770; Labour Leader 7 June 1917
Times 5 June 1917

Watts to Lansbury, 15 June 1917, Lansbury Papers Vol 7 No 348
Nineteenth Century and After Vol 87,April 1920 p590; W. Thorne:My Life's
Battles (London 1931) pl95. Thorne recalled that his reply had "seemed
to relieve his mind" (ibid).

V.H.Rothwell: British War Aims and Peace Diplomacy (Oxford 1971) p97

Woman's Dreadnought 9 June 1917 p773; New Statesman 9 June 1917 p218.
Mrs Pankhurst's journal recommended that the Councils be re-named
"Workers', Soldiers' and Housewives' Councils" (ibid 21 July 1917 p807).
Herald 26 May 1917 p8, and 9 June 1917 p2

Labour Leader 7 Jume 1917

Snowden: An Autobiography (London 1934,2 vols) vol i p456
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Pravda 17 May (old style) 1917; Snowden op.cit.p 453

Woman's Dreadnought 9 June 1917 p 773; H.Pollitt: Serving My Time
(London, 1950 ed) p9l

Snowden op.cit.¥Xp455; Mcnchester Guardian 30 July 1917 p6; G.Elton:
Life of James Ramsay MacDonald (London 1939) p322

I.L.P. National Administrative Council Minutes, 30 July 1917 (p222)
Woman's Dreadnought iv No 15 7July 1917 p795;Herald 27 October 1917 pl0
B.S.P. 1918 Annual Report p43, cited in Xendall op.cit. p379 n.43
Lansbury: My Life (London 1928) pl38

Kendall (oQ.cit. pl75) suggests incorrectly that the Convention elected;

a nine-man Provisional Committee. The names of the thirteen members and
two secretaries are recorded in What Happened at Leeds p2

Call 21 June 1917, 28 June 1917

Call 12 April 1917 p4, 31 May 1917

Forward 2 June 1917, Herald 2 June 1917 p7; Labour Leader 31 May 1917.

Snowden: Lzbour in Chains (London 1917) plé. Anderson, the proposer of

the Councils resolution, was President at this time of the National
Council of Civil Liberties, Smillie, the Convention's chairman, was
one of its Vice-Presidents, and Mrs Snowden was its Honorary Treasur-
er. The objects of the N.C.C.L. coincided closely with the terms of
the third resolution on civil liberties (M.Farbé@n: The Russian
Revolution and the War (London 1917) p47)

Woman's Dreadnought iv No 11 9 June 1917 p?770

L:bour Leader 7 June 1917; Glasgow Trzdes Council Minutes 6 June 1917;

Herald 8 September 1917 p2. What "hurt most of all" to the Russian

people, Michael Farbman wrote following his return there, was the

viendency in Britain to "judge of the Revolution mostly from the
standpoint of its possible influence on the issue of the war, and not
to jiadge of it from the point of view of Russia itself, and the cbaﬁe
of freedom amd democracy throughout the world" (Manchester Guardian

1 May 1917). Karliner conceded that Leninist programme of a revolution-
ary withdrawal from the war "remained unknown to the majority of the
English workers" (op.cit.p264).
Herald 9 June 1917 p8. The editorial comment in the Times was predict-
ably hostile and suggested that the object of the meeting was really

to '"stop the war"., While the organizers would then embark upon a
"domestic war", éken the Times did not suggest that this would be other
than "afterwards" (Times 4 June 1917)
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Industrial Peace Vol i No 28 October 1917
Times 4 June 1917
C.J. Bundock: The I.L.P. and the Soldier (London 1918) p4,l10,¥ I.L.

~P. M.P.s were stated to hzve dealt with ngmerous individual cases

privately: Snowden had handled over seven thousand, MacDonzld three
thousand from his own constituency alone (ibid pl2).

Herald 31 March 1917 p6. References to this meeting are derived
from this source, unless otherwise stated. The 189 delegates
represented in the main Labour bodies, including eighty-nine London
Trades Councils.

Woman's Dreadnoughtiv No 11 9 June 1917 p?770. Could anyone say, Mrs

Pankhurst asked, that the treatment of dischargdd soldiers had been
such as to render action to help them unnecessary?

Basil Thmmson: The Scene Changes (London 1939) p283

Thomson 'Bolshevism in England', 23 December 1918,F.0.371.3300.212581
J.M. Kenworthy: Soldiers, Sailors and Others (London 1936) pl00
Cabinet Paper G.T. 832, Cab 24/14

Cabinet Minutes, 25 May 1917, W.C. 147(11) Cab 23/3

Milner to Lloyd George, 1 June 1917, Lloyd George Papers F38/2/8

Cabinet Minuets, 5 June 1917, W.C. 154(22), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 31 July 1917, W.C. 200(1), Cab 23/3%; 'Formation of
Soldiers' and Sailors' Committees', 26 July 1917, Cabinet Paper

G.T. 1522, Cab 24/21

In his War Memoirs (pll54) he wrote that he "thought it would bg a
mistake to treat it too seriously.. The leaders were mostly me

of the type which think (sic) something is actually done when you
assert vigorously that it must be done".

Herald circulap, 28 June 1917, in Lansbury Papers Vol 7 No 359

Herald 23 June 1917 p3, editorial p7

A. Bullock: Life and Times of Ernest Bevin (Londop 1960) p76; Postgate
: Life of George Lansbury (London 1951) pl70; Middlemas: The
Clydesiders (London 1965) p?75; Thomson: The Scene Changes (London
1939) p283

Woman's Dreadnought 9 June 1917 p773

Workers' and Soldiers' Council: Manifesto to the District Conferences
(London, National Labour Press 1917 (reprinted in the Herald 7 Jyly
1917 pé6)

Herald 21 July 1917 p 16. The same issue reported, however, that
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London Trades Council had decided not to be represented at the London

District Conference (ibid pl5). A list of the locations and dates of the

District Conferences was printed in the Times (25 July 1917)
191@ Workers' and Soldiers' Council: Circular of 12th July 1917 (London,

192

193

194
195
196

197
198
199

200

201
202

Nationzl Lobour Press 1917X; reprinted in the Times 25 July 1917

and the Woman's Dreadnought 14 July 1917 p802)

Call 19 July, 2 August 1917; Labour Leader 9 August 1917; Times

30 July 1917, 2,8 and 16 August 1917; Herald 11 August 1917;
'Proposed Prohibition of Meeting at Glasgow', 6 August 1917, Cabinet
Pzper G.T. 1625, Cab 24/22, and Cabinet Minutes & August 1917,

W.C. 207(6) Cab 23/3.

Times 30 July 1917; Woman's Dreadnought 14 August 1917;Bettrand
Russell: Autobiography , Volume & (London 1968) p3l; Snowden:

An Autobiography (London 1934) Vol i ps56. The New Statesman was

among the journals which remarked upon the apparent unconcern of the

police (ibid 4 August 1917). The only arrest which was made at the
time of the meeting was that of an NJ.R. member who had not been
attending the meeting as a delegate,but had come on behald of his
union as an observer. He had been badly injured in the course of the
proceedings; but he had nevertheless been taken to a police station
and charged with HXXXX '"insulting words and behavihour'. The magistra-
te at the North London Police Court expressed his opinion that such
"tpeace meetings'" ought not to be allowed; and while dischapging

the defendant, observed that he would have done better had he avoided

the meeting (Times 30 July 1917)

Call 2 August, 9 August 1917; Herdld 4 August 1917 p5

Call 23 August 1917

Thomson, 'Bolshevism in England',2% December 1918,F.0.371.3300.212521;
Herald 11 August 1917 pé6

Call 25 October 1917; Herald 27 October 1917 plO

I.L.P. National Administrative Council Minutes, 26 October 1917 (p231)
Report on the Labour Situation, 9 August 1917, Caobinet Paper G.T.1660,
Cab 24/22; Thomson, 'Bolshevism in Britain' op cit :
Glasgow Trades Council Minutes, 18 Décember 1918

Socialist Review vol 14, July-September 1917, pl99

Times 27 July 1917; ¥Workshire Factory Times 26 July 1917, cited in
Report on the Labour Situation, 1 August 1917, Cabinet Paper G.T.1593,
Cab 24/21., The Scottish T.U.C. Parliamentary Committee refused to
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participate in the Glasgow District Conference (S.T.U.C. Parliamentary
Committee lMinutes, 4 August 1917)
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Socialist Review ibid

I.L.P. 1918 Annual Conference Report p3l

Cabinet Minutes, 28 March 1917, W.C. 107(7), Cab 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 2 April 1917, W.C. 110(8), Cab 23/2

Thomson: Qheﬂ#?enpkﬂhunges (London 193%) p279. Curzon , who '"gegrett-

ed" the Revolution, todd C.P.Scott that "all the talk of the revolut-

jonaries about peace and the rights of subject peoples would come

to nothing", while from the British point of view, the "only przctical

result" had been a reduction of 50% in the efficiency of the Russian

armies, and the '"probable great prolongation or loss of the war"

(Political Diaries of C.P. Scott 1911-1928,ed. T.Wilson (Loncon 1970)
entrﬁfor 21 April 1917, p279,280)

Cebinet Minutes, 18 April 1917, W.C. 122(5) and (17), Cab 23/2. It was
later reported that ten out of eleven howitzers sent to the Russian
Army had burst, probably as a result of the use of the wrong ammuni-
tion (¥zbinet Minutes, 26 July 1917,W.C. 128(2),Cab 23/2).

Cabinet Minutes, 1 May 1917, W.C. 128(2), Cab 23/2

Cebinet Minutes, 4 May 1917, W.C. 136(5), Cob 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 14 May 1917,%.C. 137(1), Cab 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 23 kMay 1917, W.C. 144(5), Czb 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 30 May 1917, W.C. 150(1), Cab 23/2

Cebinet Minutesy 31 Mey 1917, W.C. 152(3), Czb 23/2

Cabinet Minutes, 9 May 1917, W.C. 135A(2), Czab 23/13; and 31 July

1917, w.C. 200A(1), Cab 23/13
Czbinet Minutes,?7 June 1917, *.C. 157(53, Cab 23/8

Cabinet Minutes, 7 June 1917, W.C. 157(6), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 5 June 1917, W.C. 154(21), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 11 July 1917, %.C. 181(4), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 23 July 1917, W.C. 193(4), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes,16 July 1917, w.C. i87(19), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 31 July 1917, W.C. 200(8), Cab 23/3

Czobinet Minutes, 3 August 1917, W.C. 204(2), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 7 August 1917, W.C. 205(1), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 9 August 1917, W.C. 208(6), Cab 23/3

Cabinet Minutes, 17 August 1917, W.C. 217(11), Cab 23/3
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Cabinet Minutes,?7 September 1917, W.C. 229(13), Cab 23/4 . Buchanan

believed that desvite the services which Kerensky had rendered in the
past, he had "almost served his part". But he did not '"see who is to
replace ®Wim with advantage" (Buchanan to London,3 September 1917;
Buchanan vol ii pl?73)Buchanan urged that Kornilov reach a compromise
with Kerensky; but when Kornilov declared himself dictator and began

a march on Petrograd, he thought that nothing was to be done but to
await the outcome of events and "trust that Kornilov will be strong
enough to overcome all resistance in the course of a few days" (ig;g

10 September 1917,p 182). Two days later he recorded that Kornilov

was reported to huove resigned, and Kerensky to have become Commander

in Chief (ibid 12 September, pl84)

Csbinet Minutes, 12 September 1917, W.C. 231(3), Cab 23/4; and 24 :
September 1917, W.C. 238(1), Czb 23/4

C-binet Minutes, 1 November 1917, W.C. 262, Cab 23/4

Cabinet Minutes, 9 November 1917, %W.C. 269(8), Cab 23/4

Cabinet Minutes,1l5 November, W.C. 274(5), Cab 23/4

Czbinet Minutes, 16 November 1917, W.C. 275(10), Cab 23/4 . Buchanan
noted that Kerensky had Bagain failed us,as he did at the time of tlke
July rising and of the Korniloff affair" (13 November, Buchanan ii p212)
Buchanan to F.0., 17 November, F.0. 371.2999.219422

Buchanan to F.0O., 19 November, F.0.371.2999.220343

Cabinet Minutes, 19 November 1917, W.C. 277(103, Cab 23/4

Parliamentary Debates,Vol 99 col 9, 12 November 1917

ibid col 838, 19 November 1917. The Times reported the existence of
"Maximalist Sedition" in Petrograd on 8 November; but assured its read-{
ers the following day that the '"great mass of the people.. would not
countenance' a separate peace. These people, the "real Russia'", were
contrasted the Bolsheviks, who were in general "adventurers of German-

Jewish bdood and in German pay" (23 November 1917). The National Review

reported that a "gang of Boloists, headed by a paid German scoundr™el
calling himself Lenin, hzve not only seized power, but to the horror
of the civilized world hcve kept it, or enough of it to violate weery
engagement into which Russia had entered" (ibid vol 70, December 1917,
P4lL4). The Fortnightly Review thought that it would "come as a shibék
toXNENXXXMEX many in this country to hear that Bolshevism, like the
Marxism from which it is derived, was born on English soil" (ibid Vol

103, March 1918, p371)
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New Statesman 3 November 1917 pl06
Forward 24 November, 1 December 1917
Labour Leader 24 Jznuary 1918
I.L.P. 1918 Annual Conference Revort p48
Lzbour Party 1918 Annual Conference Report, Mr W.F. Purdy, p9i4

Cited in A.J. Mayer: Politics and Diplomacy of Peacemaking (London
1968) pRO3

Henderson, Athanaeum December 1917 p (reprinted as 'A World safe
for Democracy'(London 1917))

Labour Leader 15 November 1917

Forward 1 December, 8 December 1917

Herald 1 December 1917

Call 15,22,29 November, 6 December 1917 (an error noted by %af%%%?r
Herald 15 December 1917 plS
Labour Leader 24 January 1918

MM, Litvinov: The Bolshevik Revolution: its rise and meaning (B.S.P.,
London 1918, with a preface by E.C. Fairchild) plO

Labour Leader 6 December 1917. The secret treaties were published in

p328;

accordance with the Bolsheviks' repudiation of secret diplomacy in
the Decree on Peace of 8 November 1917 (Dokumenty ¥neshnei Politiki
SSSR Vol i (Moscow 1959) document 2 ppll-l4). Their publication in
volume form began in December. Each published secret document, it
was stated, was a "very sharp weapon against the bourgeoisie" (Sbornik
Sekretnykh Bokumentov iz Arkhiva byvshego Ministerstva inostrannykh
del (N.X.I.B., Petrograd, December 1917 etc) pl).
.Labour Party 1918 Annual Uonference Report p58
Cited by A.P. Thornton: Imperial Idea and its Enemies( Londom 1959}
1966 ed.) pl50
Parlizmentary Debates, vol 99 c¢0l.1986,28 November 1917
Parliamentary Debates vol 99 col 2191,29 November 1917,and¥ vol 100,
col 25,3 December 1917
Parliamentary Dehates, vol 100 col 1133, 12 Deéember 1917. Buchanan
forwarded to London a translation of the secret treaties which had
been published in Izvestiya on 23 November (F.O0. 371.3018.234581,
23 November 1917. Further disclosures were similarly communicated:
Buchanan to F.0. 6 December 1917,F.0.371.3018.243337, etc)
Labour Party: Memorandum on War Aims (adopted 28 December 1917). Laboui

-r figures were prominent in the Lansdowne Committees, formed after
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Lansdowne's letter had been published; and Lansdowne received dellarationsi

of support from Henderson, MacDonald and others in the event of his :

formation of a government (Karliner op.cit. p332). Thomas Jones' opinion

is in Jones: ¥hitehall Diary vol i (London 1969) p43; the statement of the !

purpose of the Labour Memorandum is from the Special Conference Report p3. l

249a Cabinet Minutes,2l November 1917, W.C. 279(4), C:b 23/4

250a Lloyd George: War Memoirs pl49l

251la Cabinet Minutes, 31 December 1917, W.C. 308(10), Csb 23/4

252a Jones: Whitehall Diary vol i (London 1969) p42, 1 Janumry 1918

253a Cabinet Minutes, 4 January 1918, W.C. 314(3), Cab 23/4

254a Copies of the speech are in the Appendix to W.C. 314, and in the
Balfour Papers, F.O. 800.199 p52f. §

255 Jones op.cit.p43, 7 January 1918

256 Cabinet Minutes,17 January 1918,W.C. 324(9), Cab 23/4

257 Jones op.cit. pb2

258 Cited by R.P. Arnot: Impact of the Russian Revolut%ggn%gHB{§ga}nplo9

259 Parliamentary Debztes vol 99 col 1694, 26 November 1917

260 Manchester Guardian 12 November 1917

261 Buchanan to F.,0., 27 November 1917, F.0O. 371.2999.225633. A Foreign
Office official in a memorandum written on 12 November thought that

it could be '"taken fopr gramnted" that the Bolshevik government was
"probably alresdy on its last legs" (Intelligence Bureau, Boreign
Office, Weekly Report on Russia xxix, cited by R.H. Ullman: Interven-
tion and the War (London 1961) p3) é

262 Nabokov: Ordeal of a Diplomat (London 1921) p (82

263 New Statesman 24 November 1917 pl74

264 Daily Telegraph 5 January 1918, cited in Arnot op.cit.plO3. A 'secretf
report' which was circulated to the Cabinet on 19 January 1918

considered that "the final struggle with Bolshevism may be expected
within a few days" (Cabinet Paper G.T. 3432, Cab 24/40)
265 Parlizamentary Debates vollO0 col 973 and 1152, 11 and 12 December 192
266 ibid vol 100 col 973, 11 December 1917 &
267 Parliamentary Debates vol 100 col 1228, 12 December 1917
268 Cabinet Minutes 22 November 1917, W.C. 280(6),2ab 23/4. The Russian
Peace Note of 21 November (contained in Dokumenty Vneshnei Politiki
888R, Vol 1 (Moscow 1959)pl6-17) was received and communicated to
London by Buchanan (F.0.371.3017.223949, 22 November 1917)
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F.0. to Buchanan, F.0. 371.2999.221684, 22 November 1917

ibid F.0. 371.3000.229363, 4 December 1917

Cabinet Finutes 26 November 1917,%.C. 282(7), Cab 23/4; Buchanan:
Memoirs vol ii p224; Dokumenty Vneshnei Politiki SSSR Vil i p25
Cabinet Minutes 26 November 1917, W.C. 282(®), Cab 23/4 ; Militaty
Attzche (Petrograd) to London, 26 November 1917, F.0. 371.3017.226991.
Buchanan to FhO. 29 November 1917, F.0. 371.3017.228417

F.0. to Buchsnan, 3 December 1917, F.07'3017.230066

Buchanan to F.0., 7 December 1917, F.O. 371.3017.223844. Negotiations
began on 13 December, and an armistice was signed on 15 December
(Bokumenty Vneshnei Politiki SSSR, vol 1 pp4?7-51), in accordance with
the second article of which there were to be no further troop
movements . Orders had, however, already been given for the bulk of
the German Army to be transferred (J.W. Wheeler-Behbett: Brest-Litovsk
(London 1938; 1963 ed.) p89).

Cabinet Minutes 29 November 1917, W.C. 286(7), Cab 23/4

Cabinet Minutes 6 December 1917, W.C. 283(13),Cab 23/4. For approaches
to the Swiss and Swedish governments, see F.0. 371.3000.236229, 13
December 1917, and FO 371.3%000.242053, 22 December 1917,

Buchahan to F.0., 2 December 1917, F.0. 371.3000.230632

Cabinet Minutes 3 December 1917, W.C. 289(9 and 10), Cab 23/4

F.O0. to Buchanan 3 December 1917, F.0. 371.3018.229192

Buchanan to F.0. 5 December 1917, F.O0. 371.3018.232003

Cabinet Minutes 3 December 1917, W.C. 289(11l) Cab 23/4

Cabinet Minutes 6 December 1917, W.C. 294(13,13,15), Csb 23/4

Cabinet Minutes 10 December, W.C. 295(15); Balfour's Memorandum is

in the Appendix to W.C. 295; Csb 23/4

Izvestiya 1 December 1917; translation in W.U. 295(16), Cab 23/4
Cabinet Minutes 12 and 19 December, W.C. 296(4),302(11),298(10) Czb23/4
Cabinet Minutes 20 December 1917, W.C. 303(11), Cab 23/4

Cabinet Minutes 21 December 1917, W.C. 304(10), Cab 23/4. The note of
anti-Semitism struclf by Cecil was rarely absent from public, or indeed
from Cabinet discussions. Basil Thomson considered that it was '"inevit-
able in a country like Russia, when the dregs of the population had
boiled up to the top", that a "preponderance of Jews would be found
among the scum" (Thomson: Queer Pebiple (London 1922) p285)

Cabinet Minutes 26 December 1917, W.C. 306 (13) Cad 23/4
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290 Anglo-French Conference at Quai d'Orsay, 23 December 1917 (Secret),
P.0. 371.3086.243036; reprinted in Documents on British Foreign
Policy First series (hereinafter DBFP) Vol iii No 256 Annex A pp.369-70.

291 The Convention appears to have been reaffirmed by the Cabinet on
13 November 1918. A Foreign Office memorandum written in June 1919
noted that the "system of spheres of influence will be continued"
following the‘recognition of Kolchak (Selby Memorandum, F.O. 371l.
5440, N539,15 October 1920; memorandum dated 6 June 1919)

292 D. Mitchell: Red Mirage (London 1970) p.2l1

293 The Convention is contained in 'Anglo-French Conference' above.

294 Lockhart: Memoirs p.199

295 Lockhart to F.0., F.0. 371.2999.226677

296 Lockhart: Memoirs p.196-7

297 Litvinov to Balfour 5 January 1918, F.O. 371.3298.43%58, 8 January 1918

298 F.0. to Litvinov 10 January 1918 ibid; I.M. Maisky: Puteshchestvie
v Proshloe (Moscow 1960) p.70

299 Cabinet Minutes 7 January 1918, W.C. 316(16), Cab 23/5

300 Maisky op.cit. p.70.

301 Lockhart: Memoirs p.210. A 'Memorandum on the Status of the Mission'
was composed on 1l January 1918. It noted that its purpose was to
establish an "unofficial connecting link" with the Bolshevik
government; but "every care" should be taken to ensure that the
mission was "in no sense™ regarded as a political mission from the
British to the Bolshevik government, and "every care should be taken
to conceal the political association of the Mission with the Embassy™
(Memorandum, 11 January 1918, F.O. 371.3300.6903). The scheme, as the
Charge d'affaires at Petrograd was told, was that "Lockhart's mission
should be of a political character but with a commercial facade" (F.O.
to Lindley, 14 January 1918, F.0. 371.3300.8082)

302 Cabinet Minutes, 7 January 1918, W.C. 316(16), Cab 23/5

303 = Labour Leader 10 January 1918

304 Lindley (Moscow) to London, who had been informed by Chicherin, 29
January (rec. 2 February), F.0. 371.3300.20491; Maclean was,
however, arrested just over two months later.

305 Maisky op.cit. p.75; 'The Bolshevik Revolution: its rise and meaning!'
(BS.P.1918). Ullman: Intervention and the War (London 1961) appears
to be mistaken in referring to "a number of pamphlets™ (ibid p.78)
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Ccbinet Minutes 15 January 1918, W.C. 322(18), C=b 23/5
Cabinet Minutes 22 January 1918, w.C£328(18), Cab 23/5
Cabinet Minutes 23 January 1918, W.C. 329(12), Cab 23/5
Czbinet Minutes 11 Februaryl91l8, W.C. 342(1l4), Cab 23/5. A copy of
the article in the Woolwich Pioneer ('Russian Soviete's (sic) message
to British Labour',8 February 1918) is contained in F.0.371.3317.
28147,13 February 1918.
Parliamentary Debates vol 103 cols 1477-9, 27 February 1918. Kamenev
was obliged to return shortly after his arrival.
Cabinet Minutes 25 February 1918, w.C. 353(10), Cab 23/5
LocBhart: Memoirs p223
Cabinet Minutes 2 January 1918, W.C. 311(11), Cab 23/5
Lockhart: Memoirs p2l3,229
Buchanan to F.0.,25 December 1917, F.0O. 371.3000.243642
Cabinet Minutes 17 January 1918, W.C. 324(9), Cab 23/5
Cabinet Minutes 21 January 1918, W.C. 327(1), Cab 23/5
Cabinet Minutes 7 February 1918, W.C. 340(7), Cab 23/5
Lloyd George: War Memoirs pl5il
British Ambassador, Washington, to London, 22 December 1917, F.0.371l.
3020.242611
26 December 1917,F.0. 371.3020.244653
Cabinet Minutes 7 January 1918, W.C. 316, Cab 23/5
Cabinet Minutes 20 February 1918, W.C. 350(4) Cab 23/5
Cabinet Minutes 1 January 1918, W.C. 309A, Cab 23/13
Cabinet Minutes 24 January 1918, W.C. 330A, Cab 23/13
ibid Mem§i§26
Cabinet Minutes 25 February 1918, W.C. 353(11) Czb 23/13; Lockhart:
Lockhart: Memoirs p328236
Lockhart: Memoirs p240-1
Lloyd George: War “emoirs pl899
Lloyd George: War Memoirs p 1558. The text of the Brest-Litovsk Treaty,

which was signed on 3 March and ratified on 15 March 1918, is contained
in Dokumenty Wneshnei Politiki SSSR vol i document 78 pllof

Lockhart: Memoirs p270

Cabinet Minutes 1March 1918, W.C. 357(1), Cab 23/5

Lockhart to Lomdon,telegram No 94, quoted in Cabinet Minutes 19 April
1918, W.C. 395(9), Cab 23/6. Lockhart had reported on 12 April that
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Trotsky now favoured British co-operation (telegram No 91, 12 April

1918, quoted in Cabinet Minutes 17 April 1918, W.C. 3293(17) Cab 23/6)

335 Lockhart tel.No 96, 15 April 1918, in Cabinet Minutes 22 April 1918,
W.C. 396 App I(A) Czb 23/6; F.0. to Lord Reading, Washington, 19
April 1918, tel. 2303, quoted in %.C. 395, Cab 23/6

336 Cacinet Minutes 22 April, W.C. 396A(13), Cab 23/14

337 Cabinet Minutes 26 April 1918, W.C. 4O00A(2), Cab 23/14

338 Czbinet Minutes 11 May 1918, W.U. 409A(1), Csb 23/14. Trotsky, Lloyd
George considered, '"could gdno further than he had done. It was ;
obvious that M. Trotsky could not trust MlLenin, who was a disciple |
of Tolstoi" (ibid).

339 Cabinet Minutes 13 May 1918, W.C. 410, Cab 23/6 i

34,0 Cecil Memorandum 25 May 1918, F.O0. 371.3286.105471, and Cabibet é
Paper G.T. 4663, Cab 24/52 :

341 Jones: Whitehall Diary Vol i (London 1969)p 5@, 12 April 1918. Lloyd !
George confessed to C.P. Scott that he was "extremely puzzler'" by
the conflicting views of the experts on intervention; but by June
Scott found him "quite definitely in favour of intervention" (RXRX

The  EXHXXXE Political Di2Fi$8F19%£°1%28 (London 1970) p339,348
342 Jones: Whitehall Diary Vol i (London 1969)p60, 12 April 1918, Cecil

wrote to Balfour on 7 March 1918, wondering whether the government
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should "hint to Lockhart that it is his business to persuade Trotski
deC;igﬁt, not to persuade us that Trotski is right.. SurelXy we have
enough of Trotski?" (Cecil to Balfour, 7 March 1918, Balfour Papers
F.0. 800.205,p248)
343 Lockhart: Memoirs p31l
S44  ibid
345 Lockhazst to London 23 May 1918, F.0. 371.3286.94955
346 Lockhart to London,26 May 1918, F.O. 371.3286.95628 ;
347 Lockhart to London 27 May 1918, F.0. 371.3286.96656
348 Lockhart to London 27 May 1918, F.0. 371.3286.97822
349 Lockhart to London 18 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.117933
350 Lockhart to London 20 June 1918, F.0. 371. 3286. V442

351. Balfour to Lockhart, 10 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.99204
352 Wardrop to London, 10 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.111385

¥%% Lboyd George's view is in Cabinet Minutes 29 May 1917, W.C. 420(17),
Cab 23/6. A Foreign Office memorandum written in December 1919 stated
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that intervention with military force, especially Japanese, had first

been discussed by the government on December 1917 (DBFP iii No 613

pp 700-73%2, p71l). Colonel Ward, commanding the 25Ph battalion of the

Middlesex Regiment in Hong Kong, had received instructions as early as

Nauember 1917 to prepare his men for departure for an unknown destination,é

which he believed to be Vladivostok (J. Ward: With the 'Die-Hards' in

Siberie (London 1920) pl).

353 telegram No 859 from Lord Reading, 2 March 1918, and No 929, 5
March 1918, both quoted in Foreign Office memorandum 'Japanese

Intervention in Siberia', 5 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.99971

354 telegram 11584, 19 March, cited in ibid

355 telegrams 2204,2303,2479 of 15,19 and 26 April 1918, in ibid; Cabinet
Minutes 19 April 1918, W.C. 395(9) Cab 2376

356 telegram 1833,26 April, and telegram 2031,7 May 1918, in ibid

357 Lord Reading to London,23 May 1918, F.0.371.3286.92247

358 Foreign Office memorandum, 'Notes and Comments',2l June 1918,
F.0. 371.3286.110734; Balfour's views are contained kn Imperial War
Cabinet Minutes 20 June 1918, I.W.C. 19(6), Cab 23/4l

359 Foreign Office memorandum, 'Notes and Comments', op.cit.

360 Cecil's views in the press are in the Times 11 March 1918. Parliamen-
tary Debates vol 104 cols 511-2,513,549, 14 March 1918

361 Cecil and the Japanese Ambassador, 22 May 1918, Cabinet Minutes 24
May 1918 , W.C. 417 App. I Cab 23/6

362 Balfour to Japanese Ambassador, 7 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.103896

363 Japanese Ambassador to F.0., 24 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.114303

364 Cabinet Minutes 29 May 1919, W.C. 420(7), Cab 23/6

365 Cabinet Minutes 30 April 191§, W.C. 401(9) Cab 23/6

366 Cabinet Minutes 13 May 1918, W.C. 410 Cab 23/6

367 Milner, Cabinet Minutes 17 May 191%, W.C. 413(2) C-b 23/6

368 Imperial War Conference 1-3 June 1918, cited in Cabinet Minutes

W.C. 421 Cab 23/6

369 Reading to London, 27 June 1918, F.0. 371.3286.114323

370 F.0. to Lord Reading, i July 1918, ibid

371 ibid

372 Lloyg George: War Memoirs pl90l. Ullman (op.cit.plé68) noted that
Balfour's Russian policy "sorely needed an 'incident'". Cecil wrote
to Clemenceau on 18 May, at the direction of his colleggues, that
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the Czechs '"chuld be used to start operations in Siberia'". Once started,

there could be "little doubt that the Japanese would move and the Americans

i

would find it impossible to hold back" (Cecil to Clemenceau,l8 May 1918,

Milner Pcspers, unfiled folder 33, cited in Ullman op.cit.pl69-70). This

need not necessarily establish dhabt the outbreak of hostilities between

the Czechs and the Bolsheviks was other than fortuitous. That it was not

of such a character was, thVer, the contention of the Soviet government

itself (Dokumenty Vneshnei Politiki SSSR vol i documents 203,370)

373
374
375
376

377,

378

Bzlfour to Lord Reading, 5 July 1918, F.0. 371.3286.116763
Lockhart to London, F.0. 371.3286.116259, 25 June 1918
LocKhart: Memoirs p206
Lockhart to London, 15 June 1918, F.0. 371.3886.116258. A Right S.R.
rising occurred in Moscow on 30 August, in which Uritsky was killed

and Lenin wounded, and for which the British were blamed. On 31

August Soviet troops entered the Embassy building, and shots had

been fired as a result of which the British Naval Attache, Captain
Cromie, had been killed ( Sir R. Paget to Balfour, 3 September 1918,

A Collection of Reports on Bolshevism in Russia, Cmd 8 (1919) p2) The
Times (24 October 1918) reported that he had been shot in the back,

and had had no pistol in his hands. He had, nevertheless, managed to
kill three Soviet soldiers before he had himself been shot (Cmd 8 ibid).
Lockhart was arrested on 3 September, after an official announcement

of the discovery of a British-French conspiracy (Dokumenty Vneshnei
Politkk'bSSR Vol i document 329,p462-3, 2 September 1918), with which
Lockhart himself zppears to have less to do than 8idney Reilly and

Captain Cromie (who had, according to Lindley, come "more or less into
contact with Russians hostile to (the) Bolshevik regime", whose paians

might well hove included the destruction of bridges (Cmd 8 ibid p3X,
Lindley to Balfour, 6 (received 13) September 1918) Chicherin wrote
that Reilly had ingended to secure the capture of Vologda and a rising
in Moscow (Vneshnyaya Politika Sovetskol Rossii za dva goda (MosV%W 19
-20) pl?7). Litvinov was arrested in reprisal, and both were released
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in October 1918 (Maisky op.cit.p77-79)and (9)
Cabinet Minutes 10 July 1918, W.C. 443(8), Cab 23/7. A number of 109
British marines had landed at Murmansk on 6 March 1918 (Ellman op?cti.

Cabinet Minutes 4 August 1918, W.C. 454, Cab 23/7. The first British
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troops landed at Vladivostok on 3 August 1918 (Foreign Office memorandum,

December 1919, DBFP vol iii No 613, p.715)

379 W.S. Churchill: The Aftermath (London 1929) p. 95

380 Cabinet Minutes 7 August 1918 W.C. 455(4), Cab 23/7
(Lloyd George remarked at a meeting of the Committee of Prime
Ministers on 12 August 1918 that Lockhart "had had relations with
the enemies of the Bolshevists, and had actually given money to
General Alexeiff, and if this were discovered by the Bolshevists his
position would be a very dangerous one" (I.W.C. 29B(10), 12 August
1918, Cab 23/44)
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Chapter Two: The Rise and Fall of Intervention.

British forces occupied Soviet Russia in the north, in the Far East and
in the south; and maintained a blockade in the Baltic. It was maintained
at the time - and has been maintained since - that the aim of British
policy was not an anti-Bolshevik one: that obligations had been
contracted to groups in Russia who had opposed the Germans during the war,
and could not now, after the Armistice, be abandoned. These groups, as it
happened, were opposed to the lMoscow government. Recent studies have
recorded the "absence of any overriding 'principle'" in British policy,
but rather the "habit, so ingrained in British politics and administration,
of making a virtue of the lack of a 'principle'"; and have talked of the
Cabinet's "piecemeal decisions" which formed the basis of its first post-
Armistice policy formulationsl. Another study has described intervention
as a "striking example of British pragmatism at work"z. It is worth noting
at the outset that a number of members of the government, at least in
private, were somewhat more forthcoming.

The British government, Curzon wrote to Sir J. Jordan in Peking, had
"not changed (its) policy of active opposition to Bolshevism"B. Defeat
of Bolshevism, he told Wardrop, "even if we do not take active part in
operations", was the "interest of this country"4. The supplies to the
Baltic States and to Denikin, the British Minister told the Polish Prime
Minister, were "sufficient proof of our desire <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>